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PART ONE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON
Consolidated Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis
for the year ended March 31, 2021

Introduction

The Yukon Public Accounts is a key element of the Government of Yukon's ("the Government") commitment to
transparency and accountability in financial reporting. The purpose of the Financial Statement Discussion and
Analysis is to expand upon and further explain information contained in the Consolidated Financial Statements,
which are presented in Part Two of the Yukon Public Accounts. This is intended to assist readers in their
analysis of the Yukon's fiscal health. To do this effectively, this report presents a highlights summary,
comparative financial information and analysis, and a summary of risks and mitigation. The Yukon Public
Accounts, produced annually, provides clarity and transparency for Yukoners by comparing the financial
results for the 202021 fiscal year against the 2020-21 Main Estimates (Budget) and against the previous
year's financial results as published in the 2019-20 Public Accounts. The Government is responsible for the
accuracy, objectivity and integrity of this information. Responsibility for the preparation of this discussion and
analysis rests with the Office of the Comptroller.

2020-21 Highlight Summary

Financial Results

(thousands of dollars)

2021 2020 Change from

2020

Budget Actual Actual Budget Actual
Revenues 1,573,068 1,653,849 1,475,935 80,781 177,914
Expenses’ 1,553,474 1,611,441 1,478,577 57,967 132,864
Surplus / (Deficit) 19,594 42,408 (2,642) 22,814 45,050
Accumulated Surplus 1,876,596 1,893,210 1,852,971 16,614 40,239
Net Financial Assets 164,759 182,745 171,888 17,986 10,857

! Expenses shown net of Recovery of Prior Years' Expenses

The Government is reporting an annual surplus of $42.4 million on a spending and revenue base of
approximately $1.6 billion. The $22.8 million difference between the $42.4 million surplus and the expected
$19.6 million surplus presented in the 2020-21 budget is due to higher revenues ($80.8 million, or 5.1%), and
higher than anticipated expenses ($58 million, or 3.7%). Revenues were higher than budgeted largely due to
higher than expected transfers from the Government of Canada and somewhat higher tax revenue, offset to a
degree by lower than expected funding and service level agreements with other parties. Expenses were
higher than budgeted, and the function with the largest increase compared to the 2020-21 budget was health
and social services.

The surplus of $42.4 million is $45.0 million higher than the $2.6 million deficit in 2019-20. Total revenues
compared to the previous year increased by $177.9 million (12.1%), while total expenses increased by $132.9
million (9.0%). The increases in revenue were driven by a $171.4 million increase in funding from the
Government of Canada. Over a third (35.0%) of the increase in expenses was in the health and social services
function.

The Government continues to be in a net financial asset position and net financial assets increased during
2020-21 to a balance of $182.7 million at March 31, 2021 ($171.9 million at March 31, 2020).



Highlights

Surplus (Deficit

The surplus (deficit) represents the amount by which revenue exceeds expense (expense exceeds revenue) for the
fiscal period.

Surplus (Deficit)

(thousands of dollars)
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The surplus of $42.4 million for the year was $45.0 million higher than the previous year’s deficit of $2.6 million, and
$22.8 million higher than the budgeted surplus of $19.6 million. A surplus is driven by two factors - revenues and
expenses. Revenue is largely made up of the formula financing grant from the Government of Canada and tends to be
stable over time. Expenses are a result of direct government spending and transfers to service territorial needs.
Compared to 2019-20, the current year increase in surplus is largely due to significantly increased revenues in the form
of transfers from the Government of Canada (many of which were COVID-19 related) offset to a degree by increased
expenses, particularly in the health and social services function. Much of this expense increase was necessitated by
the Government's response to pandemic needs, including health measures such as COVID-19 testing and the first
weeks of vaccine rollout.

Accumulated Surplus

(thousands of dollars)
An accumulated surplus represents the government’s reported net economic resources. An accumulated surplus
indicates that a government has economic resources to provide future services.
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As of March 31, 2021, the Government is reporting an accumulated surplus of $1.893 billion which is an increase of
$40.2 million from the previous year's accumulated surplus of $1.853 billion. The increase in accumulated surplus
during 2020-21 is due to the current year's annual surplus of $42.4 million, offset by losses of $2.2 million related to
other comprehensive loss of government business enterprises .



Highlights

Accumulated Surplus consists of net financial assets and non-financial assets. Non-financial assets are predominately
tangible capital assets. The strategy to invest in infrastructure has caused a shift in the composition of accumulated
surplus; as over the past six years, net financial assets have declined or increased slower than the corresponding
increase in the amount of tangible capital assets.

Net Financial Assets

Net financial assets represent the amount of financial resources that the Government has to finance future transactions.

Net Financial Assets

(thousands of dollars)
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The net financial assets (or the net debt) of the Government is calculated as:

e The financial assets consisting of cash and cash equivalents, temporary and portfolio
investments, due from Government of Canada, accounts receivable, advances to government
business enterprises, loans receivable, inventories for resale, retirement benefit assets, and
investment in government business enterprises; offset by

¢ The liabilities consisting of due to Government of Canada, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, environmental liabilities, unearned revenues, post-employment benefits and
compensated absences, retirement benefit liabilities, borrowings and liabilities for leased
tangible capital assets.

The net financial assets reported as of March 31, 2021 is $182.7 million. The year-over-year increase is primarily a
result of the increase in cash and cash equivalents and due from Government of Canada outstripping the increase in
liabilities, and represents the first increase after five years of declines.

The table below provides more detailed information on the financial assets, liabilities, and the resulting net financial
assets for each of the last ten years. While liabilities have increased steadily over the period, the financial assets have
fluctuated, related primarily to the level of infrastructure spending.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Financial Assets 550,613 646,624 711,245 780,119 731,248 698,324 684,562 720,000 667,475 749,698
Liabilities 362,245 365,512 365,556 391,031 401,239 424,272 436,931 501,550 495,587 566,953

Net Financial Assets 188,368 281,112 345,689 389,088 330,009 274,052 247,631 218,450 171,888 182,745




Highlights

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets

The Government invests in tangible capital assets.

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets

(thousands of dollars)

180,000
160,000
140,000

120,000

100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

In 2020-21, the Government recorded tangible capital asset additions of $107.3 million for the acquisition and
development of assets such as buildings and transportation infrastructure, IT assets, equipment and vehicles,
compared to $118.0 million in 2019-20. In 2020-21, $10.6 million was expended on the completion of the new
Francophone high school (the entire project was completed at a cost of $34.1 million). Other multi-year projects
completed in 2020-21 include: $4.9 million to complete the $8.3 million Heavy Baggage System at the Whitehorse
airport; $1.2 million to finish the $8.1 million Carmacks' Grader Station; $1.1 million to complete the F.H. Collins Track
and Field project (total $8.1 million); and $1.4 million to complete the $2.4 million Stewart Crossing Living Complex.
Also in 2020-21, the Government's construction work on various roads and highways cost over $26.5 million, while
bridge work on the Alaska, Klondike, and Robert Campbell highways cost in excess of $11.7 million.



Assessment of Fiscal Health

Sustainability

Sustainability is a measure indicating the degree to which the Government can maintain its existing level of spending
and meet its existing debt obligations.

Accumulated Surplus to the Territory's GDP

This graph compares the Government's accumulated surplus to the Yukon Territory's GDP as a percentage.
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* Forecasted GDP: Nominal - 2020-$3,315 million; 2021-$3,577 million / Real - 2021-$2,840

The accumulated surplus measures the sum of all current and prior years’ operating results. Gross Domestic Product
(GDP) is a measure of the value of the goods and services produced during a year, indicating the size of the Territory’s
economy. This indicator provides a measure of whether the accumulated surplus is growing faster or slower than the
economy.

This trend highlights that the accumulated surplus, while still growing, is declining in relation to the Territory's GDP.

Net Financial Assets to the Territory's GDP

This graph compares the Government's net financial assets to the Yukon Territory's GDP as a percentage.
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* Forecasted GDP: Nominal - 2020-$3,315 million; 2021-$3,577 million / Real - 2021-$2,840

The net financial assets to GDP ratio indicates the financial demands placed on the economy by the Government’s
policies such as taxation. A low ratio indicates the Government has not placed excessive demands on the economy.

The downward trend implies there is room for the introduction of further revenue sources for the government without
causing severe hardship in the economy.



Assessment of Fiscal Health

Sustainability (continued)

Net Financial Assets per Capita

(thousands of dollars)
Net financial assets per capita represents the net financial assets applicable to each Yukon resident.
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This ratio indicates that the Government's financial resources per resident have increased in 2020-21 following a
number of years of declines.

Liquidity Ratio - Current Assets to Total Debt

(dollars)

In this graph, current assets consists of cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments, due from Government of Canada
and accounts receivable. The total debt is as defined in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements using the Yukon
Borrowing Limits Regulations which includes debt of all entities of the government.
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Liquidity ratio is intended to show the Government's ability to meet its financial obligations. A higher ratio is desirable as
it shows that the Government has sufficient financial resources to discharge its long term obligations without having to
use further financing. The 2020-21 ratio indicates that the Government had $1.08 in current assets for each $1.00 of
total debt.

On March 31, 2021, as per Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements; the government has total debt of $235.2
million (2020 - $228.4 million) which is 29.4% (2020 - 57.1%) of the limit allowed at that time. On September 20, 2020,
the Government of Canada passed Order in Council #2020-0663 which raised the borrowing limit to $800 million from
the previous $400 million.



Assessment of Fiscal Health

Flexibility
Flexibility is a measure indicating the room that the Government has to maintain its services by increasing its demands
on the economy through changes to fees or taxes.

Own-Source Revenue to the Territory's GDP

In this graph, own-source revenue refers to the Government's taxes and general revenue and is compared against the
Yukon Territory's GDP.
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* Forecasted GDP: Nominal - 2020-$3,315 million; 2021-$3,577 million / Real - 2021-$2,840

This ratio indicates to what extent the Government is taking economic resources out of the territory’s economy through
user fees or taxation. This ratio is relatively constant over time indicating that the Government has not changed its
demands on the economy. The ratio is also relatively low compared to other Canadian jurisdictions and indicates that
the Government has some flexibility in increasing taxes and other fees without causing a severe impact on the
economy.

Vulnerability

Vulnerability is the extent to which the Government is exposed to a risk associated with revenue sources that are
outside of its control.

Transfers from the Federal Government to Total Revenue

In this graph, transfers from the Government of Canada include the formula financing grant, other grants such as
Canada health, Canada social and cannabis transfers and contributions and service agreements with the Government
of Canada.
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In 2020-21, the Government received 84% of its revenue from the Government of Canada which was within the range
of 80% to 85% that has occurred over the past decade. This ratio is consistently high, indicating a reliance on the
federal government to finance the Government's activities. While the Government has little control over these transfers
which poses a risk, it also represents a relatively stable source of revenue from the Government of Canada, a senior
level of government.



Indicators of Financial and Economic Conditions

Credit Ratings - September 2021*

Jurisdiction

Rating Agency
Standard & Poor's

British Columbia AAA(neg)
Alberta A+(neg)
Saskatchewan AA
Manitoba A+
Ontario A+
Quebec AA-
New Brunswick A+
Nova Scotia AA-
Prince Edward Island A
Newfoundland & Labrador A(neg)

*Provincial Ratings as per Government of Nova Scotia Public Accounts 2020-21

On July 29, 2021, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services affirmed its ‘AA’ long-term issuer credit rating of Yukon Territory.
In its S&P Global Ratings summary, the rating agency states its expectation that "the revenue and expenditure impacts
stemming from the pandemic-related restrictions will be largely temporary" and that in the next two years, the Territory
"will maintain a relatively stable fiscal performance." The rating agency also stated that the Yukon's "liquidity will remain
substantial", "the debt burden will remain very low", and "debt policy remains prudent".

Canadian Jurisdictional Comparison of Net Financial Assets (Net Debt) to Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

The bar graph below shows a Canadian jurisdictional comparison of net financial assets (net debt) to GDP ratio. Yukon
and Nunavut are the only jurisdictions that have a positive ratio. A positive ratio indicates net financial resources
available to finance future operations and obligations. A negative ratio indicates that the government must rely on future
revenues to discharge existing liabilities.

Federal/Provincial/Territorial Governments Net Financial Assets (Debt) to GDP ratio, Calendar Year 2019
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Indicators of Financial and Economic Conditions

Population and Unemployment rate (Calendar Year 2020)

With growth in 2020, Yukon’s population has posted gains for 17 consecutive years. In 2020, total population exceeded
42,000 for the first time.

Yukon’s unemployment rate (UR) averaged 5.2% in 2020 which was below the national average of 9.5%; both of which
reflected the impact of COVID-19. As noted in the chart below, over the ten years in question, Yukon’s unemployment
rate has consistently been below the Canadian average.

Population and Unemployment Rate
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Details

Surplus (deficit) for the year

The Government’s annual surplus or deficit resulting from its operations is dependent on various factors. Two of the
most significant factors are:

- total revenues, of which the formula financing grant from the Government of Canada makes up the largest
share; and

- direct Government spending and operating transfers to individuals and other public organizations, such as
municipalities.

The surplus of $42.4 million for the year was an increase of $45.0 million from the previous year’s deficit of $2.6 million
and $22.8 million higher than the budgeted surplus of $19.6 million. Revenues increased by $177.9 million from the
previous year’s actual and were $80.8 million higher than budgeted. Expenses (net of prior years’ expense recoveries)
of $1.611 billion for the year were higher than the initially budgeted amount of $1.553 billion.

Major revenue variances between the current and prior year include a $87.1 million (139.7%) increase in other grants
(due mainly to COVID-19 funding), $57.6 million (5.8%) increase in the formula financing grant and a $26.8 million
(16.2%) increase in contributions and service agreements revenues from the Government of Canada. Funding and
service agreements with other parties decreased by $16.2 million (33.0%) from the previous year.

Expenses increased year-over-year by $132.4 million (8.9%) with expenditures for health and social services
contributing $46.6 million (35.2%) of the increase. Natural resources was the only sector not to have an increase in
expenditures, while general government, community and transportation and business, tourism and culture had
significant increases from prior year expenditures.

The chart below illustrates the trend between revenues and expenses over the last ten years. The amounts are taken
directly from the respective year’s Public Accounts, without reflecting restatements or other changes in accounting
policies over the years presented.

Revenues and expenses

(thousands of dollars)
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Details

Carbon Price Rebate Program

The Parliament of Canada passed the Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act (Canada) in 2018. In response to this, the
Yukon Legislature passed the Yukon Government Carbon Price Rebate Act (Yukon), which outlines how the
government will rebate all amounts received from the Government of Canada for greenhouse gas pollution pricing. The
intent of this Act is to ensure that all carbon levy funds received are treated as pass-through funding to Yukoners with no
funds being retained by the Government and there being no impact on its surplus (deficit).

The Yukon Government Carbon Price Rebate Act (Yukon) created a restricted fund. The purposes of the Carbon Price
Rebate Revolving Fund are the payment or crediting, on a revenue neutral basis and in accordance with this Act and the
Income Tax Act, of amounts, on account of certain amounts that the Government receives from the Government of
Canada under the federal Act. There are four main eligible groups: businesses, individuals, municipal governments and
Yukon First Nation governments. During fiscal 2019-20, the first amounts were received from the Government of
Canada and shortly thereafter rebates began to be distributed.

The following is a summary of each year's activity and the status of the revolving fund as of March 31, 2021.

Revolving Fund Balance

(thousands of dollars) Cumulative to
March 31, 2021 2020-21 2019-20
Opening Liability - 2,783 -
Carbon amounts received from the Government of Canada
BUSINESS ALLOCATION 8,430 6,210 2,220
INDIVIDUALS ALLOCATION 7,438 5,479 1,959
MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENTS ALLOCATION 496 365 131
FIRST NATIONS GOVT'S ALLOCATION 166 122 44
Subtotals 16,530 12,176 4,354
Rebates distributed to eligible groups
BUSINESS 1,098 980 118
INDIVIDUALS 8,216 6,807 1,409
MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENTS 131 131 -
FIRST NATIONS GOVERNMENTS 166 122 44
Subtotals 9,611 8,040 1,571
Closing Liability 6,919 6,919 2,783
Liability by eligible group
BUSINESS ALLOCATION 7,332 5,230 2,102
INDIVIDUALS ALLOCATION (778) (1,328) 550
MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENTS ALLOCATION 365 234 131
FIRST NATIONS GOVT'S ALLOCATION - - -
Annual Net Activity 4,136 2,783
Total Liability 6,919
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Details

Impact of COVID-19

While the global pandemic had a very limited effect on the Government’s Consolidated Financial Statements for 2019-
20, it had a significant and prolonged impact on both the revenue and expense pictures for the Government for 2020-
21.

In terms of revenue, the impact of COVID-19 was primarily one of reduced income tax revenue, due to lower overall
income for individuals and business, and reduced tourism-based revenue, such as fuel tax.

The Government was quick to respond to the effects of the global pandemic, mobilizing existing and new resources for
health care and public health responses, emergency management and coordination, and economic relief measures for
individuals and businesses. These relief measures, many of which involved supporting recoveries from the federal
government, included:

e  Paid Sick Leave Rebates

e Income Support for Essential Workers

e  Rent Assist Program

e  Yukon Business Relief Program

e  Tourism Accommodation Sector Supplements

e  Tourism Non-accommodation Sector Supplements

e  Yukon Regional Relief Loan Program

e  K-12 Financial Relief for Families

e  Enhanced Yukon Mineral Exploration Program and Relief from
Annual Mining Assessment

e  Support to Aviation Companies

e  Event Cancellation Funding

e  Enhanced Tourism Marketing Cooperative Fund

e  Enhanced arts and artists’ funding

e  Tourism and Culture Non-profits Fund

e  WCB Premium Supports

e  Support for Liquor Licences

14



Details
Revenues

In 2020-21, the Government’s total revenues increased compared to the previous year by $177.9 million (12.1%) to
$1.654 billion (details provided in Schedule A to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The Government receives the majority of its revenues from the Government of Canada through the formula financing
grant, the Canada Health Transfer and the Canada Social Transfer. In 2020-21, the Government received $1,055.0
million from the formula financing grant, an increase of $57.6 million (5.8%) from the previous year. The Canada Health
Transfer was $47.0 million and the Canada Social Transfer was $16.9 million. These transfers increased from the
previous year by a total of $3.9 million (6.7%). The Government received $70.3 million in COVID-19 funding, as well as
$14.9 million of carbon levies, from the Government of Canada.

In addition the Government receives funding from the Government of Canada for purposes such as health and social
programs and education, as well as funding for infrastructure development. Contributions and service agreements from
Canada increased from the previous year by $26.8 million (16.2%).

Taxes and general revenues include taxes on corporate income, personal income, tobacco, liquor, fuel, insurance
premiums and property as well as licenses and fees such as motor vehicle licenses and business/professional fees.
Taxes and general revenues increased from the previous year by $10.1 million (5.2%) to $206.1 million. This was
largely due to a $16.7 million increase in revenue from the sale of land and a $6.4 million increase in licences, permits
and fees offset by decreases in most of the other categories of taxes and general revenues.

Funding and service agreements with other parties decreased from the previous year by $16.2 million (33.0%) to $32.9
million.

The income from investment in government business enterprises reported as revenue in the financial statements
represents the surpluses of government corporations that are categorized as government business enterprises (“GBE”).
GBEs include the Yukon Liquor Corporation ("YLC") and the Yukon Development Corporation ("YDC"), which includes
the Yukon Energy Corporation in its results. Income from YLC was $8.2 million while the income from YDC was $9.9
million.

Revenues were higher than budgeted by $80.8 million. This was primarily due to higher revenues from the Government
of Canada, taxes and general revenues and income from investment in GBEs offset by lower revenues from funding
and service agreements with other parties.

In 2020-21, the composition between different types of revenue remained consistent with previous years.

Revenue by source

84%

B From Government of Canada
B Taxes & general revenues
u Funding & Service Agreements

Income from Investment in GBEs
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Details

Revenues continued

Revenue by source - comparison to budget and prior year

(thousands of dollars)
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Details

Expenses

In 2020-21, the Government's expenses increased compared to the previous year by $132.4 million (8.9%) to $1.613
billion (details provided in Schedule B to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

All functions had 2020-21 expenses that exceeded the previous year's expenses except for natural resources. The
largest increase was in the health and social services function, with an increase of $46.6 million (10.0%), followed by a
$39.1 million (21.4%) increase in general government, a $25.6 million (6.7%) increase in community and transportation
and a $16.6 million (32.8%) increase in business, tourism and culture while natural resources decreased by $2.8 million
(2.7%).

As for the type of expenses (as detailed in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), the highest percentage
was for wages and benefits (42.9%), followed by government transfer payments (22.2%), contract and special services
(15.0%), materials, supplies and utilities (8.9%) and amortization expenses (5.0%).

In 2020-21, the ratio of expenses by function remained consistent with the previous year, with health and social
services, community and transportation, and education comprising 70.5% of total expenses (71.6% in 2019-20).

Expenses by function five year trend comparison
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Expenses continued

Expenses by function comparison
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600,000
510,359
500,000
409,696
400,000
300,000
217,129 221,910
200,000
103,494
’ 1,485
100,000 81,107 67,264
Hm
) | /
Health & social Community & Education General Natural Justice Business, Interest on
services transportation government resources tourism & loans
culture
Prior Year 2020 ®Budget 2021  ® Actual 2021

Expense by function

Business, tourism & culture
Justice 4% Interest on loans
5% 0%

Natural resources
6% _\

General government
14%

Health & social services
32%

\

Education
14%

Community &
transportation
25%

18



Details

Net Financial Assets and Accumulated Surplus

At March 31, 2021, the Government’s financial assets exceeded its liabilities, resulting in net financial assets of $182.7
million ($171.9 million at March 31, 2020). This important indicator shows that the Government has financial assets on
hand to finance future operations.

The Government’s net financial assets increased by $10.8 million in 2020-21. This increase was due to the increase of
$82.2 million in financial assets offset by the increase in liabilities of $71.4 million. The increases in due from
Government of Canada of $58.4 million, cash and cash equivalents of $22.4 million and loans receivable of $17.5
million with the offsetting decrease of $13.8 million in inventories for resale are the largest changes.

The Government's liabilities increase was largely due to the increase of $36.8 million in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, $12.5 million in due to Government of Canada and $11.5 million in unearned revenues.

Accumulated surplus consists of net financial assets and non-financial assets such as tangible capital assets. The
accumulated surplus of the Government at March 31, 2021 was $1.893 billion ($1.853 billion at March 31, 2020). The
$10.8 million increase in net financial assets and the $29.4 million increase in non-financial assets result in the $40.2
million increase in accumulated surplus.

Net Financial Assets, Accumulated Surplus and Surplus (Deficit)
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Details
Financial Assets

Financial assets consist of assets available to discharge existing liabilities or to fund future activities. At March 31, 2021,
the value of total financial assets was $749.7 million, which is an increase of $82.2 million from the previous year. Within
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents increased by $22.4 million from the previous year while due from the
Government of Canada increased by $58.4 million, accounts receivable decreased by $11.4 million and loans
receivable increased by $17.5 million. In 2020-21, cash and cash equivalents and temporary investments accounted for
$92.6 million, or 12.4% of the total financial assets compared with 2019-20 when they accounted for $69.8 million or
10.4%.

Financial Assets by type

(thousands of dollars)
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(Note: In 2018-19 the Government reclassified its retirement benefit plans to present Retirement benefit assets and Retirement benefit
liabilities separately).
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Financial Assets (continued)

Major categories of the Government’s financial assets are described below.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are bank balances, short-term investments that mature less than 90 days from the date of
purchase and cash on hand.

At March 31, 2021, the Government held $91.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, which is an increase of $22.4
million from the previous year.

Temporary investments

Temporary investments include treasury bills, GICs, term deposits, and funds that include short-term debt securities of
Canadian governments and corporate issuers with terms to maturity of 90 days or more but one year or less from the
date of acquisition. At March 31, 2021, the Government held $1.6 million in temporary investments compared to $1.3
million the previous year.

Due from Government of Canada

At March 31, 2021, the Government had receivables from the Government of Canada in the amount of $139.9 million,
most of which were outstanding claims on cost-sharing agreements and projects delivered on behalf of the federal
government. This was an increase of $58.4 million from the prior year.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable decreased to $21.2 million at March 31, 2021 from $32.6 million at March 31, 2020.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are expected to be realized or have terms to maturity of greater than one year
from the date of acquisition. Portfolio investments include floating rate notes and funds that include bonds and equities.
As at March 31, 2021, the Government held $39.4 million in portfolio investments compared to $37.0 million in the
previous year.

As of March 31, 2021, $34.6 million of the portfolio investments were specifically designated ($32.9 million at March 31,
2020) in order to meet obligations under Part 3 (Supplemental Plan) of the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances
Act (Yukon) as well as the “Severance allowance” section of the Legislative Assembly Act (Yukon).

Advances to government business enterprises

As of March 31, 2021, the Government has an outstanding balance of $36.2 million ($38.2 million at March 31, 2020) on
advances made to the government business enterprises.

Loans receivable

The Government has loans receivable of $90.2 million, of which $37.6 million, or 41.6%, were Yukon Housing
Corporation mortgages receivable, followed by $36.0 million, or 39.9%, in land sale related loans receivable that are
also administered by the Yukon Housing Corporation.

Inventories for resale

Inventories for resale totaled $63.7 million as of March 31, 2021. This was a decrease of $13.8 million (17.8%) from the
previous year. The inventories largely consist of lots that were developed by the Government for sale to the public.

Retirement benefit assets

Retirement benefit assets totaling $71.9 million at March 31, 2021 ($71.4 million at March 31, 2020) are held in relation
to the Government’s obligations for future pension benefits for employees of Yukon University/College and Yukon
Hospital Corporation and represent the market value of the investments less the liability of the benefits based on an
actuarial valuation.
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Financial Assets (continued)

Investment in government business enterprises

Investment in government business enterprises, which are self-sustainable government corporations, represent 100% of
the equity of the Yukon Development Corporation (“YDC”) and the Yukon Liquor Corporation ("YLC"). YDC had equity
of $191.9 million at March 31, 2021 (2020 - $184.0 million), and YLC had equity of $2.6 million at March 31, 2021 (2020 -
$2.7 million). The Yukon Energy Corporation, which supplies and sells power in the Yukon, is the wholly-owned
subsidiary of YDC.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets are assets that do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities, but instead
are normally used to deliver future government services or may be consumed in the normal course of operations.
Non-financial assets include tangible capital assets, inventories of supplies, and prepaid expenses. Tangible
capital assets are the largest category of non-financial assets.

Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets

(millions of dollars)
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*For additional detail see schedule C to the Consolidated Financial Statements

In 2020-21, the Government made the following investment in tangible capital assets:

Opening balance at April 1, 2020 $ 1,668 million
Additions during the year 107 million
Less: Amortization and other adjustments (82) million
Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 1,693 million

The Government’s $107.3 million investment was largely spent on buildings, transportation infrastructure and equipment
and vehicles.

In accordance with the recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada, the value of transferred Crown land is not reported as a tangible capital asset.
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Details
Liabilities

At March 31, 2021, the liabilities of the Government totaled $566.9 million ($495.6 million at March 31, 2020), which is
equivalent to 75.6% of the financial assets of the Government. A five-year comparison of the Government'’s liabilities by
category is illustrated below:

Liabilities

(thousands of dollars)
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(Note: Prior year amounts are shown as reported in the respective year's Public Accounts. In 2018-19 the Government reclassified its
retirement benefit plans to present Retirement benefit assets and Retirement benefit liabilities separately).

Major categories of the Government’s liabilities are described as follows:

Due to Government of Canada

Amounts due to the Government of Canada at March 31, 2021 were $41.9 million ($29.5 million at March 31, 2020).
These amounts consist primarily of funds due under various agreements for Income Taxes and Public Service Pension
Plan contributions payable for the month of March 2021.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts that are generally paid within a year. The balance of $173.8 million
at March 31, 2021 is an increase of 26.9% from the previous year’s balance of $136.9 million.

Included in this total is the outstanding balance of the Carbon Price Rebate liability of $6.9 million (2020 - $2.8 million).
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Liabilities (continued)

Environmental liabilities

At March 31, 2021, the Government has recorded $43.1 million ($43.9 million at March 31, 2020) as a liability for the
estimated costs related to the remediation of contaminated sites for which the Government is responsible and can
reasonably estimate the value. Of the liabilities, $10.8 million (25.1%) is for highway maintenance camps and airports
and $11.9 million (27.6%) is for landfills that the Government is responsible for maintaining.

Unearned revenues

Unearned revenues of $27.2 million reported as of March 31, 2021 ($15.6 million at March 31, 2020) are mostly
comprised of funding received from the Government of Canada that has not yet been expended in accordance with
funding agreements.

Post-employment benefits and compensated absences

The Government’s second largest liability, after accounts payable and accrued liabilities, is post-employment benefits
and compensated absences. Post-employment benefits are provided to employees after employment but before
retirement. These benefits consist of severance pay and a portion of sick leave and vacation leave that are paid out to
employees at termination of employment. Compensated absences are benefits such as sick leave and vacation leave
that are paid to employees during their employment. The Government uses actuaries to estimate its post-employment
benefits and compensated absences liabilities. The post-employment benefits and compensated absences liabilities at
March 31, 2021 were $140.1 million ($130.2 million at March 31, 2020).

Retirement benefits liabilities

Retirement benefits liabilities totaled $110.3 million at March 31, 2021 ($102.1 million at March 31, 2020) and represent
the Government’s various pension plan liabilities and extended health benefit obligations, which are provided to retired
employees. Pension plan liabilities are those for the Members of the Yukon Legislative Assembly, and Territorial Court
judges.

Borrowings

The largest portion of the $27.4 million reported as borrowings relates to the Yukon Hospital Corporation’s demand term
installment loans totaling $26.3 million ($29.8 million at March 31, 2019). The Yukon Hospital Corporation used the
loans to finance the costs of the new staff residence/medical service building in Whitehorse, renovations to an extended
care facility in Whitehorse, and new hospitals in Watson Lake and Dawson City. During 2020-21 the Yukon Hospital
Corporation paid down these loans by $3.5 million.

Mortgages and loans payable by the Yukon Housing Corporation (Housing) represent a further $1.7 million ($2.2 million
at March 31, 2020) of the Government’s long term debt. These debts are with the Canada Mortgage and Housing
Corporation (CMHC) so are included as due to the Government of Canada amounts in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position.

In Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Government's 'total debt' as defined in the Yukon Act
(Canada) includes the Housing debt owed to CMHC along with the borrowings of the consolidated government business
enterprises of YDC and YLC as well as capital lease obligations. When all relevant items are taken into account the total
debt is $235.2 million at March 31, 2021 ($228.4 million at March 31, 2020).

The Government of Canada repealed OIC P.C. 2012-280 on September 20, 2020 and issued OIC P.C. 2020-0663
setting Yukon's borrowing limit at $800 million pursuant to subsection 23(2) of the Yukon Act (Canada).
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Risks and Mitigations

Government of Yukon's Operating Environment

The Government’s financial results are subject to risks and uncertainties that arise from variables over which the
Government has no control, or limited control. Some of these risks and uncertainties are:

- COVID-19 is continuing to elevate the level of uncertainty of, and risk to, the Yukon's revenues, expenses
and overall fiscal position;

- Economic factors, including economic growth or decline, commaodity prices, private sector investment
decisions, inflation, population/demographics, and personal income;

- Revenue changes, especially taxation revenues, or changes in transfers expected from the federal
government, causing the total actual revenue results to deviate from the budget estimates;

- Level of utilization of government services, particularly related to health care and social services;
- Unexpected health events, such as sudden or extreme outbreaks of disease;

- Natural disasters, such as wildfires, unusual weather patterns or events, or other events that may impede
the safe delivery of goods and services;

- Malicious behaviour (i.e. Cybersecurity attacks) that could interrupt services, lead to loss of information
or breach of privacy, and/or damage to equipment or facilities;

- Outcomes of litigation, legal settlements, arbitration and negotiations;
- Identification of environmental liabilities;

- Changes in pension liability due to external factors; and

- Changes in accounting standards.

While Yukon’s revenues are mainly stable due to the level of federal transfers, the Government’s fiscal health
nevertheless relies on revenue from economic activity. As this activity can be volatile in an economy that is
significantly tied to mining and exploration activities, the Government takes a cautious and prudent approach to
revenue forecasting and fiscal planning. For example, while private sector economic forecasts are used in the
Department of Finance economic projections, the Government’s fiscal plan is traditionally built on assumptions that
are below the private sector forecast. Commaodity prices and mining exploration and development plans are closely
monitored on a regular basis in order to estimate the impact on fiscal projections. With respect to federal transfers,
the Government works closely with the federal government to ensure timeliness of information and fairness in
funding levels, including with respect to infrastructure programs that affect the Government’s capital planning.

On the expense side, the Department of Finance’s Management Board Secretariat closely monitors the spending of
Departments and the effect on the fiscal plan so that supplementary estimates can be tabled in the Legislature to
address unanticipated spending or savings.

Another area being monitored is the completeness and accuracy of provisions for losses that are likely to occur as a
result of obligations such as ongoing litigation and environmental remediation. These items could be estimated,
expensed and reported as liabilities prematurely or either excessively or insufficiently.

Changes to Canadian accounting standards issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board can have an impact on
the Government's budgets, estimates and actual results. The Office of the Comptroller reviews proposed changes
and provides input towards the goal of having processes that reflect sound policy decision-making, transparency and
accountability.

25



Risks and Mitigations

Emerging Issues

New Accounting Standards

The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA) is the
body responsible for maintaining the Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) that all public sector organizations
are required to follow. For further clarity, the Government of Yukon is legislated to follow these reporting standards
as per Yukon Act (Canada) s33 and Taxpayer Protection Act (Yukon) s4(2).

As business practices evolve and modernize, so must accounting practices, hence PSAB is continuously reviewing
and updating the PSAS. Below are a number of new or amended PSAS that the Government plans to adopt on their
effective date.

PSAS 3280 - Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) (effective April 1, 2022)

The concepts to be introduced in PSAS 3280 are similar to the ARO concepts introduced in private sector
standards close to a decade ago. Namely, ARO recognizes that certain tangible capital assets will require costs
to be incurred at the time the asset is retired either through sale, disposal or demolition. PSAS 3280 requires
that these retirement costs be recognized at the time of purchasing the asset, or as soon as the costs can be
estimated. These concepts are similar to those in PSAS 3270 Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liabilities;
actually, so similar that PSAS 3270 will be archived when PSAS 3280 is implemented. PSAS 3280 will apply to
all tangible capital assets owned or controlled by the Government. Work is on-going to establish estimation and
recording procedures and to quantify impact on financial position.

PSAS 3450 - Financial Instruments (effective April 1, 2022)
This PSAS establishes new guidance on the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial
instruments, including derivatives.
Currently, the Government expects negligible impact resulting from the adoption of this new standard.

PSAS 3041 - Portfolio Investments (effective April 1, 2022)
PSAS 3041 replaces existing PSAS 3040 with revised guidance on the accounting for, and presentation and
disclosure of, portfolio investments.
Due to the nature of its portfolio investments, the Government expects nominal impact resulting from the
adoption of this new standard.

PSAS 2601 - Foreign Currency Translation (effective April 1, 2022)
PSAS 2601 replaces existing PSAS 2600 with revised guidance on the recognition, presentation and disclosure
of transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency.
Due to the low volume of foreign currency transactions, the Government expects negligible impact resulting from
the adoption of this new standard.

PSAS 1201 - Financial Statement Presentation (effective April 1, 2022)
PSAS 1201 replaces existing PSAS 1200 with revised general reporting principles and standards of presentation
and disclosure in government financial statements. These changes are required to incorporate the changes
stemming from the new PSAS 3450, PSAS 3041 and PSAS 2601.
Again, the Government expects negligible impact resulting from the adoption of this new standard.

PSAS 3400 - Revenue (effective April 1, 2023)
This new PSAS establishes new guidance on the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
revenue.
The Government is assessing the potential impact resulting from the adoption of this new standard.

PSAS 3160 - Public Private Partnerships (effective April 1, 2023)
This new PSAS establishes new guidance on the recognition, measurement and disclosure of public private
partnership arrangements.
The Government is reviewing if there will be any impact resulting from the adoption of this new standard.
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Risks and Mitigations

Emerging Issues (continued)

RCMP Collective Agreement

In the summer of 2021, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) ratified a collective agreement with their non-
commissioned members as the previous wage contract expired March 31, 2016. The wage settlement is expected
to include significant increases to the wages of front-line constables. The Government contracts the RCMP to deliver
police services and expects to be impacted by this settlement. The Government is monitoring the process and
awaits notification of its exposure to any increases in its contract costs.
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PART TWO

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Yukon is the
responsibility of management of the Department of Finance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards. Where standards permit alternative accounting methods, management
has chosen those that are most appropriate. Where required, management's best estimates and
judgement have been applied in the preparation of these statements.

The Government fulfills its accounting and reporting responsibilities, through the Department of
Finance, by maintaining systems of financial management and control designed to provide timely
and reliable information to users, to properly safeguard assets, and to ensure all financial
transactions are in accordance with the Yukon Act (Canada), and the Financial Administration Act
(Yukon) and regulations.

The Auditor General of Canada performs an annual audit on the consolidated financial statements
in order to express an opinion as to whether the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Government, the results of its operations, the
change in its net financial assets and its cash flows for the year, in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards. During the course of the audit, she also examines transactions that
came to her notice, to ensure they are, in all material respects, in accordance with the statutory
powers of the Government and those organizations included in the consolidation.

Annually, the consolidated financial statements are tabled in the Legislative Assembly as part of the
Public Accounts, and are referred to the Public Accounts Committee.

A —

D. Scott Thompson
Deputy Minister of Finance

October 27, 2021
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General  vérificateur général
of Canada du Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Yukon

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Yukon and its
controlled entities (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus,
consolidated statement of change in net financial assets and consolidated statement of cash
flow for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and
the consolidated results of its operations, consolidated changes in its net financial assets, and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing

standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in Parts One and Two of the 2020-21 Yukon Public Accounts, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless an intention exists to
liqguidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high

level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Compliance with Specified Authorities
Opinion

In conjunction with the audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have audited
transactions of the Government of Yukon and its controlled entities coming to our notice for
compliance with specified authorities. The specified authorities against which compliance was
audited are the Yukon Act, the Financial Administration Act of Yukon and regulations, and the
specific operating authorities disclosed in Note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the transactions of the Government of Yukon and its controlled entities that came
to our notice during the audit of the consolidated financial statements have complied, in all
material respects, with the specified authorities referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Specified Authorities
Management is responsible for the Government of Yukon and its controlled entities’ compliance
with the specified authorities named above, and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the Government of Yukon and its controlled entities to
comply with the specified authorities.
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compllance with Specified Authorities

Our audit responsibilities include planning and performing procedures to provide an audit
opinion and reporting on whether the transactions coming to our notice during the audit of the
consolidated financial statements are in compliance with the specified authorities referred to
above.

A

Karen Hogan, FCPA, FCA
Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
27 October 2021
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at March 31, 2021

2021

2020

(thousands of dollars)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 91,012 $ 68,577
Temporary investments (Note 4) 1,619 1,261
Due from Government of Canada (Note 5) 139,919 81,504
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 21,221 32,583
Portfolio investments (Note 7) 39,404 37,006
Advances to government business enterprises (Note 11(b)(c)) 36,200 38,200
Loans receivable (Note 9) 90,217 72,668
Inventories for resale (Note 10) 63,721 77,555
Retirement benefit assets (Note 16) 71,868 71,425
Investment in government business enterprises (Note 11(a)) 194,517 186,696
749,698 667,475
Liabilities
Due to Government of Canada (Note 5) 41,970 29,493
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 12) 173,811 136,994
Environmental liabilities (Note 13) 43,103 43,989
Unearned revenues (Note 14) 27,176 15,628
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences (Note 15) 140,147 130,195
Retirement benefit liabilities (Note 16) 110,298 102,072
Borrowings (Note 17) 27,352 33,072
Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets (Note 18) 3,096 4,144
566,953 495,587
Net financial assets 182,745 171,888
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 20) 1,693,017 1,668,379
Inventories of supplies 9,960 9,473
Prepaid expenses 7,488 3,231
1,710,465 1,681,083
Accumulated surplus $ 1,893,210 $ 1,852,971
Contingencies, contractual rights and obligations, commitments and guarantees
(Notes 11(d)(e), 13, 16(d)(e), 23, 24, 26, 27, and 28)
The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these congolidateg ial statements.

Approved:
=

D. Scott Thompson Sanfly Si B
Deputy Minister of Finance Minister of)Ffhance
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 1(b))
(thousands of dollars)

Revenues (Schedule A)

From Government of Canada $ 1,307,946 $ 1,396,610 $ 1,225,191
Taxes and general revenues 194,449 206,109 196,001
Funding and service agreements
with other parties 56,802 32,947 49,178
Income from investment in
government business enterprises (Note 11(a)) 13,871 18,183 5,565
1,573,068 1,653,849 1,475,935

Expenses (Note 21)

Health and social services 480,393 510,359 463,799
Community and transportation 403,803 409,696 384,108
Education 231,340 217,129 212,112
General government 202,015 221,910 182,776
Natural resources 106,771 103,494 106,340
Justice 81,826 81,107 78,652
Business, tourism and culture 74,943 67,264 50,648
Interest on loans 1,485 1,578 1,694
Adjustments (29,102) - -
1,553,474 1,612,537 1,480,129
Recovery of prior years' expenses - 1,096 1,552
Surplus (deficit) for the year $ 19,594 42,408 (2,642)
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year 1,852,971 1,856,826
Other comprehensive gain (loss) of
government business enterprises (Note 11(a)) (2,169) (1,213)
Accumulated surplus at end of year $ 1,893,210 $ 1,852,971

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual
(Note 1(b))
(thousands of dollars)
Surplus (deficit) for the year $ 19,594 $ 42,408 $ (2,642)
Effect of change in tangible capital assets
Acquisitions (115,844) (107,341) (117,961)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 76,952 80,061 75,211
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets (8) 479 535
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 163 - 224
Write-down of tangible capital assets - 2,163 12
Adjustments 7,505 - -
(31,232) (24,638) (41,979)
Effect of change in other non-financial assets
Acquisition of inventories of supplies - (18,328) (26,047)
Consumption of inventories of supplies - 17,841 25,198
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses - (4,257) 121
- (4,744) (728)
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets $ (11,638) 13,026 (45,349)
Net financial assets at beginning of year 171,888 218,450
Other comprehensive gain (loss) of
government business enterprises (Note 11(a)) (2,169) (1,213)
Net financial assets at end of year $ 182,745 $ 171,888

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021

2020

Operating transactions
Surplus (deficit) for the year
Non-cash items included in surplus (deficit) for the year:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loans receivable valuation adjustment
Bad debt expense
Write-down of tangible capital assets
Gain on sale of land inventory
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets
Contributed tangible capital assets (Note 20)
Surplus of government business enterprises (Note 11(a))
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities
Amounts remitted from government business enterprises (Note 11(a))

Cash provided by (used for) operating transactions

Capital transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets

Cash provided by (used for) capital transactions

Investing transactions
Net proceeds from temporary investments
Proceeds from portfolio investments
Acquisition of portfolio investments
Repayment of advances to government business enterprises
Repayments of loans receivable
Issuance of loans receivable
Investment in land inventory

Cash provided by (used for) investing transactions
Financing transactions
Repayment of borrowings
Repayment of liabilities for leased tangible capital assets
Cash provided by (used for) financing transactions
Cash and cash equivalents increase (decrease)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 3)

Interest received in the year
Interest paid in the year

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(thousands of dollars)

42,408 $ (2,642)
80,061 75,211
196 26
110 55
2,163 12
(2,017) (1,364)
479 535
- (251)
(18,183) (5,565)
26,505 (41,260)
8,193 9,624
139,915 34,381
(107,341) (116,985)
- 224
(107,341) (116,761)
461 42,505
33,021 2,845
(38,492) (4,019)
2,000 -
20,872 22,749
(7,017) (7,634)
(15,665) (18,087)
(4,820) 38,359
(4,272) (4,169)
(1,047) (1,057)
(5,319) (5,226)
22,435 (49,247)
68,577 117,824
91,012 $ 68,577
7,266 $ 8,837
1,754  $ 1,850



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Authority and operations

(a) Authority

The Government of Yukon (“the Government”) operates under the authority of the Yukon Act (Canada).
All disbursements for operations and loans are authorized by the Yukon Legislative Assembly.

(b) Budget

The Budget figures are based on the Consolidated Budget of the Government Reporting Entity as
published in the Government’s Operation & Maintenance and Capital Estimates 2020-21 as approved
in the Legislative Assembly in March 2020. Adjustments include estimated lapses and unallocated
budget estimates.

(c) Investments

The Financial Administration Act (Yukon) allows the Government to invest money from the consolidated
revenue fund in the following investments:

- securities that are obligations of, or guaranteed by, the Government of Canada or a province;

- fixed deposits, notes, certificates and other short-term paper of, or guaranteed by, a bank including
swapped deposit transactions in the currency of the United States of America;

- commercial paper issued by a company incorporated under the laws of the Government of Canada
or a province, the securities of which are rated in the highest rating category by at least two
recognized security rating institutions.

Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada.

(a) Reporting entity and method of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all government sector entities and
government not-for-profit organizations.

Government sector entities include departments and government-controlled corporations. Government
not-for-profit organizations comprise government-controlled education and health institutions.

The accounts of government sector entities and not-for-profit organizations, except for those that are
classified as government business enterprises, are consolidated using the full consolidation method. With
the full consolidation method, revenue and expense transactions, capital, investing and financing
transactions, and related assets and liability accounts between consolidated entities have been
eliminated.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

The accounts of government business enterprises are consolidated using the modified equity method.
Under the modified equity method of consolidation, the accounting policies of consolidated entities are not
adjusted to conform with those of the government organizations that are consolidated using the full
consolidation method. Inter-entity revenue and expense transactions and related asset and liability
balances are not eliminated.

On February 6, 2020, the Yukon University Act was proclaimed into force and the Yukon College Act was
repealed, and Yukon College changed its name to Yukon University. Beginning with the fiscal period
ending March 31, 2021 Yukon University has changed its year end date to March 31.

All accounts of the government reporting entity are consolidated using the financial information for the
year ended March 31. As for the organizations that use a fiscal year-end other than March 31, namely the
Yukon Development Corporation, the Government uses their unaudited interim financial statements as at
March 31.

Trusts administered by the Government on behalf of other parties (Note 22) are excluded from the
government reporting entity.

The organizations comprising the government reporting entity, categorized by the consolidation method,
and their specific operating authority are as follows:

Full consolidation: Authority for operations:
Government of Yukon departments Financial Administration Act
Yukon University, formerly Yukon College Yukon University Act, formerly Yukon College Act
Yukon Hospital Corporation Hospital Act
Yukon Housing Corporation Housing Corporation Act

Modified equity:

Yukon Development Corporation Yukon Development Corporation Act
Yukon Liquor Corporation Liquor Act
Cannabis Control and Regulation Act

(b) Basis of accounting
Revenues
Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Grants from the Government of Canada are recognized as revenues when entitlement for the transfer
occurs. The Government receives a Formula Financing grant and the Canada health and the Canada
social transfers from the Government of Canada in accordance with the Federal-Provincial Fiscal
Arrangements Act (Canada) which expires on March 31, 2024. The Formula Financing grant is principle-
based and the Canada health transfer and the Canada social transfer are simple equal cash per capita
grants. Adjustments for health and social transfers are made in the year they are known.

Government transfers are recognized as revenue when the funding is authorized and any eligibility criteria
are met, except to the extent that funding stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of
a liability. Transfers are recognized as unearned revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability.
Transfer revenues are recognized as the stipulation liabilities are settled.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Income taxes, levied under the Income Tax Act (Yukon), are collected by the Government of Canada on
behalf of the Government under a tax collection agreement and are remitted to the Government monthly.
The remittances are based on the Government of Canada’s Department of Finance’s best estimates for
the taxation year, which are periodically adjusted until the income tax assessments for the year are final.
The Government recognizes income tax revenues based on the estimates made by the Government of
Canada, adjusted for known factors. Any adjustments upon finalization are reflected in the accounts in the
year they are identified. Tax concessions are accrued on the same basis as the associated tax revenues
and reduce gross taxation revenue.

Fuel and tobacco taxes are levied under the authority of the Fuel Oil Tax Act (Yukon) and the Tobacco
Tax Act (Yukon). Revenues are recognized based on the statements received from collectors and
estimates. Adjustments from reassessments are recorded in revenue in the year they are identified.

Proceeds from funding and service agreements with other parties are recognized as revenue as they are
determined to be earned based on the terms and conditions of the agreements and in compliance with
relevant accounting standards. These determinations occur on an agreement by agreement basis due to
the diverse nature of each individual agreement.

Expenses

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Transfer payments are recorded as expenses when
authorized and recipients have met eligibility criteria.

Recovery of prior years’ expenses includes reversal of amounts accrued in prior years which are in
excess of actual expenses. These amounts cannot be used to increase the amount appropriated for the
current year.

Assets
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks, and short-term investments that
have terms to maturity of less than 90 days from the dates of acquisition.

Temporary investments include treasury bills, GICs, term deposits, and funds that include short-term debt
securities of Canadian governments and corporate issuers with terms to maturity of 90 days or more but
one year or less from the date of acquisition. When the market value of temporary investments has
declined below the carrying value, they are carried at market value.

Portfolio investments are accounted for by the cost method and include funds that include bonds and
equities. These investments are expected to be realized or have terms to maturity greater than one year
from the date of acquisition. When there has been a loss in value of a portfolio investment that is other
than a temporary decline, the investment is written down to recognize the loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Loans receivable are stated at the lower of principal amounts and net recoverable value. Valuation
allowances, which are recorded to reduce loans receivable to their net recoverable amount, are based on
historical experience, current conditions and all circumstances known at the date of the preparation of the
financial statements. The loan receivable is reduced by the amount of a loss when the amount is known
with sufficient precision, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Interest revenue is recognized on
an accrual basis until such time that the collectability of either principal or interest is not reasonably
assured. Loans with significant concessionary terms are reviewed annually. Concessionary loans are
recorded at the discounted value of the loan after the grant portion has been expensed.

Inventories for resale include land that has been developed by the Government and supplies held for
eventual sale. Land is comprised of the costs of acquiring, planning and developing lots. The lots are
valued at cost, except, when there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, in
which case the lots are written down to net recoverable value to recognize the loss. Supplies held for sale
are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Non-financial assets

The costs of acquiring land, buildings, equipment and other capital property are capitalized as tangible
capital assets and are amortized to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Inventories of supplies consist primarily of fuel and lubricants, repair parts, stationery and office supplies,
highway materials that are tracked through revolving funds and medical supplies of the Yukon Hospital
Corporation. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and replacement value. These assets are not held
for sale and are intended to be used in providing government services. Other materials and supplies are
expensed at the time of acquisition.

Liabilities
Liabilities include financial claims payable by the Government and unearned revenues.

Unearned revenues are cash received for which goods and services have not been provided by year-end,
and are primarily comprised of motor vehicle licence fees for the following fiscal years and transfer
payments from the Government of Canada, which have associated stipulations that gave rise to a liability
as of year-end.

Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets are recorded with a corresponding asset at the lower of the
present value of the minimum lease payments, excluding the portion relating to executory costs, and
the fair value of the asset. The present value is based on the Government's borrowing rate, over a
similar term length as the related lease terms, at the time the obligation is incurred.

The contingencies of the Government are potential liabilities which may become actual liabilities when
one or more future events occur or fail to occur. If the future event is considered likely to occur and is
quantifiable, an estimated liability is accrued. If the likelihood is not determinable or the amount cannot
be reasonably estimated, the contingency is disclosed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are buildings, roads, equipment, and other items, whose useful life extends
beyond the fiscal year and are intended to be used on an ongoing basis for delivering services.
These assets are recorded at cost, or fair value if donated. For certain tangible capital assets that
have previously been transferred from the Government of Canada or where the original costs are not
readily available, estimated costs have been extrapolated back in time in a systematic and rational
manner to approximate the appropriate transfer value of the assets at the time of transfer. Interest
costs on loans that are directly attributable to the acquisition of tangible capital assets are capitalized.

The value of works of art, historical treasures, all intangibles, and items inherited by right of the Crown,
such as Crown lands, forests, water, and mineral resources are not recorded as tangible capital
assets. Historical treasures and works of art are expensed when they are acquired.

Tangible capital assets that are held and available for use by the Government are generally amortized on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Asset category Estimated useful life
Land N/A
Buildings

Buildings 40 - 50 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term

or useful economic life
Equipment and vehicles

Heavy equipment 7 - 30 years

Operating equipment 5-25 years

Vehicles 6 - 20 years
Computer hardware and software

Computer hardware 5 years

Computer software Expected usage of the

system before overhaul
Transportation infrastructure

Forestry access roads 10 years
Highways up to 75 years
Pavement/surfaces up to 75 years
Bridges up to 75 years
Airport runways up to 75 years
Other
Portable classrooms/housing trailers 25 years
Land improvements and fixtures up to 50 years
Sewage and water systems up to 50 years
Mobile radio system infrastructure 15 years

Tangible capital assets under construction or development are reported as work-in-progress with no
amortization until the asset is placed in service.
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(d) Post-employment benefits and compensated absences

Post-employment benefits are expected to be provided after employment but before retirement to
employees. These benefits include severance benefits, accumulated sick and vacation leave benefits that
are paid in cash when employment is terminated. Compensated absences are benefits such as sick leave
and vacation leave that are paid to employees during their employment. The Government recognizes the
obligation for these benefits as a liability and uses actuaries to estimate the amount of the obligation
based on the projected benefit method prorated on service. Expenses related to post-employment
benefits and compensated absences are recognized in the period in which the employee’s service is
rendered and the benefits are earned. The accrued benefit liability for these benefits is calculated as the
accrued benefit obligation adjusted by unamortized actuarial gains or losses.

(e) Retirement benefits

The Government’'s employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the
Government of Canada. The Government’s contributions are expensed during the year in which the
services are rendered and represent its total pension obligation. The Government is not currently required
to make contributions with respect to any actuarial deficiencies of the pension plan.

Other retirement benefits for Government employees include extended health care for retired employees
who choose to participate in the plan and a life insurance plan for retirees who meet certain criteria. They
are both non-pension defined benefit plans. Liabilities for these benefits are triennially valued on an
actuarial basis using the projected benefit method prorated on service, with an actuarial valuation for
accounting purposes updated annually. Non-pension retirement benefit expenses for these plans are
recognized as the member renders service. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated average remaining service lives of the participants. Both extended health care
and life insurance retirement benefits are not funded and thus have no plan assets, resulting in a plan
deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation.

Retirement benefits to Members of the Legislative Assembly, territorial court judges, and the employees
of Yukon University/College and the Yukon Hospital Corporation are defined benefit plans and are valued
on an actuarial basis. Actuarial valuations of these benefits are performed triennially using the projected
benefit method prorated on service, with an actuarial valuation for accounting purposes updated annually.
Pension expenses for these plans are recognized as the member renders services. Actuarial gains and
losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average remaining service lives of the
participants. The accrued benefit liability for these plans is calculated as the accrued benefit obligation
less plan assets, if any, adjusted by unamortized actuarial gains or losses. Plan assets are valued at the
fair market value.

(f) Environmental liabilities

Contaminated sites and other environmental liabilities, which include Type Il sites, are accrued, net of
recoveries, and an expense recorded based on management’s best estimates when the contamination
occurs, when the Government becomes aware of the contamination and when the Government is
obligated to incur such costs. If the likelihood of the Government’s obligation to incur these costs is not
determinable, the contingency is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Landfill liabilities are recognized on a net present value basis for the total estimated expenditures for
closure and post-closure care as the landfill site’s capacity is used.
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(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires the Government to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses reported in the financial statements. By their nature, these estimates are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The effect on the financial statements of changes to such estimates and
assumptions in future periods could be significant although, at the time of preparation of these financial
statements, the Government believes the estimates and assumptions to be reasonable. Certain
estimates used in these financial statements may be subject to increased measurement uncertainty due
to the COVID-19 pandemic (Note 29). The amount of variability cannot be reasonably determined at this
time.

Some of the more significant management estimates relate to post-employment and retirement benefits,
environmental liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets, corporate and personal income tax
revenue and contingencies.

The provision for environmental liabilities is subject to a high degree of measurement uncertainty because
the existence and extent of contamination, the responsibility for, and the timing and cost of remediation
cannot be reliably estimated in all circumstances. The degree of measurement uncertainty resulting from
the estimation of the provision cannot be reasonably determined.

Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Bank balances $ 82,893 $ 60,530
Short-term investments 8,049 7,977
Cash on hand 70 70
$ 91,012 $ 68,577

Temporary investments

2021 2020
Market Carrying Market Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Term Deposits and GICs $ 819 $ 819 $ - $ -
Floating rate notes - - 648 648
Treasury bills - - 419 417
Other 800 800 197 196

$ 1619 $ 1619 $ 1264 $ 1,261

The temporary investments had a weighted average effective yield of 1.54% (2020 — 1.54%) per annum.
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5. Due from/to Government of Canada

2021 _ 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Due from Government of Canada
Cost-sharing agreements and projects

delivered on behalf of the Government of Canada $ 135,070 $ 78,946
Income tax 4,492 1,181
Other 357 1,377

$ 139,919 $ 81,504

Due to Government of Canada

Payroll taxes $ 11,599 $ 9,680
Public Service Pension Plan contribution 8,232 7,675
Program funding liable for claw back 7,901 -
RCMP 7,599 7,685
Type Il mine sites 1,848 1,618
CMHC mortgages and loans 1,713 -
Other 3,078 2,655

$ 41,970 $ 29,493

Amounts due from and due to the Government of Canada are payable on demand and are non-interest
bearing with the exception of mortgages and loans due to CMHC (Note 17). The carrying amounts, with
the exception of mortgages and loans due to CMHC, approximate fair market values because of their
short term to maturity.

6. Accounts receivable

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Taxes, interest and other revenue receivables $ 20,656 $ 31,079
Less valuation allowances (3,275) (2,298)
17,381 28,781

Due from government business enterprises that are not fully
consolidated 3,840 3,802

$ 21,221 $ 32,583
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Portfolio investments

2021 2020
Market Carrying Market Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Marketable securities $ 39,360 $ 39,404 $ 33,816 $ 37,006

Marketable securities include investments held by Yukon University/College as well as designated
investments (Note 8) set aside within the Consolidated Revenue Fund for use in meeting certain post-
employment and retirement benefit obligations for Members of the Legislative Assembly. The investments
are managed by a third party. During the year, following a review of the third party management, the
securities transitioned to a new third party manager.

Designated assets

The Government has designated a portion of its assets for the purpose of meeting the obligations under
Part 3 (Supplemental Plan) of the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act (Yukon) as well as
the “Severance allowance” section of the Legislative Assembly Act (Yukon).

Designated assets are included in cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments and portfolio
investments as follows:

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4 $ 50
Temporary investments (market value $800,000; 2020 —
$1,264,000) 800 1,261
Portfolio investments — marketable securities (market value
$34,545,000; 2020 — $29,758,000) 34,589 32,948
$ 35,393 $ 34,259
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Loans receivable

Yukon Housing Corporation mortgages receivable, secured
by registered charges against real property, chattel
mortgages or general security agreements, due in varying
annual amounts to the year 2029 (2020 — 2029) bearing
interest rates ranging from 0% to 4.95% (2020 — 0% to
4.95%), net of allowance for subsidies and valuation of
$452,000 (2020 — $394,000) and a provision in the amount of
$619,000 (2020 — $535,000) for loans with concessionary
terms.

Agreements for sale of land, due in varying annual amounts
over a three, or five, year term to the year 2026 (2020 —
2025) bearing interest at 5.00% (2020 — 5.00%).

Local improvement loans, due in varying annual amounts to
the year 2040 (2020 — 2041), bearing interest rates ranging
from 0.50% to 5.25% (2020 — 0.50% to 5.25%).

Debenture loans to municipalities, due in varying annual
amounts to the year 2034 (2020 — 2034), bearing interest
rates ranging from 2.72% to 6.38% (2020 — 2.72% to 6.38%).

Other, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $322,000
(2020 — $345,000).

Inventories for resale

Land
Undeveloped land
Land under development
Developed land

Other

50

2021

2020

(thousands of dollars)

37,556

36,035

8,443

2,627

5,556

90,217

2021

$

39,772

16,895

7,534

3,014

5,453

72,668

2020

(thousands of dollars)

603
40,447

22,495

63,545

176

63,721

$

603
57,999

18,843

77,445

110

77,555
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Investment in government business enterprises

(@) Summary financial statements

Summary financial statements of the government entities accounted for by the modified equity method
are provided below. The Yukon Liquor Corporation has a fiscal year-end of March 31. The Yukon
Development Corporation has a fiscal year-end of December 31 but the Government uses their unaudited
interim financial statements for the consolidation. The summary financial statements are prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Yukon Yukon
Development Liquor 2021 2020
Corporation Corporation Total Total
(thousands of dollars)
Assets
Current $ 34,339 $ 5575 $ 39,914 29,751
Capital assets 478,503 2,148 480,651 465,861
Regulatory deferral (Note 11(f)) 32,862 - 32,862 36,286
Right of use of assets 37 967 1,004 1,927
Other 17,761 - 17,761 13,105
$ 563,502 $ 8,690 $ 572,192 546,930
Liabilities
Current $ 42,496 $ 3,722 $ 46,218 37,193
Long-term debt 203,438 - 203,438 203,048
Regulatory deferral (Note 11(f)) 9,112 - 9,112 10.057
Contributions in aid of
construction 87,979 - 87,979 76,952
Lease liabilities - 675 675 1,427
Other 28,596 1,657 30,253 31,557
Equity 191,881 2,636 194,517 186,696
$ 563,502 $ 8,690 $ 572,192 546,930
Revenues $ 89,161 $ 19,6591 $§ 108,820 84,718
Expenses 75,888 11,424 87,312 90,167
Surplus (deficit) before the
following: 13,273 8,235 21,508 (5,449)
Net movement in
regulatory deferral (Note 11(f)) (3,325) - (3,325) 11,014
Surplus (deficit) $ 9948 § 8235 § 18,183 $ 5,565
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Yukon Yukon
Development Liquor 2021 2020
Corporation Corporation Total Total
(thousands of dollars)

Equity, beginning of year $ 184,001 $ 2,695 $ 186,696 $ 191,968
Surplus (deficit) 9,948 8,235 18,183 5,565
Other comprehensive gain (loss) (2,067) (102) (2,169) (1,213)
Remitted to the Government - (8,193) (8,193) (9,624)
Equity, end of year $ 191,882 $ 2635 $ 194517 _$ 186,696

Equity represents the Government’s investment in the government business enterprises.

(b) Inter-entity balances and transactions

Yukon Yukon
Development Liquor 2021 2020
Corporation Corporation Total Total

(thousands of dollars)

Government of Yukon:

Accounts receivable from $ 284 % 2345 $ 2629 $ 1,979
Advance receivable from 36,200 - 36,200 38,200
Accounts payable to 17,578 90 17,668 1,614
Long-term obligations to 85 - 85 85
Revenues from - 8,193 8,193 9,748
Expenses to 40,565 - 40,565 22,375

1 Includes cost of electricity of $17.238 million (2020 — $12.433 million) purchased by the Government from an unrelated third
party. This unrelated party buys electricity from the Yukon Development Corporation’s wholly owned subsidiary, Yukon Energy
Corporation.

(c) Advance receivable

Yukon Development Corporation

The Government entered into loan agreements with the Yukon Development Corporation (“YDC”) and
advanced a total of $39,200,000 in order to assist in the development of the Whitehorse diesel — natural
gas conversion project, which was completed by the Yukon Energy Corporation, YDC’s wholly owned
subsidiary. The loan term that commenced on April 1, 2016 ended on March 31, 2018. The per annum
interest rate was set based on the one-year CDOR plus 30 basis points in effect on April 1 each year. The
rate of interest on the loans was 1.514%. The Government and YDC entered into a new loan agreement
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effective March 30, 2018. The initial term of the loan is to March 31, 2023 and pursuant to the agreement,
the loan may be extended for two additional five year terms upon mutual consent of the parties. The per
annum interest rate will be set based on one-year CDOR plus 40 basis points in effect on April 1 each
year. The rate of interest effective March 30, 2021 is 0.81% (2020 — 1.61%). The new loan agreement
requires principal repayments of $1 million on March 31 each year and full repayment of any principal
outstanding at the end of each loan term if the loan is not extended. The payment due March 31, 2020
from YDC was received in May 2020 and the payment due March 31, 2021 was received in March 2021.

(d) Commitments

Yukon Development Corporation

In June 2010, the Yukon Development Corporation (“YDC”) issued 30-year bonds in the amount of
$100 million at a fixed coupon rate of 5.0% per annum in part to finance the grant from the Yukon
Development Corporation Fund and ratepayers’ future contributions towards the construction of the
Mayo B hydro enhancement and the Carmacks-Stewart transmission phase Il projects. In the
Memorandum of Understanding (‘the MOU”) between the Government and YDC dated March 10,
2011, the Government agreed to provide YDC with financial assistance to a maximum of $2,625,000
annually from April 1, 2011, to March 31, 2042, based on a prescribed formula where, depending on
the annual financial results of YDC, the Government funding will be reduced or eliminated. In
2020/2021, the Government paid $2,625,000 (2020 — $2,625,000) to YDC based on the MOU.

The Government authorized the continuation of the Interim Electrical Rebate program to March 31,
2022. This rebate program provides subsidies to non-government residential customers. It was initially
implemented in 2009 as an interim replacement of the Rate Stabilization Fund. During the fiscal year
2020/2021, the Government provided $3,429,000 (2020 — $3,375,000) to YDC for this purpose. The
Government is committed to fund up to $3,500,000 in the fiscal year 2021/2022.

As at March 31, 2021, the Yukon Energy Corporation (“YEC”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of YDC,
had contractual obligations for future purchases of products or services in the amount of $31,850,000
(2020 — $28,900,000).

The Yukon Water Board had issued a water use license for the Aishihik Lake facility that was valid until
December 31, 2019. In addition to maintaining a minimum and maximum water level, the license
commits YEC to meet a number of future requirements including annual fish monitoring programs.

Due to outstanding issues with affected stakeholders, YEC was unable to secure a long-term renewal
of the license prior to expiry. During 2019, a two-month extension was granted, and then, in order to
ensure continued generation of electricity from the Aishihik Lake facility, YEC applied for and received
a three-year renewal of the existing license. The renewal is effective from March 1, 2020 to December
31, 2022. There are additional monitoring and potential operational adjustments, which will be charged
to the fiscal year in which they occur. YEC continues to work with affected parties with the objective of
securing a longer term license agreement prior to the expiry of the renewal.

Fish monitoring programs are also required under an authorization provided by the Federal

Government, Department of Fisheries and Oceans. The costs of meeting these requirements will be
accounted for as water license costs in the year they are paid.
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Yukon Liquor Corporation

In the normal course of operations, the Yukon Liquor Corporation enters into multi-year arrangements
for the provision of freight and other goods and services. The total commitments as at March 31, 2021
for future years are $2,569,000 (2020 — $3,285,000).

(e) Contingencies

Yukon Development Corporation

At March 31, 2016, the Yukon Energy Corporation (“YEC”), Yukon Development Corporation’s wholly
owned subsidiary, had a claim from a contractor in the amount of $4,000,000 plus interest and legal
costs. During 2017, the Yukon Supreme Court issued an award in favour of the contractor. YEC
successfully appealed the award in 2018. A re-trial was held in April 2020 with the decision of the judge
being received in February 2021. The trial resulted in a net award in favour of YEC in the amount of
$433,000. Legal costs and interest are still to be adjudicated. The outcome of the adjudication is not
determinable at this time and no estimate of a settlement has been recognized in the financial
statements.

YEC has not recognized a provision for asset retirement obligations for the closure and restoration
obligations for certain generation, transmission and distribution assets. YEC anticipates maintaining
and operating these assets for an indefinite period, making the dates of retirement of the assets
indeterminate. The significant uncertainties around the timing of any potential future cash outflows are
such that a reasonable estimate of the liability is not possible at this time. A provision will be
recognized when the timing of the retirement of these assets can be reasonably estimated.

(f) Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Yukon Development Corporation

Regulatory deferral accounts in YDC'’s financial statements are accounted for differently than they would
be in the absence of rate regulation. Where regulatory decisions dictate, YDC defers certain expenses or
revenues as regulatory deferral account debit balances or regulatory deferral account credit balances and
recognizes them in the net movement in regulatory deferral account balances as it collects or refunds
amounts through future customer rates. Any adjustments to these regulatory deferral accounts are
recognized in the net movement in regulatory deferral account balances in the period that the Yukon
Utilities Board (“YUB”) renders a subsequent decision. All amounts maintained as regulatory deferral
account debit balances and regulatory deferral account credit balances are expected to be recovered or
settled and are assessed on an annual basis by comparing the rates approved by the YUB to the current
balances.

The net movement in regulatory deferral account balances is included in income from investment in

government business enterprises in the Government's consolidated statement of operations and
accumulated surplus.
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Accounts payable $ 76,407 $ 67,955
Accrued liabilities 69,601 55,137
Contractors' holdbacks and security deposits 9,630 11,176
Due to government business enterprises (Note 11(b)) 17,668 1,614
Other 505 1,112

$ 173,811 $ 136,994

Environmental liabilities

(a) Contaminated sites and other environmental liabilities

The Government has recorded environmental liabilities of $26,447,000 (2020 — $27,278,000). These
liabilities consist of estimated costs related to the remediation of contaminated sites as well as
estimated costs associated with other liabilities related to these sites. The liabilities are determined on
a site-by-site basis and are based on preliminary environmental assessments or estimation for those
sites where an assessment has not been conducted. The amount recorded is based on management’s
best estimates utilizing the information available at the financial statement date. The amount of
liabilities becomes determinable over a continuum of events and activities as information becomes
available. As a result, the actual amount of liabilities to remediate these sites could vary significantly.

As at March 31, 2021, the Government was aware of 99 sites (2020 — 99 sites) where the Government is
obligated or is likely obligated to incur such costs. During the year remediation work was undertaken at 11
sites, including the Marwell Tar Pit.

One of the 99 sites, Marwell Tar Pit, has been formally designated as contaminated under the
Environment Act (Yukon) and the Contaminated Sites Regulation. The Government is not a “responsible
party” as defined by the Environment Act (Yukon) and determined by the Contaminated Sites Regulation.
The Government of Canada was the landowner when the contamination occurred. In September 2010,
the Government and the Government of Canada entered into an agreement to remediate the site over 11
years with a total estimated cost of $6,800,000, of which the Government is to fund 30% or $2,040,000
and the Government of Canada $4,760,000. As at March 31, 2021, $106,000 (2020 — $250,000) was
recorded as the remaining liability for this site, and is part of the $26,447,000 noted above.

A site known as Wellgreen ceased operations in the 1970’s. The Government of Canada approved the
tailings dam and resulting pond built at that time as meeting required specifications; however, concerns
regarding the level of water in the pond are known. Initial assessment confirmed that further remediation
of the site is required and $4,803,000 (2020 - $5,000,000) has been recognized in Environmental
Liabilities for Contaminated Sites to reflect the Government’'s expected responsibility. Negotiations with
the previous owner and the Government of Canada will be required to establish final levels of
responsibility and liability.
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(b) Landfill sites

There are 28 active, decommissioned or abandoned landfill sites that are outside incorporated
communities and, therefore, are the responsibility of the Government. The Government is the sole
operator of the active landfills. 23 of these sites are subject to the Environment Act (Yukon) — Solid Waste
Regulations which includes requirements for closure and abandonment of a dump. The remaining 5 sites
are old abandoned dumps which are not subject to the Solid Waste Regulations.

A liability is recognized as the landfill site’s capacity is used with usage measured on a volumetric basis.
As at March 31, 2021, the net present value of total expenditures for closure and post-closure care is
estimated to be $14,057,000 (2020 — $14,057,000) and a liability in the amount of $11,854,000 (2020 —
$11,854,000) has been recorded for these sites. The amount remaining to be recognized in the future is
$2,203,000 (2020 — $2,203,000). No assets are designated for settling these liabilities.

In calculation of the above liability, the remaining landfill life was estimated to be from 0 to 50 years. Solid
waste permits issued under the Solid Waste Regulations specify 25 years of post-closure monitoring;
therefore, 25 years is used as an estimated length of time needed for post-closure care. A discount rate
of 2.58% (2020 — 2.58%) was used for the net present value calculation for active and closed landfill sites.

(c) Type I sites

Pursuant to the Devolution Transfer Agreement (“DTA”), the Government of Canada retained
responsibility for the clean-up of waste sites that were identified on lands transferred effective April 1,
2003. The Government of Canada also accepted financial responsibility for the remediation of impacts
attributable to activities that took place prior to April 2003 on the mine sites identified as Type Il sites,
which have been abandoned by their owner/operator. Except for the Ketza River site discussed below, the
Government is not aware of any financial obligations on its part in relation to these mine sites.

On April 10, 2015 Veris Gold Corporation abandoned the Ketza River mine site (“the site”). The site is
identified as a Type Il mine site in the DTA between the Government and the Government of Canada.
The Government has provided notice to the Government of Canada pursuant to the DTA that the site
has been abandoned by its owner/operator. Once a Type Il site becomes abandoned the DTA requires
that an Independent Assessor assess the condition of the site and develop a remediation plan. The
Government is responsible for the cost of this assessment. Under the DTA, the Government of
Canada accepted financial responsibility for the remediation of impacts attributable to activities that
were permitted by the Government of Canada. The Government will be financially responsible for
remediation of impacts of activities it permitted after devolution. The Government’s costs, if any, may
be offset by the security bond it holds. The financial obligations related to the assessment required
under the DTA are estimated to be $4,802,000 (2020 - $4,857,000) and remediation costs, if any,
which are the Government’s responsibility, are currently undeterminable. No assets are designated for
settling these liabilities.
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The following table presents the total estimated amounts of these liabilities as at March 31, 2021.

2021 2020
Number  Estimated Number Estimated
of sites Liability of sites Liability

(thousands of dollars)
Liabilities for contaminated sites’

Highway maintenance camps and airports 36 $ 10,835 36 $ 10913
Other storage tanks and buildings 52 8,653 52 9,215
Marwell Tar Pit 1 106 1 250
Wellgreen 1 4,803 1 5,000
Other 9 2,050 9 1,900
99 26,447 99 27,278

Landfill sites 28 11,854 28 11,854
Type Il sites 1 4,802 1 4,857
128 $ 43,103 128§ 43,989

1 Contamination primarily includes petroleum hydrocarbons, salts and/or occasionally metals.

14. Unearned revenues

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Liability portion of government transfers $ 17,735 $ 10,791
Motor vehicle fees for future years 2,554 2,091
Other 6,887 2,746

$ 27,176 $ 15,628

The liability portion of government transfers represents transfer payments from the Government of
Canada, which have funding stipulations that gave rise to a liability as of year-end.
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Post-employment benefits and compensated absences

(a) The Government of Yukon and Yukon Housing Corporation

Employees of the Government of Yukon and the Yukon Housing Corporation receive severance
benefits that are paid on termination of service or upon retirement based on the number of years
worked, the level of the pay at the time of termination or retirement and the category of employment. In
addition, if an employee has at least five years of continuous service, a cash-in of sick leave will be
paid. The cash-in amount is calculated as 1/3 of unused sick leave credits to a maximum of 60 days
multiplied by the daily pay rate at termination or retirement.

The Government and the Yukon Housing Corporation have conducted actuarial valuations of post-
employment benefits as at January 31, 2020. March 31, 2021 amounts are based on an extrapolation of
the January 31, 2020 amounts. These post-employment benefits are not funded and thus have no assets,
resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation.

The Government and the Yukon Housing Corporation also account for compensated absences liabilities
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. Compensated absences include special
leave benefits and educational leave benefits.

Effective December 31, 2019 all current resignation and retirement severance accruals have been frozen
for employees classified as Deputy Ministers and Managers. All employees in this group are eligible to
receive severance payouts based on service accrued prior to December 31, 2019. The plan amendment
resulted in a gain to the plan of $5,435,000. As there were no offsetting net unamortized actuarial losses,
the full gain was recognized in net benefit cost for the year ended March 31, 2020.

Effective June 30, 2018 all current and retirement severance accruals were frozen for certain employees
of the Government. All employees in this group are entitled to receive severance payouts based on
service accrued prior to June 30, 2018.

Members of the Yukon Legislative Assembly receive a severance benefit in accordance with the
Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowance Act, 2007 (Yukon). The accrued benefit obligation is
calculated actuarially using the projected benefit method prorated on service- The accrued benefit liability
at March 31, 2021 is based on an extrapolation of an actuarial valuation that was performed as at March
31, 2020. The Government has designated a portion of its assets for the purpose of meeting this
obligation (Note 8).
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(b) Yukon University/College

Yukon University/College’s cost of benefit plans, other than pensions, including severance benefits, sick
leave and managers’ accrued leave, payable upon termination of employment, death or retirement, is
actuarially determined using the projected accrued benefit method prorated on employment services.
These post-employment benefits are not funded and thus have no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal
to the accrued benefit obligation. The actuarial valuation of the accrued benefit liability was performed as
at June 30, 2019. March 31, 2021 amounts are based on an extrapolation of the June 30, 2019 amounts.

Yukon University/College accrues vacation leave and other compensated absences for employees as
earned.

(c) Yukon Hospital Corporation
Employees of the Yukon Hospital Corporation are entitled to specified severance, special leave and sick
leave benefits as provided for under union contracts and conditions of employment. There are no

segregated assets for these post-employment benefits.

The Yukon Hospital Corporation accrues vacation leave as earned. This liability is included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities.

The accrued liabilities for the above benefits as of March 31, 2021 were as follows:

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Post-employment benefits and compensated absences liability

Government of Yukon employees $ 124,108 $ 116,497
Yukon University/College 10,030 8,264
Yukon Hospital Corporation 2,945 2,502
Yukon Housing Corporation 2,173 2,242
Members of Yukon Legislative Assembly 891 690
(Schedule D) $ 140,147 $ 130,195

Retirement benefits

(a) Public Service Pension Plan

The Government's employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the
Government of Canada. In this plan, employees accumulate pension benefits up to a maximum period of
35 years at 2% per year of pensionable service based on the average of their five consecutive years of
highest paid services. In December 2012, the Government of Canada passed legislation to create a new
group of plan members for the employees who join the plan on or after January 1, 2013. This group of
plan members is eligible to retire with an unreduced public service pension benefit at age 65 with at least
two years of pensionable service (or at age 60 with at least 30 years of service) while the old group of
members is eligible to retire with an unreduced public service pension benefit at age 60 with at least two
years of pensionable service (or at age 55 with at least 30 years of service). Since January 1, 2013, there
are two groups paying different rates of contributions to the plan.
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In the calendar year 2020, the Government contributed $1.01 for every dollar contributed by the old group
of plan members and $1.00 for the new group of plan members. For the portion of the employee’s salary
above $173,000, the Government contributed $3.80 for every dollar contributed by both groups of plan
members.

In the calendar year 2021, the Government contributes $1.01 for every dollar contributed by the old group
of plan members and $1.00 for the new group of plan members. For the portion of the employee’s salary
above $181,600 the Government contributes $3.59 for every dollar contributed by both groups of plan
members.

The Government's contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan during the year and recorded as
expenses were $41,002,000 (2020 — $38,752,000).

(b) Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan

The Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan.
These benefits are based on service and earnings. The Members' Services Board of the Legislative
Assembly is responsible, pursuant to the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act (Yukon), for
the administration of the Plan.

The funds are held by an investment manager in two different accounts. The first account holds the
assets of the trust fund for the registered pension plan established pursuant to Parts 1 and 2 of the
Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act. The second account holds the assets of the
Government, from which benefits under Part 3 of the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act
are paid (Note 8). It is the Government’s policy to fully fund Parts 1 and 2 of this pension plan.

During the year, the investment management has transitioned to a new investment manager.

The Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act stipulates that actuarial valuations for funding
purposes must be performed at least triennially. An actuarial valuation is based on a number of
assumptions about future events, such as inflation rates, interest rates, salary increases and member
turnover and mortality. The assumptions used in a valuation for funding purposes are based on the
actuary’s best estimates with margins for conservatism. The last actuarial valuation for funding purposes
was performed as of March 31, 2020. The accrued benefit obligation as at March 31, 2021 is based on an
actuarial valuation performed for accounting purposes using the membership data as of March 31, 2020.

(c) Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan

The Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan is a defined benefit pension plan, which is comprised of a
judiciary registered pension plan, a judiciary retirement compensation arrangement and a
supplementary judiciary pension plan. In addition to pension payments, these plans also contain a
provision for payment of lump sum death and severance allowances. The Plan is administered by the
Public Service Commissioner in the meaning assigned by the Public Service Act (Yukon).
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Pursuant to the Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan Act (Yukon), the pension fund assets for the
judiciary registered pension plan and the judiciary retirement compensation arrangement are held
separate and distinct from the Government’s operations, and are managed by an investment manager.
The Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan Act stipulates that no contributions are to be made to the
supplementary judiciary pension plan, and no fund is to be maintained for this plan.

Actuarial valuations for the Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan for accounting and funding
purposes were conducted using the membership data as at March 31, 2020.

(d) Yukon University/College Employees’ Pension Plan

The Yukon University/College (“the University”) Employees’ Pension Plan is a contributory defined
benefit pension plan. The University’'s pension plan provides mandatory pension benefits for all full-
time employees and optional benefits for part-time employees after 24 months of continuous service.
The University’s pension plan provides for defined retirement benefits based on an employee’s years
of service and average final earnings, in accordance with the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985
(Canada). The University has contracted with external organizations to provide the services of trustee,
administration, consulting and investment manager for the pension plan. The pension plan assets are
held by a trustee and separate financial statements are prepared for the pension plan.

An actuarial valuation for accounting purposes was performed as at March 31, 2021 following
Canadian public sector accounting standards. An actuarial valuation for funding purposes was
performed as at June 30, 2020, which established Yukon University/College’s required contributions as
100.4% (June 30, 2019 — 94.3%) of employee contributions.

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes as at June 30, 2020 indicates the University had an
actuarial surplus of $16,006,000 (June 30, 2019 — $19,587,000) at the measurement date on a going-
concern basis and a deficit of $21,014,000 (June 30, 2019 — $11,296,000) if valued on the basis that
the pension plan was to be terminated/wound up as at June 30, 2020. The solvency ratio of the plan
was 86.3% at June 30, 2020 (92.0% at June 30, 2019).

For any unfunded pension liability, the University has obtained a letter of credit in lieu of making
solvency payments. The amount of the letter of credit is equal to the amount of solvency payments
required as determined by the actuary. The Government has issued letters to a bank guaranteeing that,
should there be a requirement to draw upon the letters of credit required by Yukon University/College to
address its solvency deficit in its pension plan, the Government will provide the necessary financial
support to address any resulting debt, interest and costs that may be required under the federal pension
legislation. This guarantee remains in effect until December 31, 2021. The maximum amount of letters of
credit to which this guarantee applies will be $21,357,000 (2020 — $20,739,000).

(e) Yukon Hospital Corporation Employees’ Pension Plan

The Yukon Hospital Corporation (“the Corporation”) Employees’ Pension Plan is a contributory defined
benefit pension plan, which provides defined retirement benefits based on the length of service and
final average earnings of an employee, and is administered by the Corporation’s Board of Trustees. A
separate pension fund is maintained to hold plan assets. The Corporation has contracted with external
organizations to provide trustee and investment management services for the fund.

61



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

An actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed at December 31, 2020, which established
the Corporation’s required contribution as 113% (2019 — 112%) of employee contributions. This
valuation reported that, as at December 31, 2020, the pension plan had a surplus of $45,866,000
(2019 — $36,997,000) on a going concern basis, and a deficit of $43,308,000 (2019 — $31,970,000) if
valued on the basis that the pension plan was to be terminated/wound up. The solvency ratio of the
plan at December 31, 2020 is 82% (84% at December 31, 2019).

In accordance with the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (Canada), the Corporation is required to
make special payments to eliminate the solvency shortfall. The payments have been actuarially
determined as $6,904,000 over the 2021 calendar year (2020 - $4,940,000). The Corporation is
permitted to cover up to a specified maximum of 15% of the solvency liability with a conforming letter of
credit. During the fiscal year, the Corporation entered into letters of credit totaling $26,907,000 (2020 —
$26,508,000) related to solvency deficiency payments. The Government has issued letters to a bank
guaranteeing that, should there be a requirement to draw upon the letters of credit required by the
Corporation to address its solvency deficit in its pension plan, the Government will provide the necessary
financial support to address any resulting debt, interest and costs that may be required under the federal
pension legislation. This guarantee was in effect from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021 and the maximum
amount of letters of credit to which this guarantee applied was $26,508,000 (2020 - $26,508,000). In June
2021, this guarantee was renewed to a maximum of $35,464,000 for the June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022
period. There is an overlap between the letters of credit time periods and the fiscal years.

An actuarial valuation for accounting purposes was performed as at March 31, 2021 following
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

(f) Extended health care and life insurance retirement benefits

The Government provides optional extended health care benefits to retired employees as well as life
insurance coverage to eligible retirees. They are both non-pension defined benefit plans. The extended
health care plan is self-insured. The accrued benefit obligation as at March 31, 2021 is based on an
extrapolation of an actuarial valuation conducted as at January 31, 2020. Extended health care and life
insurance retirement benefits are not funded and thus have no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to
the accrued benefit obligation.

Effective for all employees retiring after January 1, 2019 the cost sharing arrangement for extended
health benefits was revised. Existing retirees and those retiring prior to January 1, 2019 are not impacted
by the change.

Effective April 1, 2020, the eligibility for post-retirement life insurance was amended through changes to
Section M, the terms and conditions of employment for managers. Managers appointed to MG3 or
higher positions prior to April 1, 2020 retain their eligibility for post-retirement life insurance on
retirement. Management employees newly appointed at the MG3 level or higher as of April 1, 2020 will
not be eligible for post-retirement life insurance.
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The accrued benefit liability/asset for the above retirement benefits as of March 31, 2021 was as follows:

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Accrued benefit liability

Extended health care retirement benefit $ 69,608 $ 64,307
Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan 28,726 27,030
Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan 8,499 7,531
Life insurance retirement benefit 3,465 3,204

110,298 102,072

Accrued benefit asset

Yukon University/College Employees’ Pension Plan $ 20,529 $ 18,276
Yukon Hospital Corporation Employees’ Pension Plan 51,339 53,149
71,868 71,425

Total net benefit liability (Schedule E) $ 38,430 $ 30,647
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Borrowings
2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Yukon Hospital Corporation — loans with a chartered bank. $ 26,271 $ 29,810
(see below)
Yukon Housing Corporation — mortgages payable to chartered 1,089 1,462

banks and Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation
(CMHC), secured by fixed charges against housing projects,
with net book value of $2,259,000 (2020 - $2,317,000),
repayable in blended monthly payments with maturities up to
the year 2028, bearing fixed interest rates ranging from 1.99%
to 2.81%.

Yukon University/College — non-interest bearing loan repayable 996 996
on demand within 90 days.

Yukon Housing Corporation — loans payable to chartered 624 719
banks and CMHC, repayable in blended periodic instalments

with maturities up to the year 2028, bearing fixed interest rates

ranging from 7.50% to 9.50%.

Yukon Hospital Corporation — flexible term note payable to the 85 85
Yukon Development Corporation, bearing interest rate at

7.50% repayable in annual instalments, based on the annual

energy savings realized, secured by a general security

agreement on building improvements with a net book value of

$60,000 (2020 — $89,000).

$ 29,065 $ 33,072
Less: Amounts included in Due to Canada (Note 5) (1,713) -
$ 27,352 $ 33,072

Principal repayment requirements over the next five years on outstanding borrowings are as follows:

(thousands of dollars)

2022 $ 5,201
2023 4,258
2024 4,180
2025 4,258
2026 4,423
Thereafter 6,745
$ 29065
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Yukon Hospital Corporation — loans with a chartered bank

Demand term installment loan with the CIBC with interest
calculated at a fixed rate of 5.15% per annum for the Watson
Lake Hospital construction project. Blended payments of
$160,000 due monthly with the final payment due on
December 31, 2026.

Demand term installment loan with the CIBC with interest
calculated at a fixed rate of 4.525% per annum for the
Dawson City Hospital construction project. Principal
payments of $100,000 due monthly with the final payment
due on April 1, 2028.

Demand term installment loan with the CIBC with interest
calculated at a fixed rate of 5.23% per annum for the Crocus
Ridge construction project. Blended payments of $117,000
due monthly with the final payment due on March 15, 2028.
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Borrowing Limit

The Yukon Borrowing Limits Regulations prescribe what constitutes borrowing, the entities whose
borrowing must be taken into account, and the manner in which the value of a borrowing is determined.

An Order in Council (P.C. 2012-280) came into force on March 8, 2013. These regulations pursuant to
subsection 23(2) of the Yukon Act (Canada) provided authority to the Government and its entities to
borrow in aggregate to a maximum of $400 million.

On September 20, 2020, the Government of Canada repealed, pursuant to subsection 23(4) of the Yukon
Act (Canada), Order in Council (P.C. 2012-280) and issued Order in Council (P.C. 2020-0663), setting the
maximum amount of the aggregate of all borrowing at $800 million.

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Authorized borrowing limit $ 800,000 $ 400,000
Loans of money by government reporting entity:

Government business enterprises

Yukon Development Corporation, bonds 100,000 100,000
Yukon Development Corporation, other long-term debt 68,577 66,231
168,577 166,231

Fully consolidated entities
Yukon Hospital Corporation, bank loans 26,271 29,810
Yukon Housing Corporation, mortgages payable 1,089 1,462
Yukon University/College, loan payable 996 996
Yukon Housing Corporation, loans payable 624 719
28,980 32,987
Accrued interest payable 1,263 1,266
Credit facilities used 33,314 23,807
Capital lease obligation 3,096 4,144
Total debt 235,230 228,435
Available borrowing capacity $ 564,770 $ 171,565
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2023, with imputed interest rate of 3.7%. $ 1,348 $ 1,970

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2025, with imputed interest rate of 3.7%. 1,062 1,285

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2025, with imputed interest rate of 3.3%. 686 889
$ 3,096 $ 4,144

Interest expense related to liabilities for leased tangible capital assets for the year was $174,000 (2020 —
$196,000) at an imputed average interest rate of 3.6% (2020 — 3.1%).

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under the liabilities for leased tangible
capital assets:

(thousands of dollars)

2022 $ 1,863
2023 1,873
2024 725
2025 536
Total minimum lease payments 4,997
Less: amount representing executory costs (1,262)
amount representing rental of land (509)
amount representing interest (130)

$ 3,096
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Financial instruments

The balances in cash and cash equivalents, due to/from Government of Canada with the exception of
amounts due to CMHC (Note 17), accounts receivable, advances to government business enterprises,
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities have fair values that approximate their carrying amount
due to their short term to maturity.

The fair value and the methods of calculation and assumptions used for the Government’'s other
financial instruments are detailed below:

2021 2020

Carrying Carrying
Fair Value Value Fair Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Temporary investments $ 1,619 $ 1619 $ 1,264 $ 1,261

Portfolio investments
Marketable securities $ 39,360 $ 39,404 $ 33,816 $ 37,006

Loans receivable

Mortgages receivable,

net of valuation allowance $ 38,931 $ 37,556 $ 39,606 $ 39,772

Other loans receivable,
net of valuation allowance 52,664 52,661 33,089 32,896
$ 91,595 $ 90,217 $ 72,695 $ 72,668

Borrowings

Demand term installment loan $ 29,411 $ 26,271 $ 34,178 $ 29,810
Mortgages payable 825 1,089 1,184 1,462
Loans payable 1,651 1,620 1,751 1,715
Other 85 85 102 85
$ 31,972 $ 29,065 $ 37,215 $ 33,072

An active and established market exists for the temporary and portfolio investments. Consequently, the
estimated fair value is calculated using observed market data.

Since the above valuation is based on market information available at March 31, 2021, the fair value of
the investments may change materially in future periods as a result of fluctuations in the market.
However, these changes are not expected to result in a significant impact on the Government’s future
operations.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2021

The estimated fair values of loans receivable were determined using the present value of future cash
flows discounted at the March 31, 2021 average market rate for mortgages and loans with similar
maturities. Until settled, the fair value of loans receivable will fluctuate based on changes in interest
rates. The Government believes the carrying amount of loans receivable will be fully recovered.

The estimated fair value for borrowings is calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at
year-end market interest rates for equivalent terms to maturity.

Tangible capital assets

Land
Buildings
Equipment and vehicles

Computer hardware and software

Transportation infrastructure

Land improvements and fixtures

Sewage and water systems
Other

(Schedule C)

2021 2020
Net Book Net Book
Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

$ 19,575 $ 19,575
755,184 764,043
102,565 96,582
46,450 39,556
659,758 642,427
46,504 42,405
48,800 50,278
14,181 13,513

$ 1,693,017 $ 1,668,379

Leased tangible capital assets are reported as part of the respective asset category. These leased assets
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term or estimated economic life. The amortization
expense for the year was $991,000 (2020 — $1,038,000). The cost and accumulated amortization of
leased capital assets that are included in the schedule of tangible capital assets are as follows:

Buildings (cost)
Operating equipment (cost)

Less accumulated amortization

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
$ 9,907 $ 9,907
141 141
10,048 10,048
(7,415) (6,424)
$ 2,633 $ 3,624
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Expenses by object

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Personnel $ 692,196 $ 645,876
Government transfers 350,247 274,018
Contract and special services 249,657 249,480
Materials, supplies and utilities 144,055 133,404
Amortization expenses 80,061 75,211
Communication and transportation 35,605 46,976
Rent 47,590 46,072
Interest on long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,752 1,890
Other 11,374 7,202

$ 1,612,537 $ 1,480,129

Trusts under administration

The Government administers trust accounts on behalf of third parties which are not included in the
Government's assets.

The largest such trust account, the Compensation Fund (Yukon) has a fiscal year-end of December 31.
Details of the assets of the Compensation Fund (Yukon), principally investments, are available from its
financial statements, which are reproduced in Section Ill of the Public Accounts of the Government. At
March 31, 2021, the remaining trust account balances were held in bank accounts or invested in term
deposits and GICs.

Investments of the Compensation Fund (Yukon) are valued at fair value. Investments of the remainder of
the trust accounts are valued at the lower of cost and market. Any other assets held under administration
such as property, securities and valuables are reflected in trust accounts only upon conversion to cash.
The following is a summary of the trusts under administration as at March 31, 2021, except for the
Compensation Fund (Yukon) which is at December 31, 2020.

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Compensation Fund (Yukon) $ 250,799 $ 237,564
Federal Gas Tax Funds under the New Deal 107,999 97,775
Lottery Commission 8,984 8,144
Crime Prevention and Victim Services 7,373 6,955
Forest Sector trust 6,044 5,991
Extended health and dental plan trust funds 5,599 2,906
Supreme Court trust 1,379 1,379
Public Guardian trust 1,516 1,316
Other 3,994 3,482

$ 393,687 $ 365,512
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23. Contractual rights

The Government has entered into agreements to receive, or has contractual rights for, the following
receipts subsequent to March 31, 2021:

Expiry 2023 -
Date 2022 2031 Total

(thousands of dollars)

Contribution and Service Agreements

Infrastructure Canada 2031 $ 92,004 $ 675,829 $ 767,833
Transport Canada 2029 15,462 97,921 113,383
Canada Mortgage and Housing

Corporation 2030 8,066 50,602 58,668
Crown-Indigenous Relations and

Northern Affairs 2022 26,235 436 26,671
Environment and Natural

Resources 2024 9,887 15,387 25,274
Innovation, Science and

Economic Development 2023 6,684 21,684 28,368
French Language Service
Agreement 2025 5,500 17,250 22,750
Employment and

Social Development 2025 2,766 9,264 12,030
RCMP: Mobile Radio Network 2026 2,168 6,504 8,672
Health Canada 2022 1,660 - 1,660
Canadian Heritage 2023 2,583 2,583 5,166
Justice Canada 2023 1,181 1,181 2,362
Other 2025 5,408 10,117 15,525

$ 179,604 $ 908,758 $1,088,362
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24. Contractual obligations

The Government has entered into agreements for, or is contractually obligated for, the following payments
subsequent to March 31, 2021:

Expiry 2023 -
Date 2022 2046 Total

(thousands of dollars)

RCMP policing agreement 2032 $ 25,686 $ 282,546 $ 308,232
Capital projects
- in progress at March 31, 2021 2027 162,192 64,633 226,825
Building/office space leases 2029 10,658 19,078 29,736
NorthwesTel Inc. mobile radio
network system 2025 3,861 6,887 10,748
Yukon Hospital Corporation —
medical equipment maintenance 2025 6,626 4,270 10,896
Alkan Air Ltd. medical evacuation
contract 2023 3,578 - 3,578
Conair Group Inc. air tanker
services (turbine engines) 2023 2,155 2,060 4,215
Air Spray (1967) Ltd. Air tanker
services 2023 1,932 1,976 3,908
Information Services Corporation 2040 426 3,610 4,036
Miscellaneous operational
commitments 2045 37,812 9,528 47,340
$254,926 $394,588 $649,514

25. Overexpenditure

Overexpenditure of a vote contravenes subsection 17(2) of the Financial Administration Act (Yukon)
which specifies that “a vote does not authorize any payment to be made in excess of the amount
specified in the vote”. During the year, no (2020 — two) departments exceeded their votes with a total of
$0 (2020 - $7,612,000).

The Appropriation Acts (Yukon) state that the Government is not to expend grant payments except in
accordance with the Act. During the year, two (2020 — one) departments exceeded the authorized
amounts as follows:
(thousands of dollars)
Health and Social Services

- COVID CERB Exemption $1,103

- Yukon seniors’ income supplement 39

- Social Assistance - Whitehorse 9
Finance

- Workers’ compensation supplementary benefits $ 34

72



26.

27.

28.

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Guarantees

The Government has guaranteed repayment of loans payable by the Yukon Energy Corporation, the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Yukon Development Corporation, of $nil (2020 — $23,807,000).

At March 31, 2021, the Yukon Development Corporation had long-term debt of $203,000,000 (2020 —
$203,000,000) (Note 11(a)) and a credit facility of up to $43,500,000. While the Government has not
issued guarantees for these instruments, as the Yukon Development Corporation is an agent of the
Government, lenders may have recourse to the Government. Except for the amounts committed as
described in note 11(d), it is expected that no significant costs will be incurred by the Government with
respect to any guarantees and debts.

Land claims

Between February 1995 and March 31, 2021, eleven Yukon First Nation Final and Self-government
Agreements came into effect. The Government of Canada’s negotiating mandate expired prior to the
completion of the remaining three Yukon agreements. Settlements for these outstanding claims would not
result in a general liability to the Government as they are to be funded by the Government of Canada. The
Government would, however, be responsible for any financial obligations it might agree to during the
negotiations.

The bilateral funding agreement with the Government of Canada that had been in place since June 24,
1993 and which provided funding towards the Government’s additional implementation costs expired on
March 31, 2009. However, there are no additional costs for the Government as all of the existing funding
commitments are captured elsewhere, either through a specific funding agreement with the Government
of Canada or as a component of the base funding received by the Government. The specific
implementation costs include Board and Council funding arising from the various Final Agreement
Implementation Plans and other negotiated funding amounts.

Contingencies

In the normal course of operations, the Government is subject to legal claims. These claims include items
with pleading amounts and items where an amount is not specified. At March 31, 2021, the amounts
claimed, excluding the claims from Northern Cross (Yukon) Ltd., which are described below, is
$5,793,000 (2020 — $6,538,000). No provision for these claims has been made as it is unlikely or
undeterminable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements.

On April 4, 2017, Northern Cross (Yukon) Ltd. (“Northern Cross”) filed a Statement of Claim in the
Supreme Court of Yukon against the Government and the Minister of Energy, Mines and Resources.
Northern Cross identified a number of causes of action although all of these are based upon its allegation
that due to the moratorium on hydraulic fracturing Northern Cross’ exploration rights in the Eagle Plains
area have been adversely affected. The claim seeks up to $2.26 billion which is comprised of $395 million
for refund of work deposits, application fees, rental amounts, sunk costs and interest and $1.86 billion in
damages for loss of opportunity of 8.6 billion barrels of oil, at fair market value, identified as being in the
area through a resource evaluation. On April 12, 2017, Northern Cross changed its name to Chance Oil
and Gas Limited. No provision for this claim has been made as it is undeterminable that a liability exists at
the date of the financial statements.
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The Government established a Risk Management Revolving Fund in December 2004, with a limit of
$5,000,000, which is to be used for providing limited insurance and risk management services to
Government departments. Expenses relating to some of the property and liability losses incurred by the
Government are to be paid out of this fund. The Government has legal liability and property insurance
with a $2,000,000 deductible. In 2020/2021, the Government paid $253,000 (2020 — $299,000) for liability
claims such as bodily injury, property damage and automobile liability. The Government had unpaid
claims against the fund in the amount of $1,660,000 as at March 31, 2021 (2020 — $1,521,000). This
amount is reported as part of the Government’'s accrued liabilities. The fund balance at March 31, 2021
was $5,000,000 (2020 — $5,000,000).

In addition to the environmental liabilities discussed in Note 13, there may be other instances of
contamination that have not yet been identified for which the Government may be obligated to incur
remediation costs. No liability has been recognized for these instances of contamination as the future
costs of remediation and the Government'’s obligation to incur these costs are undeterminable at the date
of the financial statements.

Yukon Zinc Corporation (“Yukon Zinc”), as the owner of the Wolverine Mine, is responsible for the future
reclamation and closure of the mine site. Pursuant to the Quartz Mining Act (Yukon), Yukon Zinc was
required to provide a total of $35,549,000 as financial security. That amount was determined when the
Government commissioned a costing review exercise for the Yukon Zinc Wolverine Mine Reclamation
and Closure Plan, the report was received December 12, 2017. The objective of this costing review was
to confirm the activities and associated costs required during temporary and permanent closure, in
accordance with Wolverine Mine’s operating licenses and other regulatory requirements. Yukon Zinc has
only provided $10,589,000 as security to date. The Government has unsuccessfully attempted to collect
the outstanding financial security from Yukon Zinc.

On September 16, 2019, the Yukon Supreme Court ordered Yukon Zinc be put into receivership.
Beginning in the 2019-20 fiscal year, the Government has carried out necessary care and maintenance
work, including contaminated water treatment, on behalf of Yukon Zinc, expending all of the $10,589,000
accessible to it from the financial security. On May 26, 2020, the Yukon Supreme Court ruled that the
Government’s claim to additional monies from the assets of Yukon Zinc ranks in priority above any other
claim, right, charge or security against the Wolverine Mine. This ruling was appealed by Yukon Zinc and
another creditor hence the liquidation of Yukon Zinc’'s assets including the mine site is currently on hold
subject to ongoing litigation. The court appointed receiver is attempting to find a buyer for the mine. In the
event that the Wolverine Mine ultimately becomes abandoned, the Government will likely be required to
assume the remediation responsibility of the site as the mining activities at the Wolverine Mine occurred
post-devolution. While there is a reliable estimate of future remediation costs in relation to the Wolverine
Mine, the outcome of the receivership process is not determinable at the date of the financial statement
preparation; hence, no liability has been recognized.
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Subseqguent events

The outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 caused global disruption and economic slowdown. In response
to the pandemic, the Government, with support from the Government of Canada, implemented various
initiatives and programs to assist individuals, businesses, and industries. Significant government supports
include public health measures, aviation supports, tourism relief recovery and other economic relief and
financial support programs. In summer 2021, the Territory experienced a serious outbreak that
demonstrated that the impacts of COVID-19 are ongoing. At this time, it is not possible to reliably
estimate the length and severity of the pandemic and its economic impacts. The Government is
continuing to monitor and assess the impacts; a number of supports noted above have already been
extended into 2022.

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures for 2020 have been reclassified to conform with the 2021 presentation.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule A
Consolidated Schedule of Revenues by Source
for the year ended March 31, 2021
2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual
(thousands of dollars)
From Government of Canada
Formula Financing Grant $ 1,055,000 $ 1,054,979 $ 997,412
Other grants 61,663 149,429 62,346
Contributions and service agreements 191,283 192,202 165,433
1,307,946 1,396,610 1,225,191
Taxes and general revenues
Income taxes 94,021 95,130 100,889
Other taxes
Tobacco tax 12,912 13,584 13,216
Fuel oil tax 9,639 7,004 9,780
Liquor tax 4,955 4,979 4,965
General property tax 5,797 4,877 4,854
Insurance premium tax 3,959 3,765 3,296
Grant in lieu of property tax 233 225 226
Licences, permits and fees 22,087 26,379 19,937
Sale of land 22,536 35,648 18,957
Investment and interest revenue 8,406 4,381 8,296
Hospital revenues 5,461 2,035 2,688
Resource revenue - mineral, oil and gas and forestry 2,155 903 1,660
Aviation operations 1,448 17 1,295
Income from portfolio investments - 1,495 1,326
Fines 568 392 435
Other revenues 272 5,295 4,181
194,449 206,109 196,001
Funding and service agreements with other parties 56,802 32,947 49,178
Income (loss) from investment in government
business enterprises
Yukon Liquor Corporation 8,871 8,236 9,615
Yukon Development Corporation 5,000 9,947 (4,050)
13,871 18,183 5,565
$ 1,573,068 $ 1,653,849 $ 1,475,935
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Schedule B
Consolidated Schedule of Operations by Function
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Health and Community and General Natural
Social Services Transportation Education Government '’ Resources
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Revenues
Formula financing grant $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 9 - $ 1054979 $ 997,412 $ - $ -
Other transfers from
Government of Canada 89,113 41,308 117,830 68,923 14,657 19,301 92,837 75,570 15,800 17,160
Taxes and general revenues 11,965 13,905 62,030 39,587 6,241 5,596 127,896 139,667 2,949 4,125
Funding and service agreements 7,204 10,687 7,055 23,074 7,899 17,013 4,529 1,538 5,783 5,082
Income (loss) from investments in
government business enterprises - - 9,947 (4,050) - - 8,236 9,615 - -
108,282 65,900 196,862 127,534 28,797 41,910 1,288,477 1,223,802 24,532 26,367
Expenses (Note 21)
Personnel 227,346 202,826 80,649 81,705 152,474 144,412 124,622 113,275 54,594 53,527
Contracts, materials and other 161,343 154,955 141,218 120,361 30,408 36,252 77,836 84,796 33,631 41,155
Government transfers 105,063 97,781 143,531 113,462 19,427 29,664 29,505 8,451 12,039 10,857
Amortization expenses 16,931 15,554 42,440 40,845 8,757 8,280 6,812 5,636 1,099 979
Interest on long-term debt and
capital lease obligations 1,496 1,595 82 99 - - 174 196 - -
512,179 472,711 407,920 356,472 211,066 218,608 238,949 212,354 101,363 106,518
Recovery of prior years'
expenses 257 196 252 988 (2) 74 164 76 48 113
Surplus (deficit) for the year $ (403,640) $ (406,615) $ (210,806) $ (227,950) $ (182,271) $ (176,624) $ 1,049,692 $ 1,011,524 $ (76,783) $ (80,038)

" Includes the legislature, tax collection and administration, Formula Financing and other grants from the federal government, liquor profits, general administration
and central agency services such as building maintenance, Public Service Commission, finance and IT services to government departments and organizations.
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Revenues
Formula financing grant
Other transfers from
Government of Canada
Taxes and general revenues
Funding and service agreements
Income (loss) from investments in
government business enterprises
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Amortization expenses
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capital lease obligations
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule B
Consolidated Schedule of Operations by Function Continued
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Business, Tourism
Justice and Culture Adjustments 2 Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

$ -8 -9 -8 - $ - - $ 1,054,979 $ 997,412
5,999 5,237 5,395 280 341,631 227,779

997 1,042 9 157 (5,978) (8,078) 206,109 196,001

637 466 372 388 (532) (9,070) 32,947 49,178

- - - - - - 18,183 5,565

7,633 6,745 5,776 825 (6,510) (17,148) 1,653,849 1,475,935
35,531 32,871 16,980 17,275 - (15) 692,196 645,876
35,383 37,081 10,727 14,205 (2,266) (5,671) 488,280 483,134
6,300 5,930 38,627 19,335 (4,244) (11,462) 350,248 274,018
2,857 2,792 1,165 1,125 - - 80,061 75,211

- - - - - - 1,752 1,890

80,071 78,674 67,499 51,940 (6,510) (17,148) 1,612,537 1,480,129
233 57 144 48 - - 1,096 1,552
$ (72,205) $ (71,872) $ (61,579) $ (51,067) $ - - $ 42,408 $  (2,642)

2 To eliminate inter-segment transactions that are measured at the carrying amount.



Government of Yukon

Schedule C
Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Computer Land Sewage &
Equipment Hardware Transportation Improvements Water 2021 2020
Land Buildings & Vehicles & Software |Infrastructure & Fixtures Systems Other Total Total

08

(thousands of dollars)

Cost of tangible assets, opening ¢ 19575 $ 1,204,665 $ 203,717 $ 99,652 $ 1,078,024 §$ 54534 $ 63,799 $ 20,498 $ 2,744,464 $ 2,633,171

Acquisitions - 25,650 18,515 12,457 41,769 4,485 1,490 2,975 107,341 117,961
Write-downs - (2,163) - - - - - - (2,163) (12)
Disposals - (685) (1,032) (17) (553) - - - (2,287) (6,656)
Cost of tangible assets, closing 19,575 1,227,467 221,200 112,092 1,119,240 59,019 65,289 23,473 2,847,355 2,744,464
Accumulated amortization, opening - 440,623 107,147 60,098 435,595 11,036 13,519 8,067 1,076,085 1,006,770
Amortization expense - 31,870 12,516 5,561 24,440 1,479 2,970 1,225 80,061 75,211
Disposals - (210) (1,028) (17) (553) - - - (1,808) (5,896)
Accumulated amortization, closing - 472,283 118,635 65,642 459,482 12,515 16,489 9,292 1,154,338 1,076,085
Net book value (Note 20) $ 19,575 $ 755,184 $ 102,565 $ 46,450 $ 659,758 $ 46,504 $ 48,800 $ 14,181 $ 1,693,017 $ 1,668,379
Work in progress ' $ 13,702 $ 2924 $ 23858 $ 44410 $ 5307 $ 6971 $ 602 $ 97,774 $ 107,792

" Included in net book value.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule D
Consolidated Schedule of Post-employment Benefits and Compensated Absences
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Members of
Government Yukon Yukon Yukon Yukon
of Yukon Legislative Housing University / Hospital 2021 2020
Employees Assembly Corporation College Corporation Total Total
(thousands of dollars)

Accrued benefit obligation

Obligation at beginning of year $ 116,443 § 777 % 1,762 $ 6,457 $ - 125,439 130,882

Current service costs 12,605 142 199 941 - 13,887 13,224

Plan amendment - - - - - - (5,587)

Interest cost on benefit obligation 4,669 37 71 187 - 4,964 4,529

Actuarial (gain) loss 3,763 23 420 - - 4,206 (3,625)

Past service cost - - 196 - - 196 -

Benefits paid (9,777) - (519) (397) - (10,693) (13,984)

Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 127,703 979 2,129 7,188 - 137,999 125,439

Unrecognized net actuarial (loss) gain (4,120) (88) 44 (214) - (4,378) 255
Accrued benefit liability 123,583 891 2,173 6,974 - 133,621 125,694
Liabilities that are not included

in actuarial valuation 525 - - 3,056 2,945 6,526 4,501
Post-employment benefits

and compensated absences (Note 15) 124,108 891 2173 10,030 2,945 140,147 130,195
Net benefit cost

Current service cost 12,605 142 199 941 - 13,887 13,224

Interest cost on benefit obligation 4,669 37 71 187 - 4,964 4,529

Past service costs - - 196 - - 196 -

Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss 64 22 (16) - - 70 403

Plan amendment - - - - - - (5,435)

Net cost for the year $ 17,338 § 201 $ 450 $ 1,128 $ - 19,117 12,721




GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Consolidated Schedule of Post-employment Benefits and Compensated Absences
for the year ended March 31, 2021

Schedule D
Continued

Members of
Government Yukon Yukon Yukon
of Yukon Legislative Housing Yukon Hospital
Employees Assembly Corporation University Corporation
Key Assumptions
Discount rate on benefit costs 3.80% 4.40% 3.80% 2.75% N/A
Discount rate on accrued benefit obligation
at end of year 3.20% 3.70% 3.20% 2.75% N/A
Rate of compensation increase see below ? 2.50% see below ? See below' N/A
Amortization period 12.5 years 3.0 years 11.6 years 11.0 years N/A

(expected average remaining service life)

"For 10 years 2.75%, thereafter 3.25%
“Based on the annual rates from the Public Service Pension Plan ("PSPP") March 31, 2017 valuation report.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule E
Consolidated Schedule of Retirement Benefits
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Legislative Territorial Extended Life Yukon Yukon Hospital
Assembly Court Health Care Insurance University Corporation
Retirement Judiciary Retirement ~ Retirement Employees' Employees' 2021 2020
Allowances Plan  Pension Plan Benefit Benefit Pension Plan Pension Plan Total Total
(thousands of dollars)
Pension and retirement plan assets are valued at fair market value.
Accrued benefit obligation
Obligation at beginning of year $ 37,454 $ 12,906 $ 73,689 $ 4111 $ 87,144 $ 104,494 319,798 § 308,529
Current service costs 1,614 541 3,010 67 4,717 5,778 15,727 15,031
Transfers in/service buyback 267 267 -
Plan amendment - - - - - - - -
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,651 606 2,884 158 4,858 6,327 16,484 15,489
Actuarial (gain) loss 3,268 1,408 5,189 770 3,522 (2,642) 11,515 (6,885)
Benefits paid (1,486) (485) (1,575) (130) (4,663) (4,133) (12,472) (12,156)
Administration expenses - - - - (516) - (516) (210)
Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 42,501 14,976 83,197 4,976 95,062 110,091 350,803 319,798
Plan assets - valued at fair market value
Value at beginning of year 8,348 3,980 - - 112,402 127,640 252,370 257,777
Actual return on plan assets 1,323 576 - - 21,174 39,456 62,529 (9,390)
Employer contributions 368 366 1,575 130 1,812 3,549 7,800 10,552
Member contributions 172 61 - - 2,295 2,876 5,404 4,949
Transfers in/service buyback 267 267 -
Benefits paid (309) (485) (1,575) (130) (4,663) (4,133) (11,295) (11,002)
Actual plan expenses - - - - (516) (289) (805) (516)
Value at end of year 9,902 4,498 - - 132,504 169,366 316,270 252,370
Funded status - plan deficit (surplus) 32,599 10,478 83,197 4,976 (37,442) (59,275) 34,533 67,427
Unrecognized net actuarial (loss) gain (3,873) (1,979) (13,589) (1,511) 16,913 7,936 3,897 (36,780)
Accrued benefit liability (asset) (Note 16) $ 28,726 $ 8,499 $ 69,608 $ 3,465 $ (20,529) $ (51,339) 38,430 $ 30,647
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule E
Consolidated Schedule of Retirement Benefits Continued
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Legislative Territorial Extended Life Yukon Yukon Hospital
Assembly Court Health Care Insurance University Corporation
Retirement Judiciary Retirement Retirement Employees’ Employees’ 2021 2020
Allowances Plan  Pension Plan Benefit Benefit Pension Plan Pension Plan Total Total
(thousands of dollars)
Net benefit cost
Current service cost $ 1614 §$ 541 $ 3,010 $ 67 $ 4717 $ 6,135 ' $ 16,084 $ 15,355
Less: Member contributions (172) (61) - - (2,295) (2,876) (5,404) (4,949)
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,651 606 2,884 158 4,858 6,327 16,484 15,489
Expected return on plan assets (372) (182) - - (4,470) (7,727) (12,751) (14,789)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss 520 430 981 166 85 3,500 5,682 2,363
Net cost for the year $ 3,241 $ 1,334 § 6,875 $ 391 $ 2,895 $ 5359 § 20,095 § 13,469

Key Assumptions
Expected long term rate of return
on assets at beginning of year
Discount rate on benefit costs
Discount rate on accrued benefit
obligation at end of year
Inflation rate at end of year

Rate of compensation increase
Health care cost trend rate

Amortization period

(expected average remaining service life)

4.40% 4.60% N/A N/A 5.30% 6.00%
4.40% 4.60% 3.80% 3.80% 5.30% 6.00%
3.70% 3.80% 3.20% 3.20% 5.30% 6.00%
2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
2.50% 3.00% seebelow? see below ? 3.40% 2.50%
N/A N/A  see below® N/A N/A N/A

4.0 years 2.7 years 12.5 years 9.3 years 10.0 years 8.9 years

' Includes $357,000 for provision of administrative expenses.
2 Based on the annual rates from the Public Service Pension Plan ("PSPP") March 31, 2017 valuation report.
3 5.9% per annum for 2020-2024, decreasing linearly to 4.9% in 2029, and following the McMaster Model to an ultimate trend rate of 4.0% in 2040.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at March 31, 2021

2021

2020

Financial assets

(thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 63,886 51,120
Temporary investments (Note 4) 800 1,261
Due from Government of Canada (Note 5) 131,310 80,776
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 17,069 22,167
Portfolio investments (Note 7) 34,589 32,948
Advances to Territorial corporations (Note 9) 84,692 79,435
Loans receivable (Note 10) 55,727 36,479
Land inventory (Note 11) 63,545 77,445
451,618 381,631
Liabilities
Due to Government of Canada (Note 5) 39,966 29,411
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 12) 164,137 122,243
Environmental liabilities (Note 13) 42,887 43,774
Unearned revenues (Note 14) 13,849 10,173
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences (Note 15) 124,999 117,187
Retirement benefits (Note 16) 110,298 102,072
Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets (Note 17) 3,096 4,144
499,232 429,004
Net financial assets (debt) (47,614) (47,373)
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 19) 1,428,413 1,408,992
Inventories of supplies 6,487 6,911
Prepaid expenses 2,853 2,329
1,437,753 1,418,232
Accumulated surplus $ 1,390,139 1,370,859
Contingencies, contractual rights and obligations, commitments and guarantees
(Notes 13, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, and 28)
The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these non-cgnsolidateg gl statements.
D. Scott T%mpson Sandy%
Deputy Minister of Finance Minister ance

89



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Non-Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020

Main
Estimates Actual Actual

(Note 1(b))
(thousands of dollars)

Revenues (Schedule A)
From Government of Canada

Formula Financing grant $ 1,055,000 1,054,979 997,412

Other grants 61,663 149,429 62,346

Contributions and service agreements 188,546 184,617 161,279
Taxes and general revenues 190,556 196,249 196,217
Funding and service agreements

with other parties 30,106 24,299 28,632

1,525,871 1,609,573 1,445,886

Expenses (Note 20 and Schedule B) 1,521,765 1,591,382 1,450,344
Recovery of prior years' expenses - 1,089 1,496
Surplus (deficit) for the year $ 4,106 19,280 (2,962)
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year 1,370,859 1,373,821
Accumulated surplus at end of year 1,390,139 1,370,859

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Non-Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt)
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020

Main

Estimates Actual Actual

(Note 1(b))
(thousands of dollars)

Surplus (deficit) for the year

Effect of change in tangible capital assets
Acquisitions
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Write-down of tangible capital assets
Adjustments

Effect of change in other non-financial assets
Acquisition of inventories of supplies
Decrease (increase) in inventories of supplies
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (debt)

Net financial assets (debt) at beginning of year

Net financial assets (debt) at end of year

$ 4106 $ 19280  $ (2,962)
(95,666) (87,721) (106,024)
63,150 65,867 62,664

8) 492 (34)

163 - 224

- 1,040 12

7,505 i ;
(24,856) (19,422) (43,158)

- (7,050) (11,102)

- 7,475 10,385

- (524) (128)

- (99) (845)

$  (20,750) (241) (46,965)
(47,373) (408)

$ (47,614 § (47,373)

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020

(thousands of dollars)
Operating transactions

Surplus (deficit) for the year $ 19,280 $ (2,962)
Non-cash items included in surplus (deficit) for the year:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 65,867 62,664
Loans receivable valuation adjustment 54 (1)
Write-down of tangible capital assets 1,940 12
Loss (gain) on sale of land inventory (2,017) (1,364)
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 492 (34)
Contributed tangible capital assets (Note 19) - (251)
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities 25,739 (29,065)
Cash provided by (used for) operating transactions 111,355 28,999
Capital transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (87,721) (105,773)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 224
Cash provided by (used for) capital transactions (87,721) (105,549)
Investing transactions
Net proceeds from temporary investments 461 42,505
Proceeds from portfolio investments 35,275 2,845
Acquisition of portfolio investments (36,916) (3,691)
Repayment of advances from Territorial corporations 2,000 250
Advances to Territorial corporations (7,256) (6,864)
Repayment of loans receivable 18,587 16,554
Issuance of loans receivable (2,692) (5,268)
Investment in land inventory (19,280) (18,087)
Cash provided by (used for) investing transactions (9,821) 28,244
Financing transactions
Repayment of liabilities for leased tangible capital assets (1,047) (1,057)
Cash provided by (used for) financing transactions (1,047) (1,057)
Cash and cash equivalents increase (decrease) 12,766 (49,363)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 51,120 100,483
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 3) $ 63,886 $ 51,120
Interest received in the year $ 5,568 $ 6,543
Interest paid in the year $ 174  § 198

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Authority and operations

(a) Authority

The Government of Yukon (“the Government”) operates under the authority of the Yukon Act (Canada).
All disbursements for operations and loans are authorized by the Yukon Legislative Assembly.

(b) Main Estimates

The Main Estimates comparative figures are from the Main Estimates approved in the Legislative
Assembly in March 2020. These figures do not reflect changes arising from the Supplementary Estimates
approved later in the year by the Yukon Legislative Assembly. Adjustments include estimated lapses and
unallocated budget estimates.

(c) Investments

The Financial Administration Act (Yukon) allows the Government to invest money from the consolidated
revenue fund in the following investments:

- securities that are obligations of, or guaranteed by, the Government of Canada or a province;

- fixed deposits, notes, certificates and other short-term paper of, or guaranteed by, a bank including
swapped deposit transactions in the currency of the United States of America;

- commercial paper issued by a company incorporated under the laws of the Government of Canada
or a province, the securities of which are rated in the highest rating category by at least two recognized
security rating institutions.

The duration of the securities held depends on cash projections but usually averages under a year in
length.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Financial statements

These financial statements are prepared on a non-consolidated basis for the purpose of determining the
financial position and annual results of the Government of Yukon departments. The Taxpayer Protection
Act (Yukon) requires that the accounting policies of the Government, which are used to prepare its non-
consolidated financial statements, must conform to the recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting
Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada, except with respect to consolidation.

The Government also prepares a set of consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian

public sector accounting standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

(b) Basis of accounting
Revenues
Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Grants from the Government of Canada are recognized as revenues when entitlement for the transfer
occurs. The Government receives a Formula Financing grant and the Canada health and the Canada
social transfers from the Government of Canada in accordance with the Federal-Provincial Fiscal
Arrangements Act (Canada) which expires on March 31, 2024. The Formula Financing grant is principle-
based and the Canada health transfer and the Canada social transfer are simple equal cash per capita
grants. Adjustments for health and social transfers are made in the year they are known.

Government transfers are recognized as revenue when the funding is authorized and any eligibility
criteria are met, except to the extent that funding stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the
definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as unearned revenue when transfer stipulations give
rise to a liability. Transfer revenues are recognized as the stipulation liabilities are settled.

Income taxes, levied under the Income Tax Act (Yukon), are collected by the Government of Canada on
behalf of the Government under a tax collection agreement and are remitted to the Government monthly.
The remittances are based on the Government of Canada’s Department of Finance’s best estimates for
the taxation year, which are periodically adjusted until the income tax assessments for the year are final.
The Government recognizes income tax revenues based on the estimates made by the Government of
Canada, adjusted for known factors. Any adjustments upon finalization are reflected in the accounts in the
year they are identified. Tax concessions are accrued on the same basis as the associated tax revenues
and reduce gross taxation revenue.

Fuel and tobacco taxes are levied under the authority of the Fuel Oil Tax Act (Yukon) and the Tobacco
Tax Act (Yukon). Revenues are recognized based on the statements received from collectors and
estimates. Adjustments from reassessments are recorded in revenue in the year they are identified.

Proceeds from funding and service agreements with other parties are recognized as revenue as they are
determined to be earned based on the terms and conditions of the agreements and in compliance with
relevant accounting standards. These determinations occur on an agreement by agreement basis due to
the diverse nature of each individual agreement.

Expenses

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Transfer payments are recorded as expenses when
authorized and recipients have met eligibility criteria.

Recovery of prior years’ expenses includes reversal of amounts accrued in prior years which are in excess

of actual expenses. These amounts cannot be used to increase the amount appropriated for the current
year.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Assets
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks, and short-term investments that
have terms to maturity of less than 90 days from the dates of acquisition.

Temporary investments include treasury bills, GICs, term deposits and funds that include short-term debt
securities of Canadian governments and corporate issuers with terms to maturity of 90 days or more but
one year or less from the date of acquisition. When the market value of temporary investments has
declined below the carrying value, they are carried at market value.

Portfolio investments are accounted for by the cost method and include funds that include bonds and
equities. These investments are expected to be realized or have terms to maturity greater than one year
from the date of acquisition. When there has been a loss in value of a portfolio investment that is other
than a temporary decline, the investment is written down to recognize the loss.

Loans receivable are stated at the lower of principal amounts and net recoverable value. Valuation
allowances, which are recorded to reduce loans receivable to their net recoverable amount, are based on
historical experience, current conditions and all circumstances known at the date of the preparation of the
financial statements. The loan receivable is reduced by the amount of a loss when the amount is known
with sufficient precision, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Interest revenue is recognized on
an accrual basis until such time that the collectability of either principal or interest is not reasonably
assured.

Land inventory is comprised of the costs of acquiring, planning and developing lots. The lots are valued at
cost, except, when there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, in which case the
lots are written down to net recoverable value to recognize the loss.

Non-financial assets

The costs of acquiring land, buildings, equipment and other capital property are capitalized as tangible
capital assets and are amortized to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Inventories of supplies consist primarily of fuel and lubricants, repair parts, stationery and office supplies,
and highway materials that are tracked through revolving funds. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost
and replacement value. These assets are not held for sale and are intended to be used in providing
government services. Other materials and supplies are expensed at the time of acquisition.

Liabilities
Liabilities include financial claims payable by the Government and unearned revenues.

Unearned revenues are cash received for which goods and services have not been provided by year-end,
and are primarily comprised of motor vehicle licence fees for the following fiscal years and transfer
payments from the Government of Canada, which have associated stipulations that gave rise to a liability
as of year-end.

Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets are recorded with a corresponding asset at the lower of the
present value of the minimum lease payments, excluding the portion relating to executory costs, and
the fair value of the asset. The present value is based on the Government’s borrowing rate, over a
similar term length as the related lease terms, at the time the obligation is incurred.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

The contingencies of the Government are potential liabilities which may become actual liabilities when
one or more future events occur or fail to occur. If the future event is considered likely to occur and is
quantifiable, an estimated liability is accrued. If the likelihood is not determinable or the amount cannot
be reasonably estimated, the contingency is disclosed.

(c) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are buildings, roads, equipment, and other items, whose useful life extends
beyond the fiscal year and are intended to be used on an ongoing basis for delivering services.
These assets are recorded at cost, or fair value if donated. For certain tangible capital assets that
have previously been transferred from the Government of Canada or where the original costs are not
readily available, estimated costs have been extrapolated back in time in a systematic and rational
manner to approximate the appropriate transfer value of the assets at the time of transfer.

The value of works of art, historical treasures, all intangibles and items inherited by right of the Crown,
such as Crown lands, forests, water, and mineral resources are not recorded as tangible capital assets.
Historical treasures and works of art are expensed when they are acquired.

Tangible capital assets that are held and available for use by the Government are reported based on the
following capitalization thresholds and are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful life of the asset as follows:

Asset category Threshold Estimated useful life
Land Nil N/A
Buildings

Buildings $ 50,000 40 - 50 years

Leasehold Improvements $ 50,000 Shorter of the lease term

or useful economic life
Equipment and vehicles

Heavy equipment $ 10,000 7 - 30 years
Operating equipment $ 10,000 5 - 25 years
Vehicles $ 10,000 6 - 20 years

Computer hardware and software
Computer hardware
Computer software

10,000 5 years
100,000 Expected usage of the
system before overhaul

&h P

Transportation infrastructure
Forestry access roads $ 50,000 10 years
Highways $ 250,000 up to 75 years
Pavement/surfaces $ 250,000 up to 75 years
Bridges $ 250,000 up to 75 years
Airport runways $ 50,000 up to 75 years

Other
Portable classroom/housing trailers
Land improvements and fixtures
Sewage and water systems
Mobile radio system infrastructure

50,000 25 years

50,000 up to 50 years

50,000 up to 50 years
100,000 15 years

P AP LP

Tangible capital assets under construction or development are reported as work-in-progress with no
amortization until the asset is placed in service.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

(d) Post-employment benefits and compensated absences

Post-employment benefits are expected to be provided after employment but before retirement to
employees. These benefits include severance benefits, accumulated sick and vacation leave benefits that
are paid in cash when employment is terminated. Compensated absences are benefits such as sick leave
and vacation leave that are paid to employees during their employment. The Government recognizes the
obligation for these benefits as a liability and uses actuaries to estimate the amount of the obligation based
on the projected benefit method prorated on service. Expenses related to post-employment benefits and
compensated absences are recognized in the period in which the employee’s service is rendered and the
benefits are earned. The accrued benefit liability for these plans is calculated as the accrued benefit
obligation adjusted by unamortized actuarial gains or losses.

(e) Retirement benefits

The Government's employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the
Government of Canada. The Government’s contributions are expensed during the year in which the
services are rendered and represent its total pension obligation. The Government is not currently required
to make contributions with respect to any actuarial deficiencies of the pension plan.

Other retirement benefits for Government employees include extended health care for retired employees
who choose to participate in the plan and a life insurance plan for retirees who meet certain criteria. They
are both non-pension defined benefit plans. Liabilities for these benefits are triennially valued on an
actuarial basis using the projected benefit method prorated on service, with an actuarial valuation for
accounting purposes updated annually. Non-pension retirement benefit expenses for these plans are
recognized as the member renders service. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on straight-line basis
over the estimated average remaining service lives of the participants. Both extended health care and life
insurance retirement benefits are not funded and thus have no plan assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal
to the accrued benefit obligation.

Retirement benefits to Members of the Legislative Assembly and territorial court judges are defined benefit
plans and are valued on an actuarial basis. Actuarial valuations of these benefits are performed triennially
using the projected benefit method prorated on service, with an actuarial valuation for accounting purposes
updated annually. Pension expenses for these two plans are recognized as the member renders services.
Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average remaining
service lives of the participants. The accrued benefit liability for these plans is calculated as the accrued
benefit obligation less plan assets, if any, adjusted by unamortized actuarial gains or losses. Plan assets
are valued at the fair market value.

(f) Environmental liabilities

Contaminated sites and other environmental liabilities, which include Type Il sites, are accrued, net of
recoveries, and an expense recorded based on management’s best estimates when the contamination
occurs, when the Government becomes aware of the contamination and when the Government is
obligated to incur such costs. If the likelihood of the Government’s obligation to incur these costs is not
determinable, the contingency is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Landfill liabilities are recognized on a net present value basis for the total estimated expenditures for
closure and post-closure care as the landfill site’s capacity is used.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires the Government to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses reported in the financial statements. By their nature, these estimates are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The effect on the financial statements of changes to such estimates and
assumptions in future periods could be significant although, at the time of preparation of these statements,
the Government believes the estimates and assumptions to be reasonable. Certain estimates used in
these financial statements may be subject to increased measurement uncertainty due to the COVID-19
pandemic (Note 29). The amount of variability cannot be reasonably determined at this time

Some of the more significant management estimates relate to post-employment and retirement benefits,
environmental liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets, corporate and personal income tax
revenue and contingencies.

The provision for environmental liabilities is subject to a high degree of measurement uncertainty because
the existence and extent of contamination, the responsibility for, and the timing and cost of remediation
cannot be reliably estimated in all circumstances. The degree of measurement uncertainty resulting from
the estimation of the provision cannot be reasonably determined.

Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Bank balances $ 63,822 $ 51,053
Cash on hand 64 67
$ 63,886 $ 51,120

Temporary investments

2021 2020
Market Carrying Market Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Floating rate notes $ - $ - $ 648 $ 648
Treasury bills - - 419 417
Other 800 800 197 196

$ 800 $ 800 $ 1,264 $ 1,261

The temporary investments had a weighted average effective yield during 2021 of 1.54% (2020 - 1.54%)
per annum.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Due from/to Government of Canada

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Due from Government of Canada
Cost-sharing agreements and projects

delivered on behalf of the Government of Canada $ 126,815 $ 79,592
Income tax 4,492 1,181
Other 3 3

$ 131,310 $ 80,776

Due to Government of Canada

Payroll taxes $ 11,599 $ 9,859
Public Service Pension Plan contribution 8,232 7,675
RCMP 7,599 7,685
Program funding liable for claw back 6,812 -
Type Il mine sites 1,848 1,618
Other 3,876 2,574

$ 39,966 $ 29,411

Amounts due from and due to the Government of Canada are payable on demand and are non-interest
bearing. The carrying amounts approximate fair market values because of their short term to maturity.

Accounts receivable

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Taxes, interest and other revenue receivables $ 12,878 $ 17,511
Less valuation allowances (1,691) (1,050)
11,187 16,461

Due from Territorial corporations 5,882 5,706
$ 17,069 $ 22,167
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Portfolio investments

2021 2020
Market Carrying Market Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Marketable securities $ 34,545 $ 34,589 $ 29,758 $ 32,948

Marketable securities are designated investments (Note 8) set aside within the Consolidated Revenue
Fund for use in meeting certain post-employment and retirement benefit obligations for Members of the
Legislative Assembly. The investments are managed by a third party manager. During the year, following
a review of the third party management, the securities transitioned to a new third party manager.

Designated assets

The Government has designated a portion of its assets for the purpose of meeting the obligations under
Part 3 (Supplemental Plan) of the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act (Yukon) as well as
the “Severance allowance” section of the Legislative Assembly Act (Yukon).

Designated assets are included in cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments and portfolio
investments as follows:
2021 2020

(thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4 $ 50
Temporary investments (market value $800,000; 2020 —
$1,264,000) 800 1,261
Portfolio investments — marketable securities (market value
$34,545,000; 2020 - $29,758,000) 34,589 32,948
$ 35,393 $ 34,259
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Advances to Territorial corporations

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Yukon Development Corporation

Infrastructure loan $ 36,200 $ 38,200
Yukon Housing Corporation

Working capital advances 48,491 41,235

$ 84,691 $ 79,435

The Government entered into loan agreements with the Yukon Development Corporation (*YDC”) and
advanced a total of $39,200,000 in order to assist in the development of the Whitehorse diesel — natural
gas conversion project, which was completed by the Yukon Energy Corporation, YDC'’s wholly owned
subsidiary. The original loan term that commenced on April 1, 2016 ended on March 31, 2018. The
Government and YDC entered into a new loan agreement effective March 30, 2018. The initial term of the
loan is to March 31, 2023 and pursuant to the agreement, the loan may be extended for two additional five
year terms upon mutual consent of the parties. The per annum interest rate will be set based on one-year
CDOR plus 40 basis points in effect on April 1 each year. The rate of interest effective on March 31, 2021
is 0.81% (2020 - 1.61%). The new loan agreement requires principal repayments of $1 million on March
31 each year and full repayment of any principal outstanding at the end of each loan term if the loan is not
extended. The payment due March 31, 2020 from YDC was received in May 2020 and the payment due
March 31, 2021 from YDC was received in March 2021.

The working capital advances to the Yukon Housing Corporation are interest free and have various
repayment terms.
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2021

Loans receivable

Agreements for sale of land, due in varying annual amounts over
a three or five year term to the year 2026 (2020 — 2025),
bearing interest at 5.00% (2020 — 5.00%).

Local improvement loans, due in varying annual amounts to the
year 2040 (2020-2041), bearing interest rates ranging from
0.50% to 5.25% (2020— 0.50% to 5.25%).

Due from Yukon Housing Corporation for lands agreements, due
in periodic installments to the year 2025 (2020 — 2025), bearing
interest at 0.00% (2020 — 0.00%).

Domestic well loans, due in varying annual amounts to the year 2035
(2020-2035), bearing interest rates ranging from 0.50% to 2.00%
(2020 - 0.50% to 4.50%).

Due from Yukon Hospital Corporation for pension plan solvency
loan, due as one payment in the year 2035, bearing interest at 3.95%

Debenture loans to municipalities, due in varying annual amounts to
the year 2034 (2020 — 2034), bearing interest rates ranging from
2.72% 10 6.38% (2020 — 2.72% to 6.38%).

Energy infrastructure development loan due in periodic
installments bearing interest at 6.40% (2020 — 6.40%).

Business development assistance loans, due in varying annual
amounts with varying terms, bearing interest rates ranging from
0.00% to 5.20% (2020 — 0.00% to 5.20%).

Loan to Yukon Housing Corporation, due in periodic installments
to the year 2021 (2020 — 2021), bearing interest at 0.00%
(2020 - 0.00%).

Less valuation allowances
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2021

2020

(thousands of dollars)

$ 34,439 $ 10,987
8,443 7,534
1,596 6,411
5,607 5,528
3,063 3,063
2,627 3,014
205 205
65 65
3 17
(322) (345)
$ 55727 $ 36479
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Land inventory

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Undeveloped land $ 603 $ 603
Land under development 40,447 57,999
Developed land 22,495 18,843
$ 63,545 $ 77,445

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Accounts payable $ 59,630 $ 63013
Accrued liabilities 61,731 40,221
Contractors' holdbacks and security deposits 8,934 10,248
Due to Territorial corporations 33,842 8,761

$ 164,137 $ 122,243

The accrued liabilities include the Yukon Government Carbon Price Rebate liability which represents the
net of the dollar amounts received from the Government of Canada less the dollar amounts disbursed to
the eligible groups as of March 31. The balance of the liability at March 31, 2021 is $6,919,720 (2020 -
$2,783,079).

Environmental liabilities

(a) Contaminated sites and other environmental liabilities

The Government has recorded environmental liabilities of $26,231,000 (2020 - $27,063,000). These
liabilities consist of estimated costs related to the remediation of contaminated sites as well as estimated
costs associated with other liabilities related to these sites. The liabilities are determined on a site-by-
site basis and are based on preliminary environmental assessments or estimation for those sites where
an assessment has not been conducted. The amount recorded is based on management’s best
estimates utilizing the information available at the financial statement date. The amount of liabilities
becomes determinable over a continuum of events and activities as information becomes available. As
a result, the actual amount of liabilities to remediate these sites could vary significantly. No assets are
designated for settling these liabilities.

As at March 31, 2021, the Government was aware of 95 sites (2020 — 95 sites) where the Government is
obligated or is likely obligated to incur such costs. Phase | Environmental Site Assessments (ESA) have
been undertaken on 90 of the 95 sites. During the year, remediation work was undertaken at 11 sites,
including the Marwell Tar Pit.

One of the 95 sites, Marwell Tar Pit, has been formally designated as contaminated under the Environment
Act (Yukon) and the Contaminated Sites Regulation. The Government is not a “responsible party” as
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defined by the Environment Act (Yukon) and determined by the Contaminated Sites Regulation. The
Government of Canada was the landowner when the contamination occurred. In September 2010, the
Government and the Government of Canada entered into an agreement to remediate the site over 11
years with a total estimated cost of $6,800,000, of which the Government is to fund 30% or $2,040,000
and the Government of Canada $4,760,000. As at March 31, 2021, $106,000 (2020 - $250,000) was
recorded as a liability for this site, which is part of the $26,231,000 noted above.

A site known as Wellgreen ceased operations in the 1970’s. The Government of Canada approved the
tailings dam and resulting pond built at that time as meeting required specifications; however, concerns
regarding the level of water in the pond are known. Initial assessment confirmed that further remediation
of the site is required and $4,803,000 (2020 - $5,000,000) has been included in Environmental Liabilities
for Contaminated Sites to reflect the Government’s expected responsibility. Negotiations with the previous
owner and the Government of Canada will be required to establish final levels of responsibility and liability.

(b) Landfill sites

There are 28 active, decommissioned or abandoned landfill sites that are outside incorporated
communities and, therefore, are the responsibility of the Government. The Government is the sole operator
of the active landfills. 23 of these sites are subject to the Environment Act (Yukon) — Solid Waste
Regulations which includes requirements for closure and abandonment of a dump. The remaining 5 sites
are old abandoned dumps which are not subject to the Solid Waste Regulations.

A liability is recognized as the landfill site’s capacity is used with usage measured on a volumetric basis.
As at March 31, 2021, the net present value of total expenditures for closure and post-closure care is
estimated to be $14,057,000 (2020 — $14,057,000) and a liability in the amount of $11,854,000 (2020 -
$11,854,000) has been recorded for these sites. The amount remaining to be recognized in the future is
$2,203,000 (2020 — $2,203,000). No assets are designated for settling these liabilities.

In calculation of the above liability, the remaining landfill life was estimated to be from 0 to 50 years. Solid
waste permits issued under the Solid Waste Regulations specify 25 years of post-closure monitoring;
therefore, 25 years is used as an estimated length of time needed for post-closure care. A discount rate
of 2.58% (2020 — 2.58%) was used for the net present value calculation for active and closed landfill sites.

(c) Type Il sites

Pursuant to the Devolution Transfer Agreement, the Government of Canada retained responsibility for the
clean-up of waste sites that were identified on lands transferred effective April 1, 2003. The Government
of Canada also accepted financial responsibility for the remediation of impacts attributable to activities that
took place prior to April 2003 on the mine sites identified as Type Il sites, which have been abandoned by
their owner/operator. Except for the Ketza River site discussed below, the Government is not aware of any
financial obligations on its part in relation to these mine sites.

On April 10, 2015 Veris Gold Corporation abandoned the Ketza River mine site (“the site”). The site is
identified as a Type Il mine site in the Devolution Transfer Agreement (“DTA”) between the Government
and the Government of Canada. The Government has provided notice to the Government of Canada
pursuant to the DTA that the site has been abandoned by its owner/operator. Once a Type Il site becomes
abandoned the DTA requires that an Independent Assessor assess the condition of the site and develop
a remediation plan. The Government is responsible for the cost of this assessment. Under the DTA, the
Government of Canada accepted financial responsibility for the remediation of impacts attributable to
activities that were permitted by the Government of Canada. The Government will be financially
responsible for remediation of impacts of activities it permitted after devolution. The Government’s costs,
if any, may be offset by the security bond it holds. The financial obligations related to the assessment
required under the DTA are estimated to be $4,802,000 (2020 - $4,857,000) and remediation costs, if any,
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which are the Government'’s responsibility, are currently undeterminable. No assets are designated for
settling these liabilities.

The following table presents the total estimated amounts of these liabilities as at March 31, 2021.

2021 2020
Number  Estimated Number Estimated
of sites Liability of sites Liability

(thousands of dollars)
Liabilities for contaminated sites’

Highway maintenance camps and airports 36 $ 10,835 36 $ 10913
Other storage tanks and buildings 48 8,437 48 9,000
Marwell Tar Pit 1 106 1 250
Wellgreen 1 4,803 1 5,000
Other 9 2,050 9 1,900
95 26,231 95 27,063

Landfill sites 28 11,854 28 11,854
Type |l sites 1 4,802 1 4,857
124 $ 42,887 124§ 43,774

" Contamination primarily includes petroleum hydrocarbons, salts and/or occasionally metals.

14. Unearned revenues

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Liability portion of government transfers $ 10,447 $ 6,627
Motor vehicle fees for future years 2,554 2,091
Other 847 1,455

$ 13,848 $ 10,173

The liability portion of government transfers represents transfer payments from the Government of
Canada, which have funding stipulations that gave rise to a liability as of year-end.
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Post-employment benefits and compensated absences

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Severance benefits $ 69,394 $ 64,335
Sick leave obligation 29,289 26,288
Vacation leave obligation 27426 24,172
Accrued benefit obligation 126,109 114,795
Unamortized net actuarial gain /(loss) (3,260) 397
Post-employment benefits accrued liability 122,849 115,192
Compensated absences 2,150 1,995

$ 124,999 $ 117,187

Severance benefits are paid on termination of service or upon retirement. The above amounts are
comprised of severance benefits for Government employees and for the Members of the Legislative
Assembly.

(a) Yukon Government employees

Severance benefits are paid to Government employees based on the type of termination, e.g. resignation
versus retirement, the rate of the pay, and the number of years of continuous employment.

If an employee has at least five years of continuous service, a cash-in of sick leave will be paid on
termination of service or upon retirement. The cash-in amount is calculated as 1/3 of unused sick leave
credits to a maximum of 60 days multiplied by the daily pay rate at termination or retirement.

The accrued benefit obligation at March 31, 2021 is based on an actuarial valuation conducted as at June
23, 2021. In projecting the accrued obligation for these benefits as at March 31, 2021, the Government
assumed a discount rate of 3.2% and general salary increases of 2.0% per annum. The net actuarial loss
is amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the active employees of 12.5 years.

Expenses related to post-employment benefits for the year ended March 31, 2021 were $16,950,000
(2020 - $10,967,000). Benefits paid by the Government from the post-employment benefits liability during
the year amounted to $9,494,000 (2020 - $13,073,000). Post-employment benefits are not funded and
thus have no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation.

The Government also accounts for compensated absences liabilities in accordance with Canadian public

sector accounting standards. Compensated absences include special leave benefits and educational
leave benefits.
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Effective December 31, 2019 all current resignation and retirement severance accruals have been frozen
for employees classified as Deputy Ministers and Managers. All employees are eligible to receive
severance payouts based on service accrued prior to December 31, 2019. The plan amendment resulted
in a gain to the plan of $5,435,000. As the plan was deemed to be in surplus, this gain reduced current
year’s expenses. The accounting standards prescribe that the cost of plan amendments related to prior
employee service is accounted for as an expense in the period of the amendment. The exception is where
unamortized gains or losses exist, whereby the unamortized gains or losses are immediately recognized
to the maximum of the prior period service cost.

Effective June 30, 2018 all current and retirement severance accruals were frozen for certain employees
of the government. All employees in this group are entitled to receive severance payouts based on service
accrued prior to June 30, 2018.

(b) Members of the Legislative Assembly

The Legislative Assembly Act (Yukon) provides a severance allowance to members of the Legislative
Assembly based on the aggregate of the indemnity and salary received by the member during the
preceding year and the number of the years served by the member. At March 31, 2021, the severance
benefit obligation for this benefit was $891,000 (2020 - $690,000). The book value of the assets designated
by the Government to meet this obligation was $797,000 at March 31, 2021 (2020 - $660,000) (Note 8).
The accrued benefit liability at March 31, 2021 is based on an extrapolation of an actuarial valuation that
was performed as at March 31, 2017.

Retirement benefits

(a) Public Service Pension Plan

The Government's employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the
Government of Canada. In this plan, employees accumulate pension benefits up to a maximum period of
35 years at 2% per year of pensionable service based on the average of their five consecutive years of
highest paid services. In December 2012, the Government of Canada passed legislation to create a new
group of plan members for the employees who join the plan on or after January 1, 2013. This group of
plan members is eligible to retire with an unreduced public service pension benefit at age 65 with at least
two years of pensionable service (or at age 60 with at least 30 years of service) while the old group of
members is eligible to retire with an unreduced public service pension benefit at age 60 with at least two
years of pensionable service (or at age 55 with at least 30 years of service).

Since the above changes, there are two groups paying different rates of contributions to the plan. The
Government contributes $1.01 for every dollar contributed by the old group of plan members and $1.00
for the new group of plan members.

In the calendar year 2021, for the portion of the employee’s salary above $181,600, the Government
contributes $3.59 for every dollar contributed by both groups of plan members. In the calendar year 2020,
for the portion of the employee’s salary above $173,000 the Government contributed $3.80 for every dollar
contributed by both groups of plan members.

The Government's contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan during the year and recorded as
expenses were $40,423,000 (2020 - $38,183,000).
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Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan

The Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan.
These benefits are based on service and earnings. The Members' Services Board of the Legislative
Assembly is responsible, pursuant to the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act (Yukon), for
the administration of the Plan.

The funds are held by an investment manager in two different accounts. The first account holds the assets
of the trust fund for the registered pension plan established pursuant to Parts 1 and 2 of the Legislative
Assembly Retirement Allowances Act. The second account holds the assets of the Government, from
which benefits under Part 3 of the Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act are paid (Note 8). It is
the Government'’s policy to fully fund Parts 1 and 2 of this pension plan.

During the year, the investment management has transitioned to a new investment manager.

The Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Act stipulates that actuarial valuations for funding
purposes must be performed at least triennially. An actuarial valuation is based on a number of
assumptions about future events, such as inflation rates, interest rates, salary increases and member
turnover and mortality. The assumptions used in a valuation for funding purposes are based on the
actuary’s best estimates with margins for conservatism. The last actuarial valuation for funding purposes
as of March 31, 2020 was performed September 17, 2020. The accrued benefit obligation as at March 31,
2021 is based on an actuarial valuation performed for accounting purposes using the membership data
as of March 31, 2020.

(c) Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan

The Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan is a defined benefit pension plan, which is comprised of a
judiciary registered pension plan, a judiciary retirement compensation arrangement and a
supplementary judiciary pension plan. In addition to pension payments, these plans also contain a
provision for payment of lump sum death and severance allowances. The Plan is administered by the
Public Service Commissioner in the meaning assigned by the Public Service Act (Yukon).

Pursuant to the Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan Act (Yukon), the pension fund assets for the
judiciary registered pension plan and the judiciary retirement compensation arrangement are held
separate and distinct from the Government’s operations, and are managed by an investment manager.
The Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan Act stipulates that no contributions are to be made to the
supplementary judiciary pension plan, and no fund is to be maintained for this plan.

Actuarial valuations for the Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan for accounting and funding purposes
were conducted using the membership data as at March 31, 2020.

(d) Extended health care and life insurance retirement benefits

The Government provides optional extended health care benefits to retired employees as well as life
insurance coverage to eligible retirees. They are both non-pension defined benefit plans. The extended
health care plan is self-insured. The accrued benefit obligation at March 31, 2021 is based on an
extrapolation of an actuarial valuation conducted as at January 31, 2020. Extended health care and life
insurance retirement benefits are not funded and thus have no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to
the accrued benefit obligation.
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Effective for all employees retiring after January 1, 2019 the cost sharing arrangement for extended health
benefits was revised. Existing retirees and those retiring prior to January 1, 2019 were not impacted by
the change.

Effective April 1, 2020, the eligibility for post-retirement life insurance was amended through changes to
Section M, the terms and conditions of employment for managers. Managers appointed to MG3 or higher
positions prior to April 1, 2020 retain their eligibility for post-retirement life insurance on
retirement. Management employees newly appointed at the MG3 level or higher as of April 1, 2020 will
not be eligible for post-retirement life insurance.

The accrued benefit liability for the above retirement benefits as of March 31, 2021 was as follows:

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Accrued benefit liability

Extended health care retirement benefit $ 69,608 $ 64,307
Legislative Assembly Retirement Allowances Plan 28,726 27,030
Territorial Court Judiciary Pension Plan 8,499 7,531
Life insurance retirement benefit 3,465 3,204
(Schedule D) $ 110,298 $ 102,072

Liabilities for leased tangible capital assets

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2023, with imputed interest rate of 3.7%. $ 1,348 $ 1,970

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2025, with imputed interest rate of 3.7%. 1,062 1,285

Building lease obligation payable monthly until the year

2025, with imputed interest rate of 3.3%. 686 889
$ 3,096 $ 4,144

Interest expense related to liabilities for leased tangible capital assets for the year was $174,000
(2020 - $196,000) at an imputed average interest rate of 3.6 % (2020 — 3.1%)).
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The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under the liabilities for leased tangible
capital assets:
(thousands of dollars)

2022 $ 1,863
2023 1,873
2024 725
2025 536
Total minimum lease payments 4,997
Less: amount representing executory costs (1,262)
amount representing rental of land (509)
amount representing interest (130)

$ 3,096

Financial instruments

The balances in cash and cash equivalents, due to/from Government of Canada, accounts receivable,
advances to Territorial corporations and accounts payable and accrued liabilities have fair values that
approximate their carrying amount due to their short term to maturity.

The fair value and the methods of calculation and assumptions used for the Government’s other financial
instruments are detailed below:

2021 2020
Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Temporary investments  $ 800 $ 800 $ 1,264 $ 1,261
Portfolio investments

Marketable securities 34,545 34,589 29,758 32,948
Loans receivable 55,727 55,727 36,479 36,479

An active and established market exists for the temporary and portfolio investments. Consequently, the
estimated fair value is calculated using observed market data.

Since the above valuation is based on market information available at March 31, 2021, the fair value of
the investments may change materially in future periods as a result of fluctuations in the market.
However, these changes are not expected to result in a significant impact on the Government’s future
operations.

The carrying value, at the lower of cost or net recoverable value, is estimated to be the fair value of
loans receivable due to the nature of these loans. The carrying value of these loans receivable should
not be seen as the realizable value on immediate settlement of the loans due to the uncertainty
associated with such a settlement.
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19. Tangible capital assets

2021 2020
Net Book Net Book
Value Value

(thousands of dollars)

Land $ 13,010 $ 13,010
Buildings 524,995 533,892
Equipment and vehicles 85,874 80,360
Computer hardware and software 36,212 34,072
Transportation infrastructure 659,758 642,427
Land improvements and fixtures 45,583 42,405
Sewage and water systems 48,800 50,278
Other 14,181 12,548
(Schedule C) $1,428,413 $ 1,408,992

Leased tangible capital assets are reported as part of the respective asset category. These leased assets
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term or estimated economic life. The amortization
expense for the year was $991,000 (2020 - $1,038,000). The cost and accumulated amortization of leased
capital assets that are included in the schedule of tangible capital assets are as follows:

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Buildings (cost) $ 9,907 $ 9,907
Operating equipment (cost) 141 141
10,048 10,048
Less accumulated amortization (7,415) (6,424)
$ 2,633 $ 3,624

No interest was capitalized during the year.

111



20.

21.

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

Expenses by object

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)

Personnel $ 593,497 $ 559,252
Government transfers 497,673 394,791
Contract and special services 235,526 232,829
Materials, supplies and utilities 114,247 109,172
Amortization expenses 65,867 62,664
Rent 48,787 47,547
Communication and transportation 32,386 42,976
Other 3,399 1,113

$ 1,591,382 $ 1,450,344

Trusts under administration

The Government administers trust accounts on behalf of third parties, which are not included in the
Government's assets.

The largest such trust account, the Compensation Fund (Yukon), has a fiscal year-end of December 31.
Details of the assets of the Compensation Fund (Yukon), principally investments, are available from its
financial statements, which are reproduced in Section Il of the Public Accounts of the Government. At
March 31, 2021, the remaining trust account balances were held in bank accounts or invested in term
deposits and GICs.

Investments of the Compensation Fund (Yukon) are valued at fair value. Investments of the remainder of
the trust accounts are valued at the lower of cost and market. Any other assets held under administration
such as property, securities and valuables are reflected in trust accounts only upon conversion to cash.
The following is a summary of the trusts under administration as at March 31, 2021, except for the
Compensation Fund (Yukon) which is at December 31, 2020.

2021 2020
(thousands of dollars)
Compensation Fund (Yukon) $ 250,799 $ 237,564
Federal Gas Tax Funds under the New Deal 107,999 97,775
Lottery Commission 8,984 8,144
Crime Prevention and Victim Services 7,373 6,955
Forest Sector Trust 6,044 5,991
Extended health and dental plan trust funds 5,599 2,906
Supreme Court trust 1,379 1,379
Public Guardian trust 1,516 1,316
Other 3,994 3,482

$ 393,687 $ 365,512
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22. Contractual rights

The Government has entered into agreements to receive, or has contractual rights for, the following
receipts subsequent to March 31, 2021:

Expiry 2023 -
Date 2022 2031 Total
(thousands of dollars)

Contribution and Service Agreements

Infrastructure Canada 2031 $ 92,004 $ 675,829 $ 767,833
Transport Canada 2029 15,462 97,921 113,383
Crown-Indigenous Relations and

Northern Affairs 2022 26,235 436 26,671
Environment and Natural

Resources Canada 2024 9,887 15,387 25,274
Innovation, Science and

Economic Development 2023 6,684 21,684 28,368
French Language Service
Agreement 2025 5,500 17,250 22,750
Employment and

Social Development 2026 2,766 9,264 12,030
RCMP: Mobile Radio Network 2025 2,168 6,504 8,672
Health Canada 2022 1,660 - 1,660
Canadian Heritage 2023 2,583 2,583 5,166
Justice Canada 2023 1,181 1,181 2,362

$ 166,130 $ 848,039 $ 1,014,169
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Contractual obligations

The Government has entered into agreements for, or is contractually obligated for, the following payments
subsequent to March 31, 2021:

Expiry 2023 —
Date 2022 2040 Total

(thousands of dollars)

RCMP policing agreement 2032 $ 25,686 $ 282,546 $ 308,232
Capital projects
- in progress at March 31, 2021 2027 150,735 64,219 214,954
Yukon Hospital Corporation 2022 85,555 - 85,555
Building/office space leases 2029 11,338 21,027 32,365
NorthwesTel Inc. mobile radio
network system 2025 3,861 6,887 10,748
Alkan Air Ltd. medical evacuation
contract 2023 3,578 - 3,578
Yukon Housing Corp, Yukon low
carbon 2024 2,771 4,638 7,409
Regional Recycling Depot for
Electronic and Electrical Waste 2023 485 426 911
Conair Group Inc. air tanker services
(turbine engines) 2023 2,155 2,060 4,215
Air Spray (1967) Ltd.
air tanker services 2023 1,932 1,976 3,908
Information Services Corporation 2040 426 3,610 4,036
Miscellaneous operational
commitments 2028 28,288 7,765 36,053
$ 316,810 $ 395,154 $ 711,964

Commitments

In June 2010, the Yukon Development Corporation (“YDC”) issued 30-year bonds in the amount of $100
million at a fixed coupon rate of 5.0% per annum in part to finance the grant from the Yukon Development
Corporation Fund and ratepayers’ future contributions towards the construction of the Mayo B hydro
enhancement and the Carmacks-Stewart transmission phase Il projects. In the Memorandum of
Understanding (“the MOU”) between the Government and YDC dated March 10, 2011, the Government
agreed to provide YDC with financial assistance to a maximum of $2,625,000 annually from April 1,
2011, to March 31, 2042, based on a prescribed formula where, depending on the annual financial
results of YDC, the Government funding will be reduced or eliminated. In 2020/2021, the Government
paid $2,625,000 (2020 - $2,625,000) to YDC based on the MOU.
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Overexpenditure

Overexpenditure of a vote contravenes subsection 17(2) of the Financial Administration Act (Yukon) which
specifies that “a vote does not authorize any payment to be made in excess of the amount specified in the
vote”. During the year, no (2020 — two) departments exceeded their votes with a total overexpenditure of
$0 (2020 - $7,612,000).

The Appropriation Acts (Yukon) state that the Government is not to expend grant payments except in
accordance with the Act. During the year, two (2020 — one) departments exceeded the authorized amounts
as follows:
(thousands of dollars)
Health and Social Services

- COVID CERB Exemption $1,103
- Yukon seniors’ income supplement 39
- Social Assistance - Whitehorse 9
Finance
- Workers’ compensation supplementary benefits $ 34
Guarantees

The Government has guaranteed repayment of loans payable by the Yukon Housing Corporation of
$1,700,000 (2020 - $2,200,000) and debts of the Yukon Energy Corporation, the wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Yukon Development Corporation, of $nil (2020 - $23,807,000). In addition, the Government has
guaranteed an operating demand overdraft facility to the Yukon Housing Corporation of up to $11,000,000.
At March 31, 2021, the Yukon Development Corporation had long-term debt of $203,000,000 (2020 -
$203,000,000) and a credit facility of up to $43,500,000. While the Government has not issued guarantees
for these instruments, as the Yukon Development Corporation is an agent of the Government, lenders
may have recourse to the Government.

In December 2019, the Government issued a letter of credit providing guarantee to the bank in relation to
the Yukon University Employee’s Pension Plan’s solvency deficit. This guarantee is to remain in effect
from December 30, 2019 to June 30, 2021. The maximum amount of letters of credit to which the
guarantee applies will be $20,739,000 (2020 - $20,739,000).

In June 2019, the Government issued a letter of credit providing guarantee to the bank in relation to the
Yukon Hospital Employee’s Pension Plan’s solvency deficit. This guarantee was to remain in effect from
June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020. The maximum amount of letters of credit to which the guarantee applied
was $26,508,000 (2020 - $26,508,000).

In July 2020, the Government issued a letter of credit providing guarantee to the bank in relation to the
Yukon Hospital Employee’s Pension Plan’s solvency deficit. This guarantee is to remain in effect from
June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021. The maximum amount of letters of credit to which the guarantee applies
will be $26,508,000 (2020 - $26,508,000).

It is expected that no significant costs will be incurred by the Government with respect to these guarantees
and debts.
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In November 2019, the Government and Yukon Hospital Corporation entered into a Pension Solvency
Loan Agreement. The Government has loaned the Yukon Hospital Corporation $3,063,000 for a payment
to be made to their Pension Plan. The loan bears interest at the prime rate charged by the Government of
Yukon'’s banker with interest calculated semi-annually. The annual interest rate for 2021 is 3.95%. The
initial term of the loan will be 15 years, due on December 11, 2034, with either party having the ability to
terminate the loan with notice.

Land claims

Between February 1995 and March 31, 2021, eleven Yukon First Nation Final and Self-government
Agreements came into effect. The Government of Canada’s negotiating mandate expired prior to the
completion of the remaining three Yukon agreements. Settlements for these outstanding claims would not
result in a general liability to the Government as they are to be funded by the Government of Canada. The
Government would, however, be responsible for any financial obligations it might agree to during the
negotiations.

The bilateral funding agreement with the Government of Canada that had been in place since June 24,
1993 and which provided funding towards the Government’s additional implementation costs expired on
March 31, 2009. However, there are no additional costs for the Government as all of the existing funding
commitments are captured elsewhere, either through a specific funding agreement with the Government
of Canada or as a component of the base funding received by the Government. The specific
implementation costs include Board and Council funding arising from the various Final Agreement
Implementation Plans and other negotiated funding amounts.

Contingencies

In the normal course of operations, the Government is subject to legal claims. These claims include items
with pleading amounts and items where an amount is not specified. At March 31, 2021 the amounts
claimed, excluding the claims from Northern Cross (Yukon) Ltd., which are described below, is $5,793,000
(2020 - $6,538,000). No provision for these claims has been made as it is unlikely or undeterminable that
a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements.

On April 4, 2017, Northern Cross (Yukon) Ltd. (“Northern Cross”) filed a Statement of Claim in the
Supreme Court of Yukon against the Government of Yukon and the Minister of Energy, Mines and
Resources. Northern Cross identified a number of causes of action although all of these are based upon
its allegation that due to the moratorium on hydraulic fracturing Northern Cross’ exploration rights in the
Eagle Plains area have been adversely affected. The claim seeks up to $2.26 billion which is comprised
of $395 million for refund of work deposits, application fees, rental amounts, sunk costs and interest and
$1.86 billion in damages for loss of opportunity of 8.6 billion barrels of oil, at fair market value, identified
as being in the area through a resource evaluation. On April 12, 2017, Northern Cross changed its name
to Chance Oil and Gas Limited. No provision for this claim has been made as it is undeterminable that a
liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements.

The Government established a Risk Management Revolving Fund in December 2004, with a limit of
$5,000,000, which is to be used for providing limited insurance and risk management services to
Government departments. Expenses relating to some of the property and liability losses incurred by the
Government are to be paid out of this fund. The Government has legal liability and property insurance
with a $2,000,000 deductible. In 2021, the Government paid $253,000 (2020 — $299,000) for liability
claims such as bodily injury, property damage and automobile liability. The Government had unpaid
claims against the fund in the amount of $1,660,000 as at March 31, 2021 (2020 — $1,521,000). This
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amount is reported as part of the Government’s accrued liabilities. The fund balance at March 31, 2021
was $5,000,000 (2020 — $5,000,000).

In addition to the environmental liabilities discussed in Note 13, there may be other instances of
contamination for which the Government may be obligated to incur remediation costs. No liability has
been recognized for these instances of contamination as the future costs of remediation and the
Government’s obligation to incur these costs are undeterminable at the date of the financial statements.

Yukon Zinc Corporation (“Yukon Zinc”), as the owner of the Wolverine Mine, is responsible for the future
reclamation and closure of the mine site. Pursuant to the Quartz Mining Act (Yukon), Yukon Zinc was
required to provide a total of $35,549,000 as financial security. That amount was determined when the
Government commissioned a costing review exercise for the Yukon Zinc Wolverine Mine Reclamation and
Closure Plan, the report was received December 12, 2017. The objective of this costing review was to
confirm the activities and associated costs required during temporary and permanent closure, in
accordance with Wolverine Mine’s operating licenses and other regulatory requirements. Yukon Zinc has
only provided $10,589,000 as security to date. The Government has unsuccessfully attempted to collect
the outstanding financial security from Yukon Zinc.

On September 16, 2019, the Yukon Supreme Court ordered Yukon Zinc be put into receivership.
Beginning in the 2019-20 fiscal year, the Government has carried out necessary care and maintenance
work, including contaminated water treatment, on behalf of Yukon Zinc, expending all of the $10,589,000
accessible to it from the financial security. On 26 May 2020, the Yukon Supreme Court ruled that the
Government’s claim to additional monies from the assets of Yukon Zinc ranks in priority above any other
claim, right, charge or security against the Wolverine Mine. This ruling was appealed by Yukon Zinc and
another creditor hence the liquidation of Yukon Zinc’s assets including the mine site is currently on hold
subject to ongoing litigation. The court appointed receiver is attempting to find a buyer for the mine. In the
event that the Wolverine Mine ultimately becomes abandoned, the Government will likely be required to
assume the remediation responsibility of the site as the mining activities at the Wolverine Mine occurred
post-devolution. While there is a reliable estimate of future remediation costs in relation to the Wolverine
Mine, the outcome of the receivership process is not determinable at the date of the financial statement
preparation; hence, no liability has been recognized.
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Subsequent events

The outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 caused global disruption and economic slowdown. In response
to the pandemic, the Government, with support from the Government of Canada, implemented various
initiatives and programs to assist individuals, businesses, and industries. Significant government supports
include public health measures, aviation supports, tourism relief recovery and other economic relief and
financial support programs. In summer 2021, the Territory experienced a serious outbreak that
demonstrated that the impacts of COVID-19 are ongoing. At this time, it is not possible to reliably estimate
the length and severity of the pandemic and its economic impacts. The Government of Yukon is continuing
to monitor and assess the impacts; a number of supports noted above have already been extended into
2022.

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures for 2020 have been reclassified to conform with the 2021 presentation.
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Schedule of Revenues
for the year ended March 31, 2021
2021 2020
Main
Estimates Actual Actual
(Note 1(b))
(thousands of dollars)
From Government of Canada
Formula Financing grant $ 1,055,000 $ 1,054,979 997,412
Contributions and service agreements 188,546 184,617 161,279
Other grants 61,663 149,429 62,346
1,305,209 1,389,025 1,221,037
Taxes and general revenues
Income taxes 94,021 95,130 100,889
Other taxes
Tobacco tax 12,912 13,584 13,216
Fuel oil tax 9,639 7,004 9,780
General property tax 5,797 5,592 5,555
Liquor tax 4,955 4,979 4,965
Insurance premium tax 3,959 3,765 3,296
Grant in lieu of property tax 233 225 226
Sale of land 22,536 35,648 18,957
Licenses, permits and fees 16,621 16,478 18,288
Yukon Liquor Corporation
Liquor profit 8,871 7,959 9,297
Cannabis profit - 234 327
Investment and interest revenue 6,675 2,732 6,055
Resource revenue - mineral, oil and gas and forestry 2,155 903 1,660
Income from portfolio investments - 1,495 1,326
Aviation operations 1,448 17 1,295
Fines 508 392 435
Restricted funds - 83 314
Other revenues 226 29 336
190,556 196,249 196,217
Funding and service agreements with other parties 30,106 24,299 28,632
$ 1,525,871 $ 1,609,573 1,445,886
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Schedule B
Schedule of Expenses
for year ended March 31, 2021
2021 Actual 2021 2020
Main Government Amortization
Estimates Personnel Transfers Other Expenses Total Actual
(Note 1(b)) (Note 20)
(thousands of dollars)
Health and Social Services $ 468,218 $ 166,124 $ 201,798 $ 127,794 $ 7,728 503,444 $ 456,954
Highways and Public Works 274,602 74,951 6,731 138,769 33,185 253,636 238,458
Community Services 214,109 37,555 110,429 65,215 6,777 219,976 205,808
Education 211,030 121,381 50,322 20,039 7,683 199,425 194,163
Justice 80,444 35,531 6,300 35,299 2,856 79,986 77,216
Energy, Mines and Resources 61,675 28,776 9,107 20,847 516 59,246 58,058
Environment 42,856 25,818 2,931 12,785 584 42,118 46,172
Public Service Commission 53,383 49,364 - 3,262 275 52,901 45,335
Tourism and Culture 31,894 10,771 14,237 8,468 1,165 34,641 31,088
Executive Council Office 23,363 13,154 5,572 4,137 9 22,872 23,294
Economic Development 18,435 6,210 24,390 2,272 - 32,872 20,059
Finance 14,304 9,372 2,876 1,168 105 13,521 15,511
Yukon Housing Corporation (Transfer Payment) 30,774 - 23,520 - - 23,520 14,380
Yukon Legislative Assembly 8,579 7,504 - 1,271 - 8,775 8,270
Yukon Development Corporation (Transfer Payment) 11,375 - 22,806 - - 22,806 7,518
French Language Services Directorate 6,302 4,188 155 2,102 - 6,445 6,170
Women's Directorate 2,696 891 1,613 265 - 2,769 2,439
Office of the Ombudsman 1,403 1,041 - 346 12 1,399 1,347
Child and Youth Advocate Office 703 524 - 223 - 747 575
Elections Office 549 342 - 509 - 851 472
Restricted Funds (5,827) - 14,887 (10,427) 4,972 9,432 (2,943)
Yukon Liquor Corporation (Transfer Payment) - - - - - - -
Adjustments (29,102) - - - - - -
$ 1,521,765 $ 593497 $ 497674 $ 434344 $ 65,867 $ 1,591,382 $ 1,450,344




4

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule C
Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets
for year ended March 31, 2021
Computer Land Sewage &
Equipment Hardware Transportation Improvements  Water 2021 2020
Land Buildings & Vehicles & Software Infrastructure & Fixtures Systems  Other Total Total
(thousands of dollars)
Cost of tangible capital assets, opening $13,010 $ 856,996 $ 168,414 $ 86,575 $ 1,078,024 $ 53,143 $63,799 $20,498 $2,340,459 $ 2,238,470
Acquisitions - 15,550 14,482 7,059 41,769 4,396 1,490 2,975 87,721 106,024
Write-downs - (1,940) - - - - - - (1,940) (12)
Disposals - (518) - - (553) - - - (1,071) (4,022)
Cost of tangible capital assets, closing 13,010 870,088 182,896 93,634 1,119,240 57,5639 65,289 23,473 2,425,169 2,340,460
Accumulated amortization, opening - 323,108 88,066 52,503 435,595 10,610 13,519 8,067 931,468 872,636
Amortization expense - 22,011 8,956 4,919 24,440 1,346 2,970 1,225 65,867 62,664
Disposals - (26) - - (553) - - - (579) (3,832)
Accumulated amortization, closing - 345,093 97,022 57,422 459,482 11,956 16,489 9,292 996,756 931,468
Net book value (Note 19) $13,010 $ 524,995 $ 85874 $ 36,212 $ 659,758 $ 45,583 $48,800 $14,181 $1,428,413 $ 1,408,992

Work-in-progress’

"Included in net book value.

$ 4764 $ 1,982 § 14969 $ 44,410 $ 5,307

$ 6971 § 602 $ 79,005 $ 101,351
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Schedule D
Schedule of Retirement Benefits
for year ended March 31,2021
Legislative Territorial Extended Life
Assembly Court Health Care Insurance
Retirement Judiciary Retirement Retirement 2021 2020
Allowances Plan Pension Plan Benefit Benefit Total Total
(thousands of dollars)
Pension and retirement plan assets are valued at fair market value.
Accrued benefit obligation
Obligation at beginning of year $ 37,454 $ 12,906 $ 73,689 $ 4,111 $ 128,160 $ 122,364
Current service costs 1,614 541 3,010 67 5,232 5,325
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,651 606 2,884 158 5,299 4,833
Actuarial (gain) loss 3,268 1,408 5,189 770 10,635 (892)
Benefits paid (1,486) (485) (1,575) (130) (3,676) (3,470)
Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 42,501 14,976 83,197 4,976 145,650 128,160
Plan assets
Value at beginning of year 8,348 3,980 - - 12,328 13,147
Actual return on plan assets 1,323 576 - - 1,899 (942)
Government contributions 368 366 1,575 130 2,439 2,203
Member contributions 172 61 - - 233 236
Benefits paid (309) (485) (1,575) (130) (2,499) (2,316)
Value at end of year 9,902 4,498 - - 14,400 12,328
Funded status - plan deficit 32,598 10,478 83,197 4,976 131,249 115,831
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (loss) (3,872) (1,979) (13,589) (1,511) (20,951) (13,759)
Accrued benefit liability (Note 16) 28,726 8,499 69,608 3,465 110,298 102,072
Net benefit cost
Current service costs 1,614 541 3,010 67 5,232 5,325
Less: Member contributions (172) (61) - - (233) (236)
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,651 606 2,884 158 5,299 4,833
Expected return on plan assets (372) (182) - - (554) (645)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss 520 430 981 166 2,097 1,342

Net cost for the year $ 3,241 $ 1,334 $ 6,875 $ 391 $ 11,841 $ 10,619
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Schedule D
Schedule of Retirement Benefits Continued
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Legislative Territorial Extended Life
Assembly Court Health Care Insurance
Retirement Judiciary Retirement Retirement
Allowances Plan  Pension Plan Benefit Benefit
Key Assumptions

Expected long-term rate of return on assets at beginning of year 4.40% 4.60% N/A N/A
Discount rate on benefit costs 4.40% 4.60% 3.80% 3.80%
Discount rate on accrued benefit obligation at end of year 3.70% 3.80% 3.20% 3.20%
Inflation rate at end of year 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of compensation increase 2.50% 3.00% see below ' see below '
Health care cost trend rate N/A N/A see below ® N/A
g Amortization period (expected average remaining service life) 4.0 years 2.7 years 12.5 years 9.3 years

' Based on the annual rates from the Public Service Pension Plan ("PSPP") March 31, 2017 valuation report.

25.9% per annum for 2020-2024, decreasing linearly to 4.9% in 2029, and following the McMaster Model to an ultimate trend rate of 4.0% in 2040.
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Schedule 1
Comparative Schedule of Revenues
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Increase
2021 2020 (Decrease)
From Government of Canada
Formula Financing grant $ 1,054,978,808 997,411,832 57,566,976
Other grants
Canada health transfer 46,975,000 43,958,000 3,017,000
Canada social transfer 16,857,000 15,882,000 975,000
Carbon amounts received 14,886,802 1,643,177 13,243,625
COVID-19 pandemic 70,297,864 543,000 69,754,864
Cannabis transfer 412,697 320,439 92,258
149,429,363 62,346,616 87,082,747
Contributions and service agreements
Small Communities Fund 28,661,894 38,105,966 (9,444,072)
Canadian Heritage
- French language programs 8,014,328 7,831,580 182,748
- Francophone High School - 6,000,000 (6,000,000)
Investing in Canada infrastructure program 49,452,083 11,146,893 38,305,190
Clean water wastewater fund 1,798,165 11,080,628 (9,282,463)
Child welfare 9,832,873 10,150,687 (317,814)
Continuing care facilities 10,052,352 9,613,296 439,056
Type Il mine sites 6,006,348 7,593,934 (1,587,586)
Territorial health investment fund 4,030,180 6,222,767 (2,192,587)
Employment and Social Development Canada
- skills and labour market development 6,636,167 6,020,396 615,771
Indigenous children and youth - 4,192,977 (4,192,977)
Land claims implementation 3,583,342 3,550,840 32,502
RCMP - mobile radio system 2,472,808 2,506,883 (34,075)
Early learning and childcare 2,413,101 2,405,774 7,327
Gas tax fund 808,602 2,354,200 (1,545,598)
Yukon Hospital Corporation - meditech 3,000,000 2,250,000 750,000
Environment and climate change Canada 3,332,973 2,242,979 1,089,994
Travel recoveries - First Nations benefits 2,241,563 2,009,946 231,617
Arrest processing unit 1,958,306 1,899,481 58,825
National trade corridors fund 9,935,792 1,611,493 8,324,299
Marwell Tar Pit remediation 70,000 1,576,825 (1,506,825)
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority 2,582,856 1,447,283 1,135,573
Inuvialuit Final Agreement 1,364,591 1,443,539 (78,948)
Connect to innovate fund 1,462,335 1,358,635 103,700
Youth criminal justice 881,220 1,181,442 (300,222)
Legal Aid 1,132,000 1,032,000 100,000
Other funding and service agreements 22,892,921 14,448,282 8,444,639
184,616,800 161,278,726 23,338,074
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Comparative Schedule of Revenues
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Increase
2021 2020 (Decrease)
Taxation
Income taxes $ 95,130,095 100,889,099 $ (5,759,004)
Tobacco tax 13,584,150 13,216,086 368,064
Fuel oil tax 7,003,729 9,779,553 (2,775,824)
General property tax 5,591,940 5,554,797 37,143
Liquor tax 4,979,027 4,964,523 14,504
Insurance premium tax 3,764,917 3,295,642 469,275
Grants-in-lieu of property tax 225,195 225,745 (550)
130,279,053 137,925,445 (7,646,392)
Licenses, Permits and Fees
Business and professional 5,464,828 6,548,172 (1,083,344)
Motor vehicle 5,062,714 5,291,246 (228,532)
Continuing care facilities 3,093,510 3,033,405 60,105
Building safety 700,890 809,370 (108,480)
Hunting, fishing and outfitting 532,742 732,478 (199,736)
Campground permits 279,559 590,792 (311,233)
Land use 328,506 406,943 (78,437)
Land titles 514,774 366,868 147,906
Other 499,964 508,955 (8,991)
16,477,487 18,288,229 (1,810,742)
Investment and Interest Revenue
Banking and investment 1,318,419 4,078,909 (2,760,490)
Income from portfolio investments 1,495,381 1,326,330 169,051
Interest on advances to Territorial corporations 597,060 1,015,074 (418,014)
Delinquent accounts (301,789) 358,680 (660,469)
Land sale agreements 765,614 218,798 546,816
Local improvement loans 175,308 152,162 23,146
Preferred dividend tax credit 78,709 118,011 (39,302)
Debenture loans 98,415 113,573 (15,158)
4,227 117 7,381,537 (3,154,420)
Fines
Territorial Court 389,213 424,720 (35,507)
Library fines 2,544 10,456 (7,912)
391,757 435,176 (43,419)
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Comparative Schedule of Revenues
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Increase
2021 2020 (Decrease)
Other
Sale of land $ 35,647,753 18,956,694 $ 16,691,059
Yukon Liquor Corporation
- liquor profit 7,959,011 9,297,467 (1,338,456)
- cannabis profit 234,246 326,851 (92,605)
Resource revenue - mineral, oil and gas and forestry 903,084 1,660,171 (757,087)
Aviation operations 16,797 1,295,394 (1,278,597)
Restricted funds 83,241 313,928 (230,687)
Other 29,106 336,292 (307,186)
44,873,238 32,186,797 12,686,441
Funding and service agreements with other parties
Third-party health care costs 5,355,508 7,958,063 (2,602,555)
Yukon Zinc Corporation 5,460,043 4,544,503 915,540
Commission scolaire francophone du Yukon - 4,125,002 (4,125,002)
Airports 1,834,220 2,045,335 (211,115)
Water and sewer 754,755 850,309 (95,554)
Continuing and other health care recoveries from clients 585,295 593,972 (8,677)
Restricted funds 371,907 301,135 70,772
Worker's Compensation Health and Safety Board
- excess reserve rebate 2,371,105 - 2,371,105
Other 7,566,501 8,213,782 (647,281)
24,299,334 28,632,101 (4,332,767)
$ 1,609,572,957 1,445,886,459 $ 163,686,498
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Yukon Legislative Assembly
Taxes and general revenues
Income from portfolio investment $ 1,605,000 $ - 1,605,000 $ 1,495,380 $ (109,620)
Executive Council Office
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Yukon Environmental Socio-economic
Assessment Act implementation
- Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern
Affairs Canada (CIRNAC) 349,000 - 349,000 300,785 (48,215)
Employment and Social Development Canada - 79,000 79,000 78,865 (135)
Land claims implementation - CIRNAC 4,017,000 (400,000) 3,617,000 3,583,342 (33,658)
Office of the Commissioner - CIRNAC 15,000 - 15,000 15,000 -
Public Safety Canada 190,000 - 190,000 165,000 (25,000)
4,571,000 (321,000) 4,250,000 4,142,992 (107,008)
Taxes and general revenues
Water license fees 25,000 - 25,000 40,948 15,948
Total revenues 4,596,000 (321,000) 4,275,000 4,183,940 (91,060)
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Community Services
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Emergency measures
Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada
- emergency management 249,000 $ - 249,000 $ 334,920 85,920
Covid-19 response - -
- Emergency Support Fund for Cultural, and Sport Organizations - 1,941,000 1,941,000 2,201,995 260,995
- Safe Restart Program - 2,175,000 2,175,000 2,175,000 -
- Northern Support Phase 2 - 4,314,000 4,314,000 4,314,000 -
National Defense - public safety broadband network 577,000 - 577,000 248,928 (328,072)
Sport 355,000 - 355,000 465,234 110,234
Community recreation/active living 508,000 - 508,000 436,487 (71,513)
Author readings 16,000 - 16,000 12,237 (3,763)
Fire Management - - - 147,913 147,913
Capital
Gas tax fund 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 808,602 (1,691,398)
Small Communities Fund 23,177,000 - 23,177,000 14,452,476 (8,724,524)
Clean Water Wastewater fund 922,000 - 922,000 1,798,165 876,165
Investing in Canada infrastructure program (Protective services) - 298,000 298,000 11,269 (286,731)
Investing in Canada infrastructure program (Community development) 32,151,000 (298,000) 31,853,000 33,540,787 1,687,787
60,455,000 8,430,000 68,885,000 60,948,013 (7,936,987)
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Community Services
Taxes and general revenues
Building safety licenses and fees $ 500,000 $ - 500,000 $ 700,890 $ 200,890
Tipping Fees - - - 95,130 95,130
Library fines 8,000 - 8,000 2,544 (5,456)
Photocopier fees 2,000 - 2,000 27 (1,973)
Sale of land 22,336,000 - 22,336,000 35,505,303 13,169,303
Interest on local improvement 200,000 - 200,000 175,308 (24,692)
General property tax 5,797,000 - 5,797,000 5,591,940 (205,060)
Grant-in-lieu of property tax 233,000 - 233,000 225,195 (7,805)
Professional/consumer licensing 636,000 - 636,000 573,298 (62,702)
Business/corporate licensing 4,032,000 - 4,032,000 4,891,530 859,530
Employment standards 6,000 - 6,000 200 (5,800)
33,750,000 - 33,750,000 47,761,365 14,011,365
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Shared services 55,000 - 55,000 50,000 (5,000)
Emergency medical services 75,000 - 75,000 34,286 (40,714)
Community recreation/active living 60,000 - 60,000 75,752 15,752
Sport 959,000 50,000 1,009,000 732,365 (276,635)
Public library 15,000 - 15,000 10,363 (4,637)
Water and sewer services 981,000 - 981,000 754,755 (226,245)
Mosquito control 46,000 - 46,000 46,347 347
Community assessments 725,000 - 725,000 749,006 24,006
Capital
Rural electrification and well program - - - 269,364 269,364
2,916,000 50,000 2,966,000 2,722,238 (243,762)
Total revenues 97,121,000 8,480,000 105,601,000 111,431,616 5,830,616
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Economic Development
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Covid-19 Response $ - $ 4,336,000 $ 4,336,000 $ 4,336,004 $ 4
Regional Relief and Recovery Fund - 3,933,000 $ 3,933,000 100,000 (3,833,000)
Canada-Yukon business service centre 100,000 (100,000) - 100,000 100,000
Yukon business development program 94,000 - 94,000 - (94,000)
Total revenues 194,000 8,169,000 8,363,000 4,536,004 (3,826,996)
Education
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Canadian Heritage - French language programs 2,583,000 - 2,583,000 2,583,000 -
Student financial assistance
- Canada student loan 106,000 400,000 506,000 504,167 (1,833)
- Canada study grants - - - 39,543 39,543
Employment and Social Development Canada
- labour market development agreement 4,557,000 112,000 4,669,000 3,170,533 (1,498,467)
- workforce development agreement 2,766,000 - 2,766,000 3,465,634 699,634
Federal COVID-19 Funding - 5,300,000 5,300,000 4,894,171 (405,829)
10,012,000 5,812,000 15,824,000 14,657,048 (1,166,952)
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Education
Taxes and general revenues
Extension programs fees $ 5,000 $ - 5,000 $ - $ (5,000)
Summer school fees 10,000 - 10,000 3,600 (6,400)
Apprenticeship and certification 1,000 - 1,000 975 (25)
Trade school registration fees 1,000 - 1,000 100 (900)
17,000 - 17,000 4,675 (12,325)
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Victoria Gold Yukon Student Encouragement Society 25,000 95,000 120,000 120,000 -
Student accommodation 80,000 - 80,000 23,700 (56,300)
Staff accommodation rental 40,000 - 40,000 39,981 (19)
Stikine students 167,000 - 167,000 129,000 (38,000)
Yukon Teachers' Association - substitute teachers 80,000 - 80,000 26,231 (53,769)
Council of Ministers of Education of Canada agreement
- monitors 350,000 - 350,000 353,229 3,229
Commission scolaire francophone du Yukon
- funding formula 5,771,000 (5,771,000) - - -
Capital -
School-based information technology 88,000 - 88,000 80,686 (7,314)
School-based equipment - 10,000 10,000 9,975 (25)
6,601,000 (5,666,000) 935,000 782,802 (152,198)
Total revenues 16,630,000 146,000 16,776,000 15,444,525 (1,331,475)
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Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Energy, Mines and Resources
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Agriculture Canada
- Canadian agricultural partnership $ 766,000 73,000 839,000 $ 779,295 $ (59,705)
- rent 3,000 - 3,000 3,000 -
- Canadian Food Inspection Agency 2,000 - 2,000 1,500 (500)
- regional collaborative partnership - 66,000 66,000 66,352 352
Lands and economic development services program - - - 278,000 278,000
Green energy initiative 390,000 - 390,000 203,115 (186,885)
Natural Resources Canada
- clean energy for rural and remote communities 258,000 107,000 365,000 284,129 (80,871)
- climate change adaptation 110,000 - 110,000 67,900 (42,100)
- zero emission vehicle infrastructure program - 285,000 285,000 252,846 (32,154)
- renewable power program - 90,000 90,000 90,000 -
- cold climate study - 131,000 131,000 131,000 -
Environment and Climate Change Canada
- low carbon economy 4,689,000 - 4,689,000 2,892,599 (1,796,401)
Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern
Affairs Canada (CIRNAC)
- Type Il mine sites 9,670,000 (611,000) 9,059,000 6,006,348 (3,052,652)
Client Services and Partnerships
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada - 60,000 60,000 - (60,000)
15,888,000 201,000 16,089,000 11,056,084 (5,032,916)
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Energy, Mines and Resources
Taxes and general revenues
Land management
- lands administration/interest $ 150,000 $ - 150,000 $ 765614 $ 615,614
- land sales fees 20,000 - 20,000 32,069 12,069
- land leases 189,000 - 189,000 179,696 (9,304)
- land use fees 21,000 - 21,000 12,653 (8,347)
- quarrying royalties and leases 80,000 - 80,000 81,067 1,067
- sale of land 200,000 - 200,000 142,450 (57,550)
Land planning
- application fees 7,000 - 7,000 7,200 200
Forest management
- application fees 3,000 - 3,000 1,070 (1,930)
- timber royalty 20,000 - 20,000 15,983 (4,017)
- development fee 10,000 - 10,000 10,106 106
- road charge 15,000 - 15,000 11,856 (3,144)
Agricultural land application and grazing lease fees 5,000 - 5,000 11,121 6,121
Oil and gas resources - rentals and administration 65,000 (63,000) 2,000 - (2,000)
Mineral resources
- coal leases, permits and royalties 22,000 - 22,000 2,608 (19,392)
- placer mining fees 385,000 - 385,000 180,993 (204,007)
- quartz mining fees and leases 1,635,000 (500,000) 1,135,000 680,468 (454,532)
- maps, publications and charts 5,000 - 5,000 1,713 (3,287)
2,832,000 (563,000) 2,269,000 2,136,667 (132,333)




yAN

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 2
Schedule of Revenues by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Energy, Mines and Resources
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Land management
- legal surveys $ 10,000 - 10,000 $ - (10,000)
- recovery from estate - clean up - - - 35,000 35,000
Agriculture conference 3,000 - 3,000 3,943 943
Mineral resources
- Yukon Zinc Corporation - Wolverine mine 3,000,000 2,442,000 5,442,000 5,460,043 18,043
Forest management - Trans Canada Trail - - - 2,607 2,607
3,013,000 2,442,000 5,455,000 5,501,593 46,593
Total revenues 21,733,000 2,080,000 23,813,000 18,694,344 (5,118,656)
Environment
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 Response
Northern Support
- Phase 2 - 1,090,000 1,090,000 1,090,000 -
Inuvialuit Final Agreement 1,565,000 67,000 1,632,000 1,364,591 (267,409)
Climate change preparedness in the North 570,000 264,000 834,000 627,600 (206,400)
Environmental sustainability - miscellaneous partnerships 48,000 - 48,000 41,900 (6,100)
Environmental occurrences notification agreement 6,000 - 6,000 5,941 (59)
Marwell tar pit remediation 70,000 - 70,000 70,000 -
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Environment
From Canada (continued)
Operation and maintenance (continued)
Habitat stewardship program $ 148,000 $ 173,000 321,000 $ 425,013 104,013
Environment and climate change Canada 360,000 18,000 378,000 440,374 62,374
Science Horizons - Clean Foundation Internship - 10,000 10,000 10,420 420
Parks Canada - 15,000 15,000 15,000 -
Polar Knowledge Canada - 88,000 88,000 71,195 (16,805)
Capital
Inuvialuit Final Agreement 15,000 - 15,000 - (15,000)
Investing in Canada infrastructure program - - - 581,718 581,718
2,782,000 1,725,000 4,507,000 4,743,752 236,752
Taxes and general revenues
Campground permits 532,000 (266,000) 266,000 279,559 13,559
Wilderness tourism licensing 8,000 (4,000) 4,000 5,200 1,200
Hunting licenses and seals 465,000 (175,000) 290,000 343,140 53,140
Trapping and fur licenses 6,000 - 6,000 5,832 (168)
Fishing licenses 330,000 (70,000) 260,000 163,970 (96,030)
Outfitting fees 10,000 - 10,000 14,600 4,600
Advertising Sales 10,000 - 10,000 - (10,000)
Mapping Sales 10,000 - 10,000 - (10,000)
1,371,000 (515,000) 856,000 812,301 (43,699)
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Environment
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Mapping recoveries $ - $ - - 2,398 $ 2,398
Environmental sustainability - miscellaneous partnerships 48,000 - 48,000 127,783 79,783
Compulsory inspections - Province of British Columbia 2,000 - 2,000 - (2,000)
Conservation Action Team 2,000 - 2,000 2,500 500
Standards and approvals - technical review 45,000 - 45,000 50,200 5,200
NatureServe Canada -

- Yukon conservation data 34,000 - 34,000 8,019 (25,981)
Trapper education workshop 26,000 - 26,000 19,350 (6,650)
Teslin Tlingit Council - 60,000.00 60,000 60,000 -
Environmental liabilities and remediation

- Yukon Housing Corporation 15,000 (15,000.00) - - -

172,000 45,000 217,000 270,250 53,250
Total revenues 4,325,000 1,255,000 5,580,000 5,826,303 246,303
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Finance
From Canada
Formula Financing grant $ 1,055,000,000 $ - 1,055,000,000 $ 1,054,978,808 $ (21,192)
Canada health transfer 45,156,000 - 45,156,000 46,975,000 1,819,000
Canada social transfer 16,202,000 - 16,202,000 16,857,000 655,000
Cannabis transfer 305,000 - 305,000 412,697 107,697
1,116,663,000 - 1,116,663,000 1,119,223,505 2,560,505
Taxes and general revenues
Personal income tax 80,285,000 (1,769,000) 78,516,000 78,090,432 (425,568)
Corporate income tax 13,736,000 8,805,000 22,541,000 17,039,663 (5,501,337)
Fuel oil tax 9,639,000 (2,258,000) 7,381,000 7,003,729 (377,271)
Insurance premium tax 3,959,000 (110,000) 3,849,000 3,764,917 (84,083)
Tobacco tax 12,912,000 23,000 12,935,000 13,584,150 649,150
Banking and investment 3,540,000 (2,462,000) 1,078,000 1,318,419 240,419
Interest on advance to Territorial Corporation 1,101,000 - 1,101,000 597,060 (503,940)
Interest on accounts receivable 5,000 - 5,000 (301,789) (306,789)
Miscellaneous revenue 50,000 - 50,000 5,757 (44,243)
Preferred dividend tax - - - 78,709 78,709
125,227,000 2,229,000 127,456,000 121,181,047 (6,274,953)
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Finance
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Workers' Compensation Health and Safety Board payroll $ 12,000 $ - 12,000 $ 12,000 $ -
Charge card incentive 50,000 - 50,000 21,546 (28,454)
Yukon Bureau of Statistics - recoverable services - - - 53,334 53,334
Banking, Investments and Debt Services - - - 25,000 25,000
62,000 - 62,000 111,880 49,880
Total revenues 1,241,952,000 2,229,000 1,244,181,000 1,240,516,432 (3,664,568)
French Language Services Directorate
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Canadian Heritage 5,247,000 200,000 5,447,000 5,431,328 (15,672)
Third-party recoveries
Ministerial Conference on the Canadian
Francophone - 200,000 200,000 184,581 (15,419)
Total revenues 5,247,000 400,000 5,647,000 5,615,909 (31,091)
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Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Health and Social Services
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 Response
- Northern Supports Package Phase 1 $ - $ 18,400,000 18,400,000 18,400,000 $ -
- Northern Supports Package Phase 2 - 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 -
- Safe Restart Program - 11,300,000 11,300,000 11,286,000 (14,000)
- Personal Protective Equipment - In-Kind Contribution - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000
Public Health Authority of Canada
- Quarantine Agreement - 94,000 94,000 147,585 53,585
Territorial health investment fund 6,442,000 350,000 6,792,000 4,030,180 (2,761,820)
Child welfare 9,622,000 400,000 10,022,000 9,832,873 (189,127)
Nits'aw Chua Transition Home - - - 916,000 916,000
Federal child benefit 370,000 - 370,000 282,152 (87,848)
Transition homes 296,000 - 296,000 149,000 (147,000)
Youth criminal justice 881,000 - 881,000 881,220 220
Early learning and child care - 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,413,101 13,101
Social assistance 415,000 54,000 469,000 500,000 31,000
Health Canada
- mental health 630,000 - 630,000 663,887 33,887
- home care 680,000 - 680,000 719,211 39,211
Assisted Living 75,000 2,200,000 2,275,000 5,038,890 2,763,890
Mental Wellness and Substance Use - Youth Criminal Justice 300,000 - 300,000 300,000 -
Travel recoveries - First Nations benefits 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 2,241,563 241,563
Hearing assessments and aids 61,000 - 61,000 12,143 (48,857)
Congenital anomalies surveillance 85,000 - 85,000 - (85,000)
Chronic disease surveillance 112,000 - 112,000 112,124 124
Canadian partnership against cancer
- Quitline - 100,000 100,000 100,000 -
Opioid treatment 118,000 - 118,000 118,176 176
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Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Health and Social Services
From Canada (continued)
Health Canada - Official Languages Health Program $ - $ 209,000 209,000 $ 74,821 $ (134,179)
Continuing care facilities 7,250,000 2,200,000 9,450,000 10,052,352 602,352
Substance Use Addictions Program (SUAP) - - - 87,028 87,028
Capital
Territorial health investment fund
- Yukon Hospital Corporation - Meditech 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
- Corporate Services - 750,000 750,000 750,000 -
- 1Health (Meditech) 3,100,000 3,100,000 3,120,641 20,641
32,337,000 51,557,000 83,894,000 88,728,947 4,834,947
Taxes and general revenues
Registration and fees 36,000 - 36,000 29,393 (6,607)
Environmental health - inspection/permits 10,000 - 10,000 16,444 6,444
Continuing care facilities 3,581,000 - 3,581,000 3,093,510 (487,490)
3,627,000 - 3,627,000 3,139,347 (487,653)
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Main Supplementary Revised Over (Under)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Health and Social Services
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
- Rapid Adoption Virtual Care $ - $ 615,000 615,000 $ 305,000 $ (310,000)
Social supports
- client recovery 50,000 - 50,000 31,126 (18,874)
- social assistance 80,000 - 80,000 91,769 11,769
Third-party health care costs 6,167,000 2,400,000 8,567,000 5,355,508 (3,211,492)
Hearing assessments and aids 587,000 - 587,000 296,719 (290,281)
Rental recovery 74,000 - 74,000 63,187 (10,813)
Community health
- Yukon immunization program 95,000 (45,000) 50,000 12,473 (37,527)
Community nursing
- patient services 167,000 - 167,000 156,531 (10,469)
- drugs and vaccines 10,000 - 10,000 1,689 (8,311)
- rent/utility recoveries 116,000 - 116,000 57,386 (58,614)
- Lower Post recovery 15,000 - 15,000 15,789 789
Continuing care facilities
- McDonald Lodge food services 120,000 - 120,000 130,008 10,008
- BC northern health authority and misc. third party recoveries - - - 131,535 131,535
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer 250,000 - 250,000 247,500 (2,500)
- Canadian Center for aging and brain health innovation - 38,000 38,000 18,866 (19,134)
Cross border emergency response - - - 4,881 4,881
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Health and Social Services
Third party recoveries (continued)
Canadian partnership against cancer
- smoking cessation $ 75,000 $ 20,000 95,000 87,790 $ (7,210)
- Yukon First nations cancer care 267,000 17,000 284,000 191,420 (92,580)
Yukon University
- Yukon SPOR policy research - 19,000 19,000 4,999 (14,001)
8,073,000 3,064,000 11,137,000 7,204,176 (3,932,824)
Total revenues 44,037,000 54,621,000 98,658,000 99,072,470 414,470
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Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Highways and Public Works
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Covid-19 Response
- Aviation $ - 10,766,000 10,766,000 $ 6,464,694 $ (4,301,306)
- Northern Phase Il - 304,000 304,000 304,000 -
Mobile radio system
- RCMP 2,396,000 - 2,396,000 2,472,808 76,808
- other federal agencies 69,000 - 69,000 26,290 (42,710)
Transportation - recoverable services 152,000 - 152,000 178,340 26,340
National safety code agreement 153,000 - 153,000 152,567 (433)
Motor vehicles 8,000 - 8,000 18,000 10,000
Airports 60,000 - 60,000 61,436 1,436
Leases/facility management agreements 32,000 - 32,000 30,500 (1,500)
Capital
Small Communities fund 13,511,000 - 13,511,000 14,209,418 698,418
Yukon Resource Gateway project 2,365,000 - 2,365,000 - (2,365,000)
National Trade Corridors Fund 9,406,000 9,406,000 9,935,792 529,792
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority - - - 2,582,856 2,582,856
Northern Transportation Adaptation Initiative 122,000 - 122,000 59,795 (62,205)
Connect to Innovate fund 8,625,000 (7,313,000) 1,312,000 1,462,335 150,335
Mobile radio system 93,000 - 93,000 10,020 (82,980)
Investing in Canada infrastructure program 8,625,000 (7,313,000) 1,312,000 80,996 (1,231,004)
Natural Resources Canada 75,000 - 75,000 128,966 53,966
Low Carbon Economy Fund 2,085,000 (2,028,000) 57,000 - (57,000)
47,777,000 (5,584,000) 42,193,000 38,178,813 (4,014,187)
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Highways & Public Works
Taxes and general revenues
Queen's Printer subscriptions - - - 6,168 6,168
Sale of government surplus equipment 46,000 - 46,000 10,074 (35,926)
Access to Information and Protection of Privacy 10,000 - 10,000 3,220 (6,780)
Highway information signs/permits 17,000 - 17,000 10,650 (6,350)
Quarry permits 3,000 - 3,000 4,700 1,700
Aviation operations 1,448,000 (780,000) 668,000 16,797 (651,203)
National safety code - fees/materials 26,000 - 26,000 25,689 (311)
Weigh station fees 158,000 - 158,000 177,171 19,171
Private vehicle registration/permits 1,705,000 - 1,705,000 1,835,613 130,613
Commercial vehicle registration/permits 3,423,000 - 3,423,000 3,096,148 (326,852)
Driver licenses/fees 230,000 - 230,000 130,953 (99,047)
Land use fees 12,000 - 12,000 - (12,000)
7,078,000 (780,000) 6,298,000 5,317,183 (980,817)
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Deposit forfeitures
Travel agent processing 34,000 - 34,000 10,710 (23,290)
Industry conference and reverse tradeshow 12,000 - 12,000 - (12,000)
Information and communications technology service agreements 697,000 - 697,000 755,445 58,445
Transportation - recoverable services 360,000 - 360,000 413,551 53,551
Airports 2,033,000 - 2,033,000 1,834,220 (198,780)
Motor Vehicles 7,000 - 7,000 8,905 1,905
Leases/facility management agreements 379,000 - 379,000 506,786 127,786
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Highways & Public Works
Third-party recoveries (continued)
Capital
Dempster Fibre Project $ 4,301,000 $  (4,301,000) $ - - -
Granular material development - - - 12,650 12,650
7,823,000 (4,301,000) 3,522,000 3,542,267 20,267
Total revenues 62,678,000 (10,665,000) 52,013,000 47,038,263 (4,974,737)
Justice
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 Response - 485,000 485,000 485,000 -
Court Services - French language training - 13,000 13,000 - (13,000)
Legal aid 1,132,000 - 1,132,000 1,132,000 -
Indigenous courtworker program 308,000 - 308,000 308,000 -
Yukon Public Legal Education Association 163,000 - 163,000 163,000 -
Family justice activities 207,000 - 207,000 207,075 75
Family mediation services 187,000 - 187,000 174,500 (12,500)
Cannabis and impaired driving 456,000 - 456,000 37,189 (418,811)
Exchange of service agreement 30,000 - 30,000 63,939 33,939
Arrest processing unit 1,913,000 - 1,913,000 1,958,306 45,306
Enhancing services for victims of crime in Yukon 750,000 - 750,000 732,962 (17,038)
Community Justice Coordinate Meeting - - - 3,492 3,492
Guns and gang violence action fund 465,000 - 465,000 210,909 (254,091)
Drug treatment court funding 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 -
Family information liaison unit - 285,000 285,000 214,289 (70,711)
Community safety officer (CSO) program 208,000 - 208,000 208,000 -
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Justice
From Canada (continued)
Capital
Interactive Voice Response $ 100,000 $ (100,000) $ - $ - $ -
6,019,000 683,000 6,702,000 5,998,661 (703,339)
Taxes and general revenues
Court fees 500,000 - 500,000 389,213 (110,787)
Sheriff's Office 58,000 - 58,000 49,355 (8,645)
Public guardian and trustee fees 35,000 - 35,000 43,358 8,358
Land titles fees 370,000 - 370,000 514,774 144,774
963,000 - 963,000 996,700 33,700
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Public Utilities Board hearings 100,000 - 100,000 162,817 62,817
Worker advocate 517,000 - 517,000 346,249 (170,751)
Outreach worker - Province of British Columbia 41,000 - 41,000 44,002 3,002
658,000 - 658,000 553,068 (104,932)

Total revenues 7,640,000 683,000 8,323,000 7,548,429 (774,571)
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Public Service Commission
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Health, Safety and Well-Being $ 5,000 § - 5,000 $§ - (5,000)
5,000 - 5,000 - (5,000)
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Human resource business partners 234,000 - 234,000 234,270 270
Human resource shared services 77,000 - 77,000 77,070 70
Organizational development 5,000 - 5,000 - (5,000)
Health, safety and well-being 5,000 - 5,000 - (5,000)
Workers compensation payments - 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,371,105 371,105
321,000 2,000,000 2,321,000 2,682,445 361,445
Total revenues 326,000 2,000,000 2,326,000 2,682,445 356,445
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Tourism and Culture
From Canada
Operations and Maintenance
COVID-19 Response
- Northern Support - Phase 2 $ - $ 247,000 $ 247,000 $ 247,000 $ -
- Canadian Tourism Commission - 500,000 500,000 500,000 -
Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada
- Historic Sites - - - 12,720 12,720
Capital
Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency - signage 99,000 - 99,000 99,400 400
99,000 747,000 846,000 859,120 13,120
Taxes and general revenues
Yukon Beringia Interpretive Centre 70,000 - 70,000 3,731 (66,269)
Archives - reproduction fees 16,000 - 16,000 5,369 (10,631)
Vacation guide advertising revenue 75,000 (75,000) - - -
161,000 (75,000) 86,000 9,100 (76,900)
Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance
Yukon Lottery Commission 467,000 - 467,000 372,127 (94,873)
467,000 - 467,000 372,127 (94,873)
Total revenues 727,000 672,000 1,399,000 1,240,347 (158,653)
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Women's Directorate
From Canada
Operation and maintenance
Policy and Program Development $ - $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ -
Women and Gender Equality Canada 347,000 14,000 361,000 360,320 (680)
Total revenues 347,000 39,000 386,000 385,320 (680)
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Yukon Development Corporation
From Canada
Capital

Arctic Energy fund $ 2,813,000 $ - $ 2,813,000 $ - $ (2,813,000)

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program - 20,875,000 20,875,000 15,248,582 (5,626,418)
Total revenues 2,813,000 20,875,000 23,688,000 15,248,582 (8,439,418)
Yukon Liquor Corporation
Taxes and general revenues

Corporate net income

- liquor profit 8,871,000 (1,637,000) 7,234,000 7,959,016 725,016

- cannabis profit - - - 234,246 234,246

Liquor tax 4,955,000 (169,000) 4,786,000 4,979,021 193,021
Total revenues 13,826,000 (1,806,000) 12,020,000 13,172,283 1,152,283
Interest
Taxes and general revenues

Interest 74,000 27,000 101,000 98,415 (2,585)
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Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates

Restricted Funds
From Canada

Carbon amounts received $ - $ - $ - $ 14,886,802 $ 14,886,802
Taxes and general revenues

Gain on sale of tangible capital assets - - - 25,000 25,000

Other revenue - - - 58,241 58,241

- - - 83,241 83,241

Third-party recoveries
Operation and maintenance

Restricted funds - - - 371,907 371,907
Total revenues - - - 15,341,950 15,341,950
Totals
From Canada 1,305,209,000 92,533,000 1,397,742,000 1,389,024,971 (8,717,029)
Taxes and general revenues 190,556,000 (1,483,000) 189,073,000 196,248,652 7,175,652
Third-party recoveries 30,106,000 (2,166,000) 27,940,000 24,299,334 (3,640,666)
Total revenues $ 1,525,871,000 $ 88,884,000 $ 1,614,755,000 $ 1,609,572,957 $ (5,182,043)
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Schedule 3
Comparative Schedule of Expenses
for the year ended March 31, 2021
2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)

Yukon Legislative Assembly
Operation and maintenance

Legislative services $ 3,601,849 $ 3,590,869 $ 10,980

Legislative Assembly Office 926,748 1,355,083 (428,335)

Retirement allowances and death benefits 3,692,854 2,689,353 1,003,501

Hansard 476,993 558,848 (81,855)

Conflicts Commission 36,199 38,632 (2,433)

8,734,643 8,232,785 501,858

Capital

Legislative Assembly Office 40,359 34,963 5,396
Amortization expense - 1,722 (1,722)
Total expenses 8,775,002 8,269,470 505,532
Elections Office
Operation and maintenance

Elections 845,781 472,146 373,635
Capital

Elections 4,631 - 4,631
Total expenses 850,412 472,146 378,266
Office of the Ombudsman
Operation and maintenance

Office of the Ombudsman 1,377,609 1,313,531 64,078
Capital

Office of the Ombudsman 9,780 21,729 (11,949)
Amortization expense 11,997 11,997 -
Total expenses 1,399,386 1,347,257 52,129
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Child and Youth Advocate Office
Operation and maintenance
Child and Youth Advocate Office $ 744,664 563,581 $ 181,083
Capital
Child and Youth Advocate Office 2,160 10,826 (8,666)
Total expenses 746,824 574,407 172,417
Executive Council Office
Operation and maintenance
Strategic corporate services 3,951,130 4,325,197 (374,067)
Aboriginal relations 8,340,717 8,215,268 125,449
Corporate programs and intergovernmental relations 6,792,828 7,135,720 (342,892)
Government internal audit services 408,184 481,014 (72,830)
Office of the Commissioner 213,691 248,838 (35,147)
Cabinet Offices 2,757,467 2,875,029 (117,562)
COVID-19 pandemic 389,480 3,714 385,766
22,853,497 23,284,780 (431,283)
Capital
Corporate Services 9,460 - 9,460
Amortization expense 9,373 9,373 -
Total expenses 22,872,330 23,294,153 (421,823)
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Community Services
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 9,890,498 - $ 9,890,498
Corporate services 4,740,580 4,387,749 352,831
Protective services 34,095,635 55,977,916 (21,882,281)
Community development 46,081,905 46,478,756 (396,851)
Corporate policy and consumer affairs 12,131,907 11,916,811 215,096
106,940,525 118,761,232 (11,820,707)
Capital
COVID-19 response 185,791 - 185,791
Corporate services - 313,566 (313,566)
Protective services 1,856,142 1,258,041 598,101
Community development 92,036,693 89,853,287 2,183,406
Corporate policy and consumer affairs 2,804,524 2,209,052 595,472
96,883,150 93,633,946 3,249,204
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3,039,592) (11,146,498) 8,106,906
Land development costs transferred to
land inventory (19,499,714) (18,103,755) (1,395,959)
Local improvement costs transferred to
loans receivable (2,255,670) (1,868,365) (387,305)
72,088,174 62,515,328 9,572,846
Cost of land sold 33,630,477 17,591,761 16,038,716
Amortization expense 6,777,069 6,927,908 (150,839)
Bad debts expense 540,013 11,260 528,753
Total expenses 219,976,258 205,807,489 14,168,769
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Economic Development
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 16,291,241 - 16,291,241
Corporate services 2,051,218 1,891,113 160,105
Policy, planning and communications 1,564,855 1,547,753 17,102
Business and industry development 7,379,228 9,357,976 (1,978,748)
Regional economic development 4,516,475 4,700,232 (183,757)
31,803,017 17,497,074 14,305,943
Capital
Corporate services 7,423 - 7,423
Business and industry development 1,061,387 2,562,139 (1,500,752)
1,068,810 2,562,139 (1,493,329)
Total expenses 32,871,827 20,059,213 12,812,614
Education
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 6,073,698 - 6,073,698
Education support services 3,984,227 4,038,847 (54,620)
Schools and student services 124,789,362 122,213,550 2,575,812
Policy and partnerships 16,982,936 22,466,815 (5,483,879)
Yukon College/University 28,531,922 27,192,742 1,339,180
First Nations initiatives 7,526,360 7,100,590 425,770
187,888,505 183,012,544 4,875,961
Capital
Pandemic 394,135 - 394,135
Schools and student services 15,931,806 27,341,603 (11,409,797)
Yukon College/University 400,000 - 400,000
16,725,941 27,341,603 (10,615,662)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (12,872,373) (23,393,685) 10,521,312
3,853,568 3,947,918 (94,350)
Amortization expense 7,683,112 7,201,995 481,117
Write-down of tangible capital assets - - -
Total expenses 199,425,185 194,162,457 5,262,728
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Energy, Mines and Resources
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 1,100,000 - $ 1,100,000
Corporate services 3,291,758 3,292,137 (379)
Sustainable resources 10,915,106 10,966,410 (51,304)
Energy, corporate policy and communications 9,238,244 8,235,215 1,003,029
Oil and gas and mineral resources 25,719,467 26,264,879 (545,412)
Compliance monitoring & inspections 8,429,698 8,803,282 (373,584)
58,694,273 57,561,923 1,132,350
Capital
Corporate services 71,240 535,436 (464,196)
Resource management 354,839 274,442 80,397
426,079 809,878 (383,799)
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets (192,040) (549,473) 357,433
Land development costs transferred to
land inventory (143,881) (116,209) (27,672)
90,158 144,196 (54,038)
Amortization expense 515,780 438,617 77,163
Environmental liabilities (net) (54,710) (86,867) 32,157
Total expenses 59,245,501 58,057,869 1,187,632
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Environment
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 1,222,968 - $ 1,222,968
Corporate services 10,945,739 10,554,643 391,096
Environmental sustainability 26,430,569 26,348,541 82,028
Environmental liabilities and remediation 2,905,558 6,886,728 (3,981,170)
41,504,834 43,789,912 (2,285,078)
Capital
Corporate services 483,079 586,064 (102,985)
Environmental sustainability 1,473,940 1,443,962 29,978
1,957,019 2,030,026 (73,007)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,106,836) (1,069,312) (37,524)
850,183 960,714 (110,531)
Amortization expense 583,573 539,747 43,826
Write-down of tangible capital assets 11,281 - 11,281
Environmental liabilities (net) (831,973) 881,775 (1,713,748)
Total expenses 42,117,898 46,172,148 (4,054,250)
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Finance
Operation and maintenance
Corporate services 1,183,720 1,364,070 (180,350)
Financial operations and revenue services 3,457,142 5,007,929 (1,550,787)
Economics, fiscal policy and statistics 2,710,339 2,572,900 137,439
Management board secretariat 2,599,435 2,233,446 365,989
Office of the Comptroller 955,151 985,178 (30,027)
Workers' compensation supplementary benefits 308,560 247,004 61,556
COVID-19 response 39,649 1,348 38,301
11,253,996 12,411,875 (1,157,879)
Capital
Corporate services - 655,392 (655,392)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets - (156,228) 156,228
- 499,164 (499,164)
Amortization expense 105,402 65,371 40,031
Bad debt expense 95,634 312,905 (217,271)
Transfers through the tax system 2,065,685 2,221,925 (156,240)
Total expenses 13,520,717 15,511,240 (1,990,523)
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
French Language Services Directorate
Operation and maintenance
French language services 6,445,386 6,169,919 275,467
Health and Social Services
Operation and maintenance
Corporate services 16,562,937 18,740,793 (2,177,856)
Family and children's services 47,158,000 52,341,137 (5,183,137)
Social supports 45,026,595 45,185,630 (159,035)
Community and program support 12,512,015 12,253,546 258,469
Mental wellness and substance use services 21,799,709 19,702,865 2,096,844
Health Services 134,146,199 145,007,100 (10,860,901)
Continuing care 79,059,233 74,399,412 4,659,821
Yukon hospital services 79,131,302 79,510,253 (378,951)
COVID-19 response 43,195,000 185,579 43,009,421
478,590,990 447,326,315 31,264,675
Less pension costs transferred to loans receivable - (3,063,321) 3,063,321
478,590,990 444,262,994 34,327,996
Capital
Corporate services 7,218,086 1,782,062 5,436,024
Family and children's services 146,827 1,050,883 (904,056)
Social supports 172,204 138,068 34,136
Community and program support 13,873 20,568 (6,695)
Mental wellness and substance use services 272,367 - 272,367
Health services 2,216,254 741,267 1,474,987
continuing care 3,788,402 3,178,802 609,600
Yukon hospital services 5,750,000 3,905,052 1,844,948
19,578,013 10,816,702 8,761,311
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (2,946,168) (5,787,457) 2,841,289
16,631,845 5,029,245 11,602,600
Amortization expense 7,727,822 7,662,266 65,556
Write-down/Disposal of tangible capital assets 492,910 - 492,910
Total expenses 503,443,567 456,954,505 46,489,062
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Highways and Public Works
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response 6,686,766 - 6,686,766
Corporate services 14,400,321 13,048,145 1,352,176
Information and communications technology 22,578,713 21,726,236 852,477
Transportation 68,325,611 65,432,640 2,892,971
Property management 43,909,474 43,748,422 161,052
Program specific (20,334) - (20,334)
Central Stores write off (133,115) 138,131 (271,246)
155,747,436 144,093,574 11,653,862
Less lease payments for leased tangible
capital assets transferred to liabilities (1,047,988) (1,016,420) (31,568)
154,699,448 143,077,154 11,622,294
Capital
Pandemic 639,598 - 639,598
Information and communications technology 13,189,095 6,116,662 7,072,433
Transportation 90,160,740 85,261,237 4,899,503
Property management 23,316,618 26,198,013 (2,881,395)
127,306,051 117,575,912 9,730,139

Less acquisition of tangible capital assets

Amortization expense
Write-down/disposal loss of tangible capital assets
Rental expense recognized from prepaid expenses

Total expenses

(63,586,253)

(53,396,302)

(10,189,951)

63,719,798 64,179,610 (459,812)
33,184,637 30,988,601 2,196,036
1,929,101 105,097 1,824,004
102,527 106,413 (3,886)
253,635,511 238,456,875 15,178,636
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2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Justice
Operation and maintenance
Management services $ 4,279,940 4,454 552 (174,612)
Court services 7,454,732 6,899,004 555,728
Legal services 9,933,268 8,587,230 1,346,038
Regulatory services 4,546,331 4,551,542 (5,211)
Community justice and public safety 47,186,308 46,817,295 369,013
Human rights 781,340 691,911 89,429
COVID-19 response 627,935 2,772 625,163
74,809,854 72,004,306 2,805,548
Capital
Management services 92,989 1,078,825 (985,836)
Court services 73,620 75,014 (1,394)
Community justice and public safety 2,585,029 2,324,070 260,959
2,751,638 3,477,909 (726,271)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (431,794) (1,058,684) 626,890
2,319,844 2,419,225 (99,381)
Amortization expense 2,856,534 2,792,073 64,461
Total expenses 79,986,232 77,215,604 2,770,628
Public Service Commission
Operation and maintenance
Corporate services 2,624,766 2,743,877 (119,111)
Human resource service centre 7,380,891 5,717,371 1,663,520
People and culture 5,301,705 5,295,064 6,641
Employee relations 5,086,298 5,032,927 53,371
Corporate funds 32,195,666 25,704,318 6,491,348
52,589,326 44,493,557 8,095,769
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Public Service Commission (continued)
Capital
Corporate services $ 32,618 $ - $ 32,618
People and culture 4,860 653,842 (648,982)
Employee relations - 1,248 (1,248)
37,478 655,090 (617,612)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets - (86,118) 86,118
37,478 568,972 (531,494)
Amortization expense 274,581 272,786 1,795
Total expenses 52,901,385 45,335,315 7,566,070
Tourism and Culture
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response 5,445,509 - 5,445,509
Corporate services 2,448,010 2,434,009 14,001
Cultural services 12,680,014 13,197,597 (517,583)
Tourism 11,404,818 12,854,153 (1,449,335)
31,978,351 28,485,759 3,492,592
Capital
Corporate services 7,652 5,935 1,717
Cultural services 1,271,131 1,493,879 (222,748)
Tourism 489,782 532,450 (42,668)
1,768,565 2,032,264 (263,699)
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (271,281) (567,146) 295,865
1,497,284 1,465,118 32,166
Amortization expense 1,165,399 1,124,951 40,448
Write-down of tangible capital assets - 12,160 (12,160)
Total expenses 34,641,034 31,087,988 3,553,046
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Women's Directorate
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response $ 1,600 $ - $ 1,600
Policy and program development 2,767,780 2,432,942 334,838
2,769,380 2,432,942 336,438
Capital
COVID-19 response - - -
Policy and program development - 6,782 (6,782)
- 6,782 (6,782)
Total expenses 2,769,380 2,439,724 329,656
Yukon Development Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Operation and maintenance
Interim electrical rebate 3,429,309 3,375,066 54,243
Mayo B rate payer support 2,625,000 2,625,000 -
6,054,309 6,000,066 54,243
Capital
Innovative renewable energy initiative 1,500,000 1,518,235 (18,235)
Investing in Canada infrastructure program 15,251,582 - 15,251,582
16,751,582 1,518,235 15,233,347
Total expenses 22,805,891 7,518,301 15,287,590

166



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 3
Comparative Schedule of Expenses
for the year ended March 31, 2021
2020-21 2019-20 Increase
(Decrease)
Yukon Housing Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Operation and maintenance
Gross expenditures 19,197,331 $ 18,357,818 839,513
Less: Rental revenues (7,246,577) (6,983,218) (263,359)
Recoveries (5,842,336) (6,216,345) 374,009
6,108,418 5,158,255 950,163
Capital
Gross expenditures 29,356,089 20,966,713 8,389,376
Less: Recoveries (6,956,564) (6,305,736) (650,828)
Loan expenditures (4,987,949) (5,438,882) 450,933
17,411,576 9,222,095 8,189,481
23,519,994 14,380,350 9,139,644
Restricted Funds
Net expenditures 4,459,910 (7,569,144) 12,029,054
Amortization expense 4,972,102 4,626,308 345,794
Total expenses 9,432,012 (2,942,836) 12,374,848
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Totals
Operation and maintenance

Capital

Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Land development costs transferred to
land inventory
Loan advances transferred to
loans receivable
Lease payments for leased tangible capital
assets transferred to liabilities

Cost of land sold
Amortization expenses

Other expenses not appropriated

$ 1,287,734,794

$ 1,223,066,076

$ 64,668,718

302,732,292 272,405,491 30,326,801
1,590,467,086 1,495,471,567 94,995,519
(84,446,337) (97,210,903) 12,764,566
(19,643,595) (18,219,964) (1,423,631)
(2,255,670) (4,931,686) 2,676,016
(1,047,988) (1,016,420) (31,568)
1,483,073,496 1,374,092,594 108,980,902
33,630,477 17,591,761 16,038,716
65,867,381 62,663,715 3,203,666
8,810,378 (4,004,476) 12,814,854

$ 1,591,381,732

$ 1,450,343,594

$ 141,038,138
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Yukon Legislative Assembly
Operation and maintenance
Legislative services 4,044,000 - 4,044,000 3,601,849 442,151
Legislative Assembly Office 1,126,000 - 1,126,000 926,748 199,252
Retirement allowances and death benefits 2,730,000 205,000 2,935,000 3,692,854 (757,854)
Hansard 597,000 - 597,000 476,993 120,007
Conflicts Commission 41,000 - 41,000 36,199 4,801
8,538,000 205,000 8,743,000 8,734,643 8,357
Capital
Legislative Assembly Office 41,000 - 41,000 40,359 641
Total expenses 8,579,000 205,000 8,784,000 8,775,002 8,998
Elections Office
Operation and maintenance
Elections 544,000 311,000 855,000 845,781 9,219
Capital
Office Furniture and Equipment 5,000 - 5,000 4,631 369
Total expenses 549,000 311,000 860,000 850,412 9,588




GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

0L

Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Office of the Ombudsman
Operation and maintenance
Office of the Ombudsman 1,381,000 - 1,381,000 1,377,609 $ 3,391
Capital
Office of the Ombudsman 10,000 - 10,000 9,780 220
Amortization expense 12,000 - 12,000 11,997 3
Total expenses 1,403,000 - 1,403,000 1,399,386 3,614
Child and Youth Advocate Office
Operation and maintenance
Child and Youth Advocate Office 700,000 50,000 750,000 744,664 5,336
Capital
Child and Youth Advocate Office 3,000 - 3,000 2,160 840
Total expenses 703,000 50,000 753,000 746,824 6,176
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Executive Council Office
Operation and maintenance
Strategic corporate services 3,919,000 $ 79,000 3,998,000 $ 3,951,130 $ 46,870
Aboriginal relations 8,242,000 675,000 8,917,000 8,340,717 576,283
Corporate programs and intergovernmental relations 6,931,000 130,000 7,061,000 6,792,828 268,172
Government internal audit services 614,000 - 614,000 408,184 205,816
Office of the Commissioner 305,000 - 305,000 213,691 91,309
Cabinet Offices 3,323,000 - 3,323,000 2,757,467 565,533
COVID-19 pandemic - - - 389,480 (389,480)
23,334,000 884,000 24,218,000 22,853,497 1,364,503
Capital
Strategic corporate services 20,000 - 20,000 9,460 10,540
Amortization expense 9,000 - 9,000 9,373 (373)
Total expenses 23,363,000 884,000 24,247,000 22,872,330 1,374,670
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Community Services
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 Response - 12,575,000 12,575,000 9,890,498 2,684,502
Corporate services 4,603,000 - 4,603,000 4,740,580 (137,580)
Protective services 37,296,000 (3,000,000) 34,296,000 34,095,635 200,365
Community development 46,732,000 100,000 46,832,000 46,081,905 750,095
Corporate policy and consumer affairs 11,892,000 180,000 12,072,000 12,131,907 (59,907)
100,523,000 9,855,000 110,378,000 106,940,525 3,437,475
Capital
COVID-19 Response - 190,000 190,000 185,791 4,209
Corporate services - - - - -
Protective services 2,191,000 510,000 2,701,000 1,856,142 844,858
Community development 113,016,000 (425,000) 112,591,000 92,036,693 20,554,307
Corporate policy and consumer affairs 2,110,000 - 2,110,000 2,804,524 (694,524)
117,317,000 275,000 117,592,000 96,883,150 20,708,850
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3,331,000) (3,356,000) (6,687,000) (3,039,592) (3,647,408)
Land development costs transferred to
land inventory (26,926,000) - (26,926,000) (19,499,714) (7,426,286)
Local improvement costs transferred to -
loans receivable (2,100,000) - (2,100,000) (2,255,670) 155,670
84,960,000 (3,081,000) 81,879,000 72,088,174 9,790,826
Cost of land sold 22,336,000 - 22,336,000 33,630,477 (11,294,477)
Amortization expense 6,274,000 - 6,274,000 6,777,069 (503,069)
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Community Services
Bad debts expense 16,000 $ - 16,000 $ 540,013 (524,013)
Total expenses 214,109,000 6,774,000 220,883,000 219,976,258 906,742
Economic Development
Operation and maintenance
Pandemic - 23,493,000 23,493,000 16,291,241 7,201,759
Corporate services 2,084,000 70,000 2,154,000 2,051,218 102,782
Policy, planning and communications 1,977,000 - 1,977,000 1,564,855 412,145
Business and industry development 8,118,000 (325,000) 7,793,000 7,379,228 413,772
Regional economic development 5,186,000 (78,000) 5,108,000 4,516,475 591,525
17,365,000 23,160,000 40,525,000 31,803,017 8,721,983
Capital
Corporate services 8,000 - 8,000 7,423 577
Business and industry development 1,062,000 - 1,062,000 1,061,387 613
1,070,000 - 1,070,000 1,068,810 1,190
Total expenses 18,435,000 23,160,000 41,595,000 32,871,827 8,723,173
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Education
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - $ 6,580,000 $ 6,580,000 $ 6,073,698 506,302
Education support services 4,449,000 129,000 4,578,000 3,984,227 593,773
Schools and student services 127,692,000 (587,000) 127,105,000 124,789,362 2,315,638
Policy and partnerships 25,453,000 (5,572,000) 19,881,000 16,982,936 2,898,064
Yukon University 27,123,000 - 27,123,000 28,531,922 (1,408,922)
First Nations initiatives 8,278,000 (54,000) 8,224,000 7,526,360 697,640
192,995,000 496,000 193,491,000 187,888,505 5,602,495
Capital
COVID-19 response - 800,000 800,000 394,135 405,865
Schools and student services 24,324,000 (5,505,000) 18,819,000 15,931,806 2,887,194
Yukon University 400,000 400,000 400,000 -
24,724,000 (4,705,000) 20,019,000 16,725,941 3,293,059
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (15,179,000) 1,327,000 (13,852,000) (12,872,373) (979,627)
Amortization expense 8,490,000 (950,000) 7,540,000 7,683,112 (143,112)
Total expenses 211,030,000 (3,832,000) 207,198,000 199,425,185 7,772,815
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Energy, Mines and Resources
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - $ 1,100,000 $ 1,100,000 1,100,000 -
Corporate services 3,507,000 - 3,507,000 3,291,758 215,242
Sustainable resources 11,307,000 188,000 11,495,000 10,915,106 579,894
Energy, corporate policy and communications 11,169,000 523,000 11,692,000 9,238,244 2,453,756
Oil and gas and mineral resources 28,491,000 1,106,000 29,597,000 25,719,467 3,877,533
Client services and partnerships 8,914,000 60,000 8,974,000 8,429,698 544,302
63,388,000 2,977,000 66,365,000 58,694,273 7,670,727
Capital
Corporate services 75,000 - 75,000 71,240 3,760
Sustainable resources 425,000 - 425,000 354,839 70,161
500,000 - 500,000 426,079 73,921
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets (225,000) - (225,000) (192,040) (32,960)
Land development costs transferred to
land inventory (250,000) - (250,000) (143,881) (106,119)
25,000 - 25,000 90,158 (65,158)
Amortization expense 462,000 - 462,000 515,780 (53,780)
Environmental liabilities (net) (2,200,000) 1,980,000 (220,000) (54,710) (165,290)
Total expenses 61,675,000 4,957,000 66,632,000 59,245,501 7,386,499
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Environment
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - 1,193,000 1,193,000 $ 1,222,968 $  (29,968)
Corporate services 11,495,000 515,000 12,010,000 10,945,739 1,064,261
Environmental sustainability 26,122,000 439,000 26,561,000 26,430,569 130,431
Environmental liabilities and remediation 7,203,000 - 7,203,000 2,905,558 4,297,442
44,820,000 2,147,000 46,967,000 41,504,834 5,462,166
Capital
Corporate services 410,000 1,000 411,000 483,079 (72,079)
Environmental sustainability 1,609,000 - 1,609,000 1,473,940 135,060
2,019,000 1,000 2,020,000 1,957,019 62,981
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (440,000) - (440,000) (1,106,836) 666,836
1,579,000 1,000 1,580,000 850,183 729,817
Amortization expense 555,000 - 555,000 583,573 (28,573)
Write-down/disposal loss of tangible capital assets - - - 11,281 (11,281)
Environmental liabilities (net) (4,098,000) - (4,098,000) (831,973) (3,266,027)
Total expenses 42,856,000 2,148,000 45,004,000 42,117,898 2,886,102
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Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Finance
Operation and maintenance
Corporate services 1,155,000 $ - $ 1,155,000 $ 1,183,720 $ (28,720)
COVID-19 response - - - 39,649 (39,649)
Financial operations and revenue services 3,899,000 - 3,899,000 3,457,142 441,858
Economics, fiscal policy and statistics 2,813,000 - 2,813,000 2,710,339 102,661
Management board secretariat 2,414,000 - 2,414,000 2,599,435 (185,435)
Office of the Comptroller 1,018,000 - 1,018,000 955,151 62,849
Workers' compensation supplementary benefits 275,000 - 275,000 308,560 (33,560)
Amortization expense 130,000 (23,000) 107,000 105,402 1,598
Bad debts expense 48,000 - 48,000 95,634 (47,634)
Transfers through the tax system 2,552,000 - 2,552,000 2,065,686 486,314
Total expenses 14,304,000 (23,000) 14,281,000 13,520,717 760,283
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Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
French Language Services Directorate
Operation and maintenance
French language services 6,302,000 $ 400,000 $ 6,702,000 6,445,386 256,614
Health and Social Services
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - 39,695,000 39,695,000 43,195,000 (3,500,000)
Corporate services 18,844,000 1,805,000 20,649,000 16,562,937 4,086,063
Family and children's services 44,919,000 3,556,000 48,475,000 47,158,000 1,317,000
Social supports 44,904,000 2,124,000 47,028,000 45,026,595 2,001,405
Community and program support 9,904,000 1,581,000 11,485,000 12,512,015 (1,027,015)
Mental wellness and substance use services 20,256,000 271,000 20,527,000 21,799,709 (1,272,709)
Health services 145,056,000 2,385,000 147,441,000 134,146,199 13,294,801
Continuing care 83,364,000 1,285,000 84,649,000 79,059,233 5,589,767
Yukon hospital services 81,333,000 248,000 81,581,000 79,131,302 2,449,698
448,580,000 52,950,000 501,530,000 478,590,990 22,939,010
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Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Health and Social Services
Capital
Corporate services $ - $ 7,582,000 $ - $ 7,582,000 $ 7,218,086 $ 363,914
Family and children's services 185,000 - - 185,000 146,827 38,173
Social supports 1,015,000 - - 1,015,000 172,204 842,796
Community and program support 30,000 - - 30,000 13,873 16,127
Mental wellness and substance use services 20,000 - - 20,000 272,367 (252,367)
Health services 2,453,000 - - 2,453,000 2,216,254 236,746
Continuing care 5,112,000 510,000 - 5,622,000 3,788,402 1,833,598
Yukon hospital services 4,000,000 1,750,000 - 5,750,000 5,750,000 -
12,815,000 9,842,000 - 22,657,000 19,578,013 3,078,987
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (902,000) (660,000) - (1,562,000) (2,946,168) 1,384,168
11,913,000 9,182,000 - 21,095,000 16,631,845 4,463,155
Amortization expense 7,725,000 - - 7,725,000 7,727,822 (2,822)
Write-down of tangible capital assets - - - - 492,910 (492,910)

Total expenses 468,218,000 62,132,000 - 530,350,000 503,443,567 26,906,433
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Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Highways and Public Works
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - $ 12,595,000 $ - 12,595,000 $ 6,686,766 5,908,234
Corporate services 14,264,000 220,000 - 14,484,000 14,400,321 83,679
Information and communications technology 22,518,000 431,000 - 22,949,000 22,578,713 370,287
Transportation 63,491,000 3,994,000 - 67,485,000 68,325,611 (840,611)
Property management 44,346,000 628,000 - 44,974,000 43,909,474 1,064,526
Program Specific - - - - (20,334) 20,334
Central Stores write off - - - - (133,115) 133,115
144,619,000 17,868,000 - 162,487,000 155,747,436 6,739,564
Less lease payments for leased tangible (1,048,000) - - (1,048,000) (1,047,988) (12)
capital assets transferred to liabilities
143,571,000 17,868,000 - 161,439,000 154,699,448 6,739,552
Capital
COVID-19 response - 653,000 - 653,000 639,598 13,402
Information and communications technology 15,700,000 (2,500,000) - 13,200,000 13,189,095 10,905
Transportation 87,958,000 9,962,000 - 97,920,000 90,160,740 7,759,260
Property management 60,160,000 (30,462,000) - 29,698,000 23,316,618 6,381,382
163,818,000 (22,347,000) - 141,471,000 127,306,051 14,164,949
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (63,789,000) (6,682,000) - (70,471,000) (63,586,253) (6,884,747)
100,029,000 (29,029,000) - 71,000,000 63,719,798 7,280,202
Amortization expense 30,899,000 (438,000) - 30,461,000 33,184,637 (2,723,637)
Write-down/disposal loss of tangible capital assets - - - - 1,929,101 (1,929,101)
Rental expense recognized from prepaid expenses 103,000 - - 103,000 102,527 473
Total expenses 274,602,000 (11,599,000) - 263,003,000 253,635,511 9,367,489
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Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Justice
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 Response $ - $ 768,000 $ - $ 768,000 $ 627,935 $ 140,065
Management services 4,557,000 - - 4,557,000 4,279,940 277,060
Court services 7,278,000 13,000 - 7,291,000 7,454,732 (163,732)
Legal services 9,209,000 - - 9,209,000 9,933,268 (724,268)
Regulatory services 4,740,000 - - 4,740,000 4,546,331 193,669
Community justice and public safety 48,581,000 511,000 - 49,092,000 47,186,308 1,905,692
Human rights 756,000 - - 756,000 781,340 (25,340)
75,121,000 1,292,000 - 76,413,000 74,809,854 1,603,146
Capital
Management services 1,485,000 (1,060,000) - 425,000 92,989 332,011
Court services 75,000 - - 75,000 73,620 1,380
Community justice and public safety 2,323,000 350,000 - 2,673,000 2,585,029 87,971
3,883,000 (710,000) - 3,173,000 2,751,638 421,362
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,400,000) 719,000 - (681,000) (431,794) (249,206)
2,483,000 9,000 - 2,492,000 2,319,844 172,156
Amortization expense 2,840,000 - - 2,840,000 2,856,534 (16,534)

Total expenses 80,444,000 1,301,000 - 81,745,000 79,986,232 1,758,768
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Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Public Service Commission
Operation and maintenance
Corporate services 2,685,000 $ (2,000) 2,683,000 $ 2,624,766 $ 58,234
Human resource service centre 7,747,000 144,000 7,891,000 7,380,891 510,109
People and culture 5,916,000 (37,000) 5,879,000 5,301,705 577,295
Employee relations 5,019,000 (105,000) 4,914,000 5,086,298 (172,298)
Corporate funds 31,667,000 559,000 32,226,000 32,195,666 30,334
53,034,000 559,000 53,593,000 52,589,326 1,003,674
Capital
Corporate services 50,000 - 50,000 32,618 17,382
People and culture 23,000 - 23,000 4,860 18,140
Employee relations 10,000 - 10,000 - 10,000
83,000 - 83,000 37,478 45,522
Amortization expense 266,000 - 266,000 274,581 (8,581)
Total expenses 53,383,000 559,000 53,942,000 52,901,385 1,040,615
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Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Tourism and Culture
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - 7,847,000 $ 7,847,000 5,445,509 $ 2,401,491
Corporate services 2,585,000 (125,000) 2,460,000 2,448,010 11,990
Cultural services 13,527,000 (30,000) 13,497,000 12,680,014 816,986
Tourism 12,604,000 (145,000) 12,459,000 11,404,818 1,054,182
28,716,000 7,547,000 36,263,000 31,978,351 4,284,649
Capital
Corporate services 10,000 - 10,000 7,652 2,348
Cultural services 2,119,000 (100,000) 2,019,000 1,271,131 747,869
Tourism 500,000 - 500,000 489,782 10,218
2,629,000 (100,000) 2,529,000 1,768,565 760,435
Less acquisition of tangible capital assets (500,000) 100,000 (400,000) (271,281) (128,719)
2,129,000 - 2,129,000 1,497,284 631,716
Total expenses 31,894,000 7,547,000 39,441,000 34,641,034 4,799,966
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Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Women's Directorate
Operation and maintenance
COVID-19 response - - - 1,600 (1,600)
Policy and program development 2,696,000 194,000 2,890,000 2,767,780 122,220
Total expenses 2,696,000 194,000 2,890,000 2,769,380 120,620
Yukon Development Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Operation and maintenance
Interim electrical rebate 3,500,000 - 3,500,000 3,429,309 70,691
Mayo B rate payer support 2,625,000 - 2,625,000 2,625,000 -
6,125,000 - 6,125,000 6,054,309 70,691
Capital
Innovative renewable energy initiative 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 -
Arctic energy fund 3,750,000 - 3,750,000 - 3,750,000
Investing in Canada infrastructure program - 20,875,000 20,875,000 15,251,582 5,623,418
5,250,000 20,875,000 26,125,000 16,751,582 9,373,418
Total expenses 11,375,000 20,875,000 32,250,000 22,805,891 9,444,109
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Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Yukon Housing Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Operation and maintenance
Gross expenditures 19,431,000 - 19,431,000 19,197,331 233,669
Less: Rental revenues (6,665,000) - (6,665,000) (7,246,577) 581,577
Recoveries (5,782,000) - (5,782,000) (5,842,336) 60,336
6,984,000 - 6,984,000 6,108,418 875,582
Capital
Gross expenditures 35,532,000 1,588,000 37,120,000 29,356,089 7,763,911
Less: Recoveries (6,462,000) - (6,462,000) (6,956,564) 494,564
Loan expenditures (5,280,000) - (5,280,000) (4,987,949) (292,051)
23,790,000 1,588,000 25,378,000 17,411,576 7,966,424
Total expenses 30,774,000 1,588,000 32,362,000 23,519,994 8,842,006




981

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 4
Schedule of Expenses by Department
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Loan Capital and Loan Amortization
Operation and maintenance
Loans to third parties 5,000,000 $ - $ - 5,000,000 $ - $ 5,000,000
Less loan advances transferred to
loans receivable (5,000,000) - - (5,000,000) - (5,000,000)
Total expenses - - - - - -
Restricted Funds
Net expenditures (10,266,000) - - (10,266,000) 4,459,910 (14,725,910)
Amortization expense 4,439,000 - - 4,439,000 4,972,102 (533,102)
Total expenses (5,827,000) - - (5,827,000) 9,432,012 (15,259,012)
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Schedule of Expenses by Department
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Appropriation
Main Supplementary Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Transfers Estimates Actual Estimates
Totals
Operation and maintenance 1,242,339,000 $ 120,895,000 - 1,363,234,000 $ 1,287,734,794 §$ 75,499,206
Capital 357,977,000 4,719,000 - 362,696,000 302,732,292 59,963,708
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets (85,766,000) (8,552,000) - (94,318,000) (84,446,337) (9,871,663)
Land development costs transferred to
land held for sale (27,176,000) - - (27,176,000) (19,643,595) (7,532,405)
Loan advances transferred to loans receivable (7,100,000) - - (7,100,000) (2,255,670) (4,844,330)
Lease payments for leased tangible
capital assets transferred to liabilities (1,048,000) - - (1,048,000) (1,047,988) (12)
Cost of land sold 22,336,000 - - 22,336,000 33,630,477 (11,294,477)
Amortization expenses 63,150,000 (1,411,000) - 61,739,000 65,867,381 (4,128,381)
Other expenses not appropriated (13,845,000) 1,980,000 - (11,865,000) 8,810,379 (20,675,379)

Adjustments

(29,102,000)

(17,601,000)

(46,703,000)

(46,703,000)

1,521,765,000

100,030,000

1,621,795,000

1,591,381,732

30,413,268
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Over Other
Department Accruals Recoveries Total
Health and Social Services $ 125,653 $ 128,659 $ 254,312
Community Services 12,755 231,520 244275
Justice 202,202 30,973 233,175
Tourism and Culture - 99,913 99,913
Executive Council Office 28,026 71,084 99,110
Highways and Public Works 894 51,471 52,365
Economic Development 8,080 36,224 44,304
Energy, Mines and Resources - 44,291 44,291
Finance 3,656 4,432 8,088
Environment 3 3,320 3,323
Child and Youth Advocate - 2,729 2,729
Public Service Commission - 1,668 1,668
Legislative Assembly 532 - 532
Education 14,355 (15,877) (1,522)
$ 396,156 $ 690,407 $ 1,086,563

188
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Road and Wildland
External Airport Queen's Vehicle Fire
Youth Health Professional Equipment Printer Fleet Suppression
Recycling Investment Investment Development Conservation Reserve Revolving Revolving Revolving
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund
CLOSED CLOSED
Revenues
Appropriation $ 175,000 $ 102,000 $ 50,000 $ 25000 $ - $ -8 - % -3 -
Operating 5,653,733 - - 42 16,808,334 - 4,870,417 -
5,828,733 102,000 50,000 25,000 42 16,808,334 - 4,870,417 -
Expenses
Operating 4,709,696 69,406 - - - 10,333,321 (326,776) 2,318,217 -
Amortization - - - - - 3,407,887 - 1,564,215 -
4,709,696 69,406 - - - 13,741,208 (326,776) 3,882,432 -
Net profit (loss) for the year 1,119,037 32,594 50,000 25,000 42 3,067,126 326,776 987,985 -
Adjustments for the Financial
Administration Act requirements
Acquisition of capital assets - - - - (2,923,721) - (351,284) -
Amortization of capital assets - - - - 3,407,887 - 1,564,215 -
(Gain) loss on sale of capital assets - - - - (25,000) - - -
Proceeds on sale of capital
assets - - - - 25,000 - - -
Balance at beginning of year 1,048,866 23,020 151,373 59,325 167,509 4,417,328 (326,776) 4,971,228 -
Balance at end of year $ 2,167,903 $§ 55614 $ 201,373 $§ 84,325 $ 167551 $§ 7,968,620 $ - $ 7172144 § -
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Road and Wildland
External Airport Queen's Vehicle Fire
Youth Health Professional Equipment Printer Fleet Suppression
Recycling Investment Investment Development Conservation Reserve Revolving Revolving Revolving
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund
Assets and liabilities that are specific to each Fund and included in the Government's assets and liabilities are as follows:
Assets
Accounts receivable $ 433,190 $ - 3 - 3 - $ - $ 27,065 - $ 27,453 $ -
Tangible capital assets - - - - - 36,722,978 - 7,074,417 -
433,190 - - - - 36,750,043 - 7,101,870 -
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 22,011 - - - - 50,536 - 346,490 -
Accumulated surplus (deficit) of the Funds that are included in the Government's accumulated surplus are as follows:
Accumulated surplus (deficit) $ 2,167,903 § 55614 $ 201,373 § 84325 § 167,551 $ 44,691,598 - $11,733,715 § -
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Risk Yukon Elijah Carbon Region Relief
Management Historic Corrections  Smith Forest Rebate and Recovery
Revolving Assurance Resources Revolving Renewal Revolving Revolving 2021 2020
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Total
Revenues
Appropriation $ 2,064,867 $ - $ 28265 $ - $ -3 -3 - $ 2445132 $ 32,884,627
Operating 58,241 277,372 - 83,531 10,962 14,886,802 100,000 42,749,434 29,984,092
2,123,108 277,372 28,265 83,531 10,962 14,886,802 100,000 45,194,566 62,868,719
Expenses
Operating 2,123,108 20 14,508 84,223 - 14,886,802 100,000 34,312,525 52,899,864
Amortization - - - - - - 4,972,102 4,626,308
2,123,108 20 14,508 84,223 - 14,886,802 100,000 39,284,627 57,526,172
Net profit (loss) for the year - 277,352 13,757 (692) 10,962 - - 5,909,939 5,342,547
Adjustments for the Financial
Administration Act requirements
Acquisition of capital assets - - - - - - - (3,275,005) (8,540,284)
Amortization of capital assets - - - - - - - 4,972,102 4,626,308
Gain on sale of capital assets - - - - - - - (25,000) (141,472)
Proceeds on sale of capital
assets - - - - - - - 25,000 223,904
Balance at beginning of year 5,000,000 5,569,778 1,202,908 123,184 242,461 - - 22,650,204 21,465,977
Balance at end of year $ 5,000,000 $ 5,847,130 §$ 1,216,665 $ 122492 § 253423 $ -3 - $ 30,257,240 $ 22,976,980
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Schedule of Restricted Funds
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Risk Yukon Elijah Carbon Region Relief
Management Historic Corrections  Smith Forest Rebate and Recovery
Revolving Assurance Resources Revolving Renewal Revolving Revolving 2021 2020
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Total
Assets and liabilities that are specific to each Fund and included in the Government's assets and liabilities are as follows:
Assets
Accounts receivable $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 487,708 $ 541,538
Tangible capital assets - - - - - - - 43,797,395 45,497,419
- - - - - - - 44,285,103 46,038,957
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 1,587,552 - - - - 6,919,720 3,833,334 12,759,643 5,574,716
Accumulated surplus (deficit) of the Funds that are included in the Government's accumulated surplus are as follows:
Accumulated surplus (deficit) $ 5,000,000 $ 5,847,131 § 1,216,665 $ 122492 § 253424 $ - $ - $ 71,541,791 $ 65,631,850
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Garage Parts
and Highway Fire Management
Fuel Inventory Central Stores Materials Fuel & Retardant 2021 2020
Fund Fund Fund Inventory Total Total
Opening inventory $ 2,175,196 $ 281,075 $ 3,032,152 § 1,422,694 §$ 6,911,117 $ 6,194,434
Add purchases 2,826,592 551,071 3,412,608 260,100 7,050,371 11,101,796
5,001,788 832,146 6,444,760 1,682,794 13,961,488 17,296,230
Less: Consumption 3,055,790 844,600 3,494,006 192,934 7,587,330 10,263,116
Inventory adjustments - 112,449 - - 112,449 121,997

Closing inventory $ 1,945,998 $ 99,995 §$ 2,950,754 $ 1,489,860 $ 6,486,607 $ 6,911,117
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Schedule of Legislated Grants
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Main Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Community Services
Comprehensive municipal grants $ 20,019,000 $ 20,019,000 $ 20,018,708 $ 292
Community Recreation Assistance Grants 818,000 818,000 780,311 37,689
In-lieu of property taxes 9,759,000 9,759,000 9,407,384 351,616
Home owner grants 4,104,000 4,104,000 4,041,607 62,393
34,700,000 34,700,000 34,248,010 451,990
Education
Post secondary student grants 5,034,000 5,034,000 4,358,069 675,931
Student transportation 116,000 116,000 70,639 45,361
Student accommodation (boarding subsidy) 30,000 30,000 13,225 16,775
5,180,000 5,180,000 4,441,933 738,067
Finance
Workers' compensation supplementary
benefits 275,000 275,000 308,560 (33,560)
275,000 275,000 308,560 (33,560)
Health and Social Services
Social assistance - Whitehorse 18,194,000 19,694,000 20,805,653 (1,111,653)
Social assistance - region 3,068,000 3,568,000 3,239,033 328,967
Pioneer utility grant 1,946,000 2,056,000 2,055,299 701
Yukon seniors' income supplement 1,713,000 1,773,000 1,812,469 (39,469)
Child care subsidies 2,551,000 2,551,000 1,003,014 1,547,986
Medical travel subsidies 1,888,000 2,138,000 1,693,214 444,786
Adoption subsidies 180,000 180,000 79,709 100,291
Total appropriated 29,540,000 31,960,000 30,688,391 1,271,609
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Schedule of Legislated Grants
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Main Revised Under (Over)
Estimates Estimates Actual Estimates
Finance
Yukon child benefit $ 1,900,000 $ 1,900,000 $ 1,518,637 $ 381,363
Research and development tax credit 600,000 600,000 497,154 102,846
Children's fitness tax credit 52,000 52,000 49,895 2,105
Total transfers through the tax system 2,552,000 2,552,000 2,065,686 486,314

$ 72,247,000 $ 74,667,000 $ 71,752,580 $ 2,914,420

195



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
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Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Executive Council Office
Other transfer payments
Aboriginal relations
- implementation initiatives - board and councils $ 4,017,000 $ 3,617,000 3,583,342
- Yukon Land Use Planning Commission 689,876
- Yukon Fish and Wildlife Management Board 609,083
- Dawson Planning Commission 335,153
- Yukon Heritage Resources Board 233,255
- North Yukon Renewable Resources Council 175,962
- Teslin Renewable Resources Council 170,359
- Dawson District Renewable Resources Council 166,437
- Mayo District Renewable Resources Council 166,437
- Alsek Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Carcross/Tagish Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Carmacks Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Dan Keyi Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Laberge Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Selkirk Renewable Resources Council 159,151
- Yukon Geographical Place Names Board 81,874
- various First Nations other 150,000 150,000 15,000
- Gordon Foundation 15,000
Council for Yukon First Nations 100,000 100,000 125,000
Youth strategy initiatives 1,515,000 1,575,000 1,488,472
- Bringing Youth Towards Equality Society 331,600
- Boys and Girls Club of Yukon 219,400
- Youth of Today Society 271,000
- Heart of Riverdale Community Centre 258,000
- Youth Investment Fund 102,000
- Big Brothers Big Sisters of Yukon 38,614
- Association franco-yukonnaise 25,000
- various youth groups 242,858
Intergovernmental Relations 297,728
- The Salvation Army Alaska 25,000
- Rideau Hall Foundation - Arctic Inspiration Prize 100,000 100,000 100,000
- University of Alberta 200,000 200,000 32,500
- Yukon University 58,232
- Carlton University 11,069
- Canadian Mountain Network 30,927
- Mitacs Inc. 40,000
- various transfer payments 60,000
Strategic Corporate Services
- BYTE - Climate Change 57,600
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 5,000 5,000 4,600
Total other government transfers 6,147,000 5,747,000 5,571,742
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Community Services
Funding programs
COVID-19 Response
- Emergency Support Fund for Sport Organizations $ - 1,941,000 2,205,105
- Northern Support Phase 2 - 4,350,000 4,350,001
Recycling Fund - - 77,500
Sport 2,895,000 2,895,000 2,504,144
Community recreation/active living 1,197,000 1,197,000 1,262,143
Fire management - FireSmart 850,000 850,000 834,057
4,942,000 11,233,000 11,232,950
Other transfer payments
Small Communities fund 10,175,000 10,175,000 18,897,761
Investing in Canada infrastructure program 32,392,000 29,096,000 41,321,009
Clean Water Wastewater fund 450,000 450,000 847,911
Community library boards 399,000 399,000 349,545
- Watson Lake Library Board 57,779
- Dawson City Library Board 53,122
- Carcross Library Board 35,194
- Haines Junction Library Board 33,221
- Carmacks Library Board 33,031
- Teslin Library Board 33,243
- Mayo Library Board 22,177
- Faro Library Board 22,295
- Beaver Creek Library Board 15,421
- Tagish Library Board 16,168
- Pelly Crossing Library Board 16,375
- Burwash Landing Library Board 11,519
Kwanlin DUn First Nation
- Whistle Bend Phase 4 35,720
Municipal ground water monitoring 111,000 111,000 135,470
- Town of Watson Lake 13,496
- City of Dawson 35,000
- Village of Carmacks 14,861
- Town of Faro 11,173
- Village of Mayo 14,345
- Various recipients 46,595
Solid waste - landfill agreements 239,000 239,000 205,000
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 80,000
- City of Dawson 75,000
- Town of Watson Lake 50,000
Association of Yukon Communities 100,000 100,000 100,000
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Community Services
Other transfer payments (continued)
Community/Local Advisory Council - operation
and maintenance $ 72,000 $ 72,000 $ 76,190
- Hamlet of Mount Lorne 15,238
- Marsh Lake Local Advisory Council 15,238
- South Klondike Local Advisory Council 15,238
- Tagish Area Advisory Committee 15,238
- Hamlet of Ibex Valley 15,238
Volunteer Benevoles Yukon Society 67,000 67,000 67,000
Emergency medical services
- Volunteer Ambulance Services Society 94,924
- volunteer awards fund 110,000 110,000 12,583
- volunteer education 53,925
- volunteer community allowances 28,416
Emergency Management Organization 28,314
- National Defense - public safety
broadband network 577,000 577,000
- emergency measures preparation - - 28,314
Kluane First Nation
- recreation/community centre - - 10,511
Carcross Recreation Board - - 25,000
Tagish Community Association - - 8,955
Lorne Mountain Community Association - - 23,755
Marsh Lake Community Society - - 16,485
Fire management - research 10,000 10,000 -
Champagne and Aishihik First Nations - - 2,167,485
Village of Carmacks 27,585
Gas tax fund 1,062,000 1,062,000
YG led fuel management and fire mitigation projects 454,740
Fire management - Beat the Heat Training Camp 4,000 4,000 8,034
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 54,000 46,412
45,768,000 42,526,000 64,947,806
Total other government transfers 50,710,000 53,759,000 76,180,756
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Economic Development
Funding programs
Community development fund $ 2,950,000 $ 2,950,000 2,593,830
Media development incentive programs 710,000 710,000 1,165,140
Regional economic development fund 800,000 800,000 604,216
Strategic industries development fund 800,000 800,000 549,630
Enterprise trade fund 360,000 360,000 143,591
5,620,000 5,620,000 5,056,407
Other transfer payments
COVID-19 Response
Yukon Business Relief Program - 12,024,000 9,776,829
Yukon Essential Workers Income Support - 4,336,000 5,470,399
Regional Relief and Recovery Fund - 3,933,000 -
Paid Sick Leave Rebate - 1,200,000 661,437
COVID-19 Additional Supports - 2,000,000 110,440
- Regional Economic Development 15,440
- Business & Industry Development 95,000
Yukon University 967,000
- innovation & entrepreneurship 835,000 835,000 835,000
-Yukon innovation prize management 105,000 105,000 105,000
- incubation program funding support 20,000
- summer business school video & learning mgmt system 7,000
Yukon First Nation Investment Limited Partnership
Panache Ventures Investment fund 500,000 267,000 500,000
Yukon Gold Mining Alliance 397,000 397,000 397,500
- Yukon exploration & mining investment attraction - 397,500
Yukonstruct Society 343,618
- Canada Yukon business service centre 200,000 -
- operational support/pathfinding services 150,000 250,000 250,000
- hall of innovators awards & display 30,000
- entrepreneur docu-series 14,000
- northern impact feasibility analysis 25,000
- kitchen upgrade for program use 24,618
Whitehorse Chamber of Commerce 120,000 120,000 164,953
- operational support 139,953
- Yuwin project - 25,000
Yukon Information Technology Industry Society (YITIS) 125,000 125,000 133,455
- TechYukon consolidated projects - 68,455
- operational support 65,000
Yukon First Nations Chamber of Commerce 125,000 125,000 101,000
- operational support 101,000
Sundog Retreat - sundog veggies 92,500
Yukon Chamber of Commerce, The 75,000 75,000 74,040
- operational support 74,040
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Economic Development
Other transfer payments (continued)
Music Yukon $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000
- operational support 50,000
Screen Production Yukon Association 50,000 50,000 50,000
- operational support 50,000
Tr'ondék Hweéch'in - mineral exploration opportunities 50,000
The Wandering Bison - freeze dried meals 47,965
MacBride Museum Society - music planning & development 37,500
Youth of Today Society - 2021 millennial town hall - virtual event 33,800
Council of Yukon First Nations - Yukon forum priorities collaboration 33,413
Bonton & Company Ltd - renovations & capital purchases 29,250
Pixel Box Studio Inc - work stations for training 29,250
Yukon Arts Centre Corporation 29,010
Déna Naye Ventures 28,385
- micro loan program 35,000 35,000 28,385
- business development program 26,000 26,000 -
Habitat for Humanity Yukon Society - develop social enterprise plan 26,250
Village of Teslin - mentoring project manager pilot 25,000
Creative Lab North Society - executive director pilot 24,000
Friends of Mount Sima - training & financial review 15,000
536228 Yukon Inc - marketing mentorship opportunities 15,000
Yukon Helpers Network 15,000
- cell phones, computers, tablets & accessories
Miscellaneous transfer payments 332,000 332,000
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 1,607
3,125,000 26,285,000 19,333,601
Total other government transfers 8,745,000 31,905,000 24,390,008
Education
Funding programs
Labour market development agreement 4,149,000 4,261,000 2,728,459
Workforce development agreement 2,462,000 999,000 2,729,985
COVID-19 WDA Funding - 2,997,000 1,674,823
Community training fund 1,390,000 1,390,000 920,338
Student training and employment program 366,000 366,000 279,088
Yukon summer program 114,000 114,000 92,876
8,481,000 10,127,000 8,425,569
Other transfer payments
COVID-19 Financial Relief for Families - 1,280,000
- Sport Yukon 1,279,875
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Education
Other transfer payments (continued)
COVID-19 Tutor Support
- Learning Disabilities Association of Yukon 10,000 $ 36,000
- Liard First Nation 10,000
- Skookum Jim Friendship Centre 10,000
- various recipients 6,000
Yukon University
- operational funding 23,596,000 23,596,000 24,796,266
- Yukon Research Centre 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,347,876
- Centre for Northern Innovation in Mining 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000
- licensed practical nurse program 491,000 491,000 737,780
- Northern Institute of Social Justice 450,000 450,000 450,000
- youth exploring trades 75,000 75,000 75,000
Commission scolaire francophone du Yukon
- operations and maintenance 7,131,000 1,360,000 1,252,975
- additional Support under COVID funding - - 257,300
Council of Yukon First Nations
- native language program 1,135,000 1,234,000 1,226,009
Yukon First Nations Education Directorate
- education support 735,000 735,000 735,000
First Nation education agreements 1,510,000 1,560,000 1,488,068
Foundational skills 876,000 876,000 501,202
- Yukon Literacy Coalition - 491,702
- various recipients - 9,500
Association franco-yukonnaise 220,000 220,000 282,000
Special payments for education-related
events/student activities 270,000 258,000 108,585
- Heart of Riverdale 20,000
- Big Brothers & Big Sisters of Yukon 19,500
- Yukon Wildlife Preserve Operating Society 19,116
- Yukon Food for Learning Association 17,000
- various recipients 32,969
Remuneration school councils/committees 257,000 257,000 249,771
- Catholic Education Association of Yukon 28,731
- Association of Yukon School Councils Boards & Committees 10,000
- F.H. Collins Secondary School Council 11,185
- Porter Creek Secondary School Council 11,185
- Watson Lake School Council 11,185
- various recipients 177,485
Tutor program 150,000 150,000 109,197
- Learning Disabilities Association of Yukon 75,000
- Skookum Jim Friendship Centre 33,439
- various recipients 758
Post-secondary student scholarships 119,000 119,000 118,000
- Lester B. Pearson College 68,000
- University of Saskatchewan 50,000
Education related organizations 105,000 105,000 127,331
- Council of Ministers of Education, Canada - 127,331
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Education
Other transfer payments (continued)
Whole child project $ 141,000 $ 141,000 80,934
- Dealing with the Whole Child Society 77,897
- various recipients 3,037
Attendance initiative 50,000 131,000 130,097
- Individual Learning Centre School trust
- Elijah Smith Elementary School trust 13,500
- F.H. Collins Secondary School Trust 20,000
- Gadzoosdaa student residence trust 18,000
- Selkirk Elementary School trust 13,000
- St. Elias Community School trust 10,000
- Teen Parent 10,000
- various recipients 45,597
French second language support 49,000 49,000 45,947
- Whitehorse Elementary School trust 17,591
- various recipients 28,356
First Nations elder program 44,000 44,000 49,550
- Teslin Tlingit Council 30,000
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nations 15,000
- various recipients 4,550
School cultural activities 97,000 97,000 41,000
- Northern Cultural Expressions Society 25,000
- Trondék Hwéch’in 16,000
Apprenticeship initiatives 58,000 58,000 33,620
- Receiver General for Canada 33,620
COVID-19 Response
- Yukon University 480,000 276,716
Schools and Student Services
Commission scolair francophone du Yukon
- capital repairs 19,000 18,788
Yukon University
- Yukon University transition signage 400,000 400,000 400,000
40,545,000 36,771,000 37,454,887
Total other government transfers 49,026,000 46,898,000 45,880,456
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Energy, Mines and Resources
Funding programs
Low carbon economy leadership fund $ 3,760,000 $ 3,760,000 $ 2,141,894
Rebate programs 1,760,000 1,760,000 1,732,170
Yukon mineral exploration program 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
Agriculture - Canadian agricultural partnership 875,000 997,000 760,621
7,795,000 7,917,000 6,034,685
Other transfer payments
COVID-19 Response
- Yukon Mineral Exploration Program - 1,100,000 1,100,000
Mining memorandum of understanding 495,653
- various First Nations 750,000 750,000 322,440
- various recipients 173,213
Geological survey work 215,000 215,000 130,549
- Boise State University 64,718
- Dalhousie University 10,465
- Memorial University 28,050
- Laurentian University 8,300
- Simon Fraser University 19,016
Type Il mine site reclamation
- various Yukon First Nations 466,000 466,000 137,463 137,463
- Town of Faro 50,000 50,000 -
Energy - cost shared projects
- various recipients 47,000 47,000 318,600
Utilities Consumers Group 3,000 3,000 3,000
Yukon Chamber of Mines 100,000 100,000 120,000
Klondike Placer Miners' Association 120,000 120,000 198,609
Yukon Agricultural Association - operational funding 90,000 90,000 90,000
Yukon Wood Products Association 40,000 40,000 30,000
Canadian Council of Forest Ministers 6,000 6,000 15,000
Yukon invasive species council - - 10,000
Agriculture related - non CAP funding - - 54,272
Yukon Science Institute (Yukon-Stikine Regional Science Fair £ 6,000 6,000 4,500
Forest management plans assistance
- various recipients 9,000 9,000 24,600
Oil and gas resources
- various Yukon First Nations 50,000 50,000 87,000
Yukon Women in Mining Association - - 11,500
Na-Cho Nyak Dun First Nation - ATAC - - 200,000
Successor resource legislation working group
- various First Nations 70,000 70,000 -
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Energy, Mines and Resources
Other transfer payments (continued)
Oil and gas and mineral resources - regulatory costs
- various recipients $ 35,000 35,000 42,000
Forestry research
- University of Northern British Columbia 9,000 9,000 -
2,066,000 3,166,000 3,072,746
Total other government transfers 9,861,000 11,083,000 9,107,431
Environment
Other transfer payments
Environment and Climate Change Canada
- environmental sustainability 825,000 825,000 821,641
- Mackenzie River Basin - transboundary agreement 40,000 - 52,683
- Cableway remediation 106,000 106,000 50,000
Yukon Wildlife Preserve Operating Society
- operational costs 732,000 732,000 732,000
- Swan Haven 17,000 17,000 16,600
Yukon University
- climate change research 75,000 75,000 75,000
- Congdon Creek Campground 5,000 - 10,500
Humane Society Yukon 110,000 110,000 117,140
Yukon Energy Corporation - Whitehorse Fish Hatchery 100,000 100,000 120,000
Yukon Fish and Game Association 70,000 70,000 70,000
Porcupine Caribou Management Board 75,000 75,000 75,000
Yukon Conservation Society 50,000 50,000 50,000
Council of Yukon First Nations - - 22,500
Inuvialuit Final Agreement
- Wildlife Management Advisory Council 479,000 479,000 479,000
Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation
- Porcupine caribou herd protection 50,000 50,000 -
Centre for Human-Wildlife Conflict Solutions 40,000 40,000 50,000
University of Toronto 20,000 20,000 -
University of Saskatchewan 10,000 10,000 -
Yukon Fish & Wildlife Management Board - - 13,000
Yukon Trappers' Association 35,000 35,000 33,843
Humane Society Dawson 25,000 25,000 30,000
Animal Protection Program - various Recipients 35,000 35,000 20,750
Livestock Veterinary Services - various Recipients 6,000 6,000 578
Fish and Wildlife Cooperative Research Projects 18,000 18,000 -
Tr'ondék Hwéch'in - Tombstone Territorial Park 16,000 - -
Parks Canada 12,000 - 7,312
Environmental Awareness Fund - various Recipients 30,000 30,000 24,712
Community Water Monitoring Project - various Recipients 24,000 18,000 7,259
Ducks Unlimited 18,000 18,000 18,000
Canadian Wildlife Health Cooperative 14,000 14,000 14,000
Wetland Policy - various recipients 25,000 25,000 -
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 17,000 17,000 19,717
Total other government transfers 3,079,000 3,000,000 2,931,235
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Finance
Other transfer payments
Financial Operations and Revenue Services
- rural community banking 450,000 $ 450,000 501,102
Total other government transfers 450,000 450,000 501,102
French Language Services Directorate
Other transfer payments
Association franco-yukonnaise
- French language training 120,000 120,000 120,000 122,795
- Journée de la Francophonie 5,000 5,000 2,795 -
Quebec - Yukon Intergovernmental Cooperation Program 50,000 50,000 28,068
- Association franco-yukonnaise 13,500
- various recipients 14,568
Ministerial Conference on the Canadian Francophonie 4,000 4,000 4,278
Total other government transfers 179,000 179,000 155,141
Health and Social Services
Funding programs
Child care operating funds 4,454,000 4,454,000 6,561,066
Parents of children with disabilities 690,000 965,000 1,001,250
Employment supports 300,000 300,000 269,616
Employment incentives 390,000 390,000 36,258
5,834,000 6,109,000 7,868,190
Other transfer payments
Yukon Hospital Corporation 79,451,945
- operational funding 76,391,000 76,393,000 73,943,478
- orthopedic program 3,649,000 3,649,000 3,649,000
- Territorial health investment fund - meditech 320,643
- First Nations health 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000
- laboratory services 725,000 725,000 -
- cataract plan 126,000 125,724
- OB-GYN program 120,000 120,100
- Yukon Hospital Foundation 93,000 93,000 93,000
Yukon hospital insurance services 30,678,000 30,678,000 30,617,755
- Yukon residents' health care provided outside Yukon
- Province of British Columbia 23,919,652
- Province of Alberta 1,171,319
- Yukon Hospital Corporation - Whitehorse 1,948,079
- reimbursements to individuals and insurance companies 1,619,337
- contributions to various health agencies 1,143,761
- Canadian Blood Services 480,896
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Health and Social Services
Other transfer payments (continued)
- other provinces and territories $ 334,711
COVID-19 Response 12,904,709
- Yukon Hospital Corporation 6,640,000 8,961,162
- Pandemic Management - Various recipients 5,864,000 3,943,547
Yukon Medical Association 3,681,332
- physician recruitment/retention initiatives 3,518,000 3,518,000 2,495,687
- medical practice insurance 554,000 554,000 667,103
- education 318,000 318,000 353,542
- medical student bursaries 125,000 125,000 165,000
Child Development Centre 2,562,000 2,562,000 2,581,140
Challenge - Disability Resource Group 2,502,769
- Operating 343,000 343,000 469,030
- Granger Haven 748,000 748,000 624,419
- Max's Place 519,000 610,354
- 6-Plex 748,000 748,000 732,966
- Bridges Café 66,000 66,000 66,000
Early learning and child care 2,400,000 2,400,000
Yukon Women's Transition Home Society 1,611,000 1,611,000 1,801,781
Teegatha'Oh Zheh
- operating 1,227,000 1,227,000 1,325,291
- specialized services 73,000 73,000
Options for Independence Society 1,157,000 1,157,000 1,255,633
- semi-independent housing supports 669,893 -
- Aurora Group Home 585,740 -
Canadian Mental Health Association, Yukon Division 1,083,750
- operating 870,000 870,000 933,750
- peer support line 150,000 150,000 150,000
Skookum Jim Friendship Centre 822,000 822,000 1,014,071
- operational funding 966,071
- transitional services 48,000
- Jeff Noble education training
First Nation family support workers 1,125,000 1,125,000 806,250
- First Nation of Na-Cho Nyak Dun 150,000
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 75,000
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nations 75,000
- Liard First Nation 75,000
- Little Salmon/Carmacks First Nation 75,000
- Ross River Dena Council 75,000
- Selkirk First Nation 75,000
- Teslin Tlingit Council 131,250
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 75,000
Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Society of Yukon 702,000 702,000 799,974
- operational funding 712,355
- FASD Inter-agency Committee 80,619
- out and about Yukon 7,000
Inclusion Yukon Society 688,861
- operating 230,000 370,000 511,000
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Health and Social Services
Other transfer payments (continued)
- inclusion funding $ 231,000 $ 231,000 $ 177,861 $ -
Blood Ties Four Directions Centre Society 204,000 204,000 604,899
- operational funding 301,000 301,000 204,000
- after hour support 84,000 84,000 -
- outreach van - 385,599
- peer support group 15,000 15,000 15,300
Help & Hope for Families Society 604,000 604,000 - 604,000
Care agreements 564,902
Kwanlin DUn First Nation
- Jackson Lake Healing Camp 400,000 400,000 500,000
Tr'ondék Hwéch'in 254,000 254,000 491,391
- men's emergency shelter 371,391
- cancer care project 85,000 45,000
- family support worker 75,000
Dawson Shelter Society 395,000 395,000 395,421
British Columbia Centre for Disease Control 67,192
- laboratory services 150,000 150,000 16,192 -
- panorama 126,000 126,000 - -
- poison information management 51,000
Hospice Yukon Society 310,000 310,000 315,506
The John Howard Society Pacific Region 307,218
Memorial University of Newfoundland 250,000
City of Whitehorse - Handy Bus 234,000 234,000 234,000
Sport Yukon - Kids Recreation Fund 210,000 210,000 210,120
First Nations health partnership 165,000 165,000 165,142
Learning Disabilities Association of Yukon 150,000 150,000 157,169
HealthLink British Columbia - 175,000 155,696
Kwanlin DUn First Nation - family support worker - - 150,000
Yukon Registered Nurses Association 150,000 150,000 150,000
Individual respite agreements 125,000 125,000 126,861
Second Opinion Society 123,000 123,000 123,117
Yukon Food for Learning Association 130,000 130,000 113,220
Autism Yukon 82,000 82,000 112,390
All Genders Yukon 106,000 106,000 106,000
Federal child benefit - various recipients 96,576
- Whitehorse 149,000 149,000 50,822
- Region 71,000 71,000 45,754
Yukon Anti-Poverty Coalition 81,000 81,000 92,627
Public Works and Government Services Canada 79,000 79,000 79,040
Canadian Cancer Society - 76,920
- cancer lodges 65,000 65,000 65,250
- health services 14,000 14,000 11,670
Ta'an Kwach'an Council - family support worker 75,000
Yukon Council on Aging 72,000 72,000 73,687
Line of Life Association of the Yukon 62,000 62,000 63,309
Signpost Seniors Association 55,000 55,000 56,044
Canadian Institute for health Information 43,000 43,000 51,492

207



GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Health and Social Services
Other transfer payments (continued)
Yukon Reads Society $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000
Health Investment Fund 50,000 50,000 50,000
Nursing education bursaries 24,000 24,000 46,063
Artic Institute of Community-Based Research 45,718
Victoria Faulkner Women's Centre, The - accommodation 43,000 43,000 42,153
Substance use and addictions program 40,530
British Columbia Health Services 40,395
Rick Hansen Institute 20,000 20,000 40,000
Canadian Red Cross Society 36,000 36,000 39,115
Canadian National Institute for the Blind 33,000 33,000 33,000
Alberta Health Services - emergency medical services 34,000 34,000 32,918
Government of Manitoba - Healthy child 30,000 30,000 31,500
St. Elias Seniors Society 33,000 33,000 27,726
Professional Development Fund 25,000 25,000 25,000
Council of Yukon First Nations Justice Programs 23,300
Health Education Bursaries 25,000 25,000 22,500
Yukon Housing Corporation 21,636
Unity Health Toronto 20,000
Yukon Status of Women Council 14,000
Big Brothers and Big Sisters of Yukon 12,000 12,000 12,000
Yukon T1D support network 11,500
Recreation and Parks Association of the Yukon 8,000 8,000 8,050
Healthy Eating 26,000 26,000 7,200
Miscellaneous transfer payments 11,000 11,000 5,206
Joint Consortium for School Health 2,000 2,000 2,000
Options for Sexual Health 1,000 1,000 1,000
Social supports - miscellaneous 336,000 336,000 -
Health Professional Bursary 40,000 40,000 -
Teen Parent Access to Education Society 24,000 24,000 -
British Columbia Cancer Registry 17,000 17,000 -
Foster Parent Association 15,000 15,000 -
Education and prevention 10,000 10,000 -
Yukon Hospital Corporation
- 1Health (Meditech) - 7,432,000 6,874,594
Yukon Hospital Services
- 1Health (Meditech) 3,000,000 3,750,000 3,750,000
- medical imaging equipment 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
- Omnicells - 6 Storage Units - - 440,350
Building maintenance, renovations and space - 1,000,000 1,000,000
139,830,000 165,083,000 163,241,654
Total other government transfers 145,664,000 171,192,000 171,109,844
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Highways and Public Works
Other transfer payments
Carcross/Tagish First Nation $ - 233,000 3,320
Teslin Tlingit Council - 400,000 400,000
Liard First Nation - - 128,000
Little Salmon Carmacks First Nation - - 129,000
Northern transportation adaptation initiative
- Yukon College/University - 38,000 21,127
- Carleton University - climate change - 34,000 33,600
Council of Yukon First Nations - 225,000 150,000
Yukon Contractors Association - - 45,000
Yukon Transportation Museum Society, The 12,000 12,000 12,000
Old Crow Winter Road 1,000,000 - -
Renewable Energy Feasibility Study 58,676
- Aurora College - 54,256
- Tr'ondek Hwech'in - 4,420
Dempster Fibre Project - Yukon College - 1,397
Solar Feasibility Study - Aurora College - 54,256
Essential Air Service Program 9,986,000 5,684,694
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 - 10,000
Total other government transfers 1,012,000 10,928,000 6,731,070
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Justice
Other transfer payments
Yukon Legal Services Society (Legal Aid) 2,885,000
- legal services 2,640,000 2,640,000 2,850,000
- community justice and public safety 35,000 35,000 35,000
Human Rights Commission 658,000 658,000 733,000
Community residential centre 550,000 550,000 538,543
- The Salvation Army 45,833
- John Howard Society Pacific Region 492,710
Community Consultative Group 50,000 14,000
- Tr'ondék Hwéch'in 4,500
- Kwanlin Dan First Nation 4,500
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 5,000
Yukon Aboriginal Women's Council-FILU 95,000 90,000
Indigenous court worker program 648,000 648,000 590,793
- Kwanlin Din First Nation 132,469
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 18,476
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation (prior year funding) 4,105
- Little Salmon/Carmacks First Nation 36,952
- Little Salmon/Carmacks First Nation (prior year funding) 4,105
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 36,952
- Ross River Dena Council 9,238
- Tr'ondék Hwéch'in 36,952
- Tr'ondék Hwéch'in (prior year funding) 1,804
- First Nation of Na-cho Nyak Dun 46,190
- First Nation of Na-cho Nyak Dun (prior year funding) 2,963
- Selkirk First Nation 27,714
- Selkirk First Nation (prior year funding) 17,123
- Teslin Tlingit Council 36,952
- Teslin Tlingit Council (prior year funding) 5,035
- Liard First Nation 73,903
- Liard First Nation (Prior year funding) 46,854
- Kluane First Nation 9,238
- Kluane First Nation (prior year funding) 34,530
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nations 9,238
Kwanlin Dun First Nation-Security initiative-CSO 400,000 400,000 400,000
Yukon Workers' Compensation Health
and Safety Board 330,000 330,000 329,500
Community justice projects 307,000 307,000 252,240
- Kwanlin Din First Nation 38,830
- Kwanlin Diin First Nation (prior year funding) 5,547
- Liard First Nation 51,100
- Liard First Nation (Prior year funding) 18,250
- Teslin Tlingit Council 43,500
- Teslin Tlingit Council (prior year funding) 7,201
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nations 15,854
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 11,625
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation (prior year funding) 2,325
- Tr'ondék Hwéch'in 17,500
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 17,252
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Justice
Other transfer payments (continued)
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation (prior year funding) 11,993
- Ross River Dena Council 9,634
- Ross River Dena Council (prior year funding) 1,630
Gladue project 150,470
Yukon Public Legal Education Association 163,000 163,000 163,000
RCMP 105,456
- biology caseworks & auxiliary police program 106,000 106,000 105,456
- police board funding 5,000 5,000
Yukon Women's Transition Home Society-Women's Coalition - - 27,711
Yukon Community Crime Stopper Association 10,000 10,000 8,418
Boys and Girls Club of Yukon-GGVAF - - 11,568
Total other government transfers 5,852,000 5,997,000 6,299,701
Tourism and Culture
Funding programs
Arts operating funds 825,000 825,000 746,500
Tourism cooperative marketing fund 700,000 700,000 705,707
Arts fund 500,000 500,000 316,552
Advanced artist award 150,000 150,000 133,627
Touring artist fund 100,000 100,000 46,980
2,275,000 2,275,000 1,949,366
CQOVID-19 Pandemic - Funding Programs
Temporary support for cancelled events 1,800,000 1,872,866
Enhancing Tourism Cooperative Marketing Fund 1,000,000 525,809
Enhancing on Yukon Time 75,000 67,460
Enhancing advanced artist award 150,000 150,000
Enhancing arts funding 125,000 125,000
Tourism non-accommodation sector supplement 1,000,000 1,228,943
Tourism and Culture NPO fund 300,000 95,330
Tourism relief and recovery plan 360,000 348,350
Tourism accommodation sector supplement 2,700,000 813,796
7,510,000 5,227,554
Other transfer payments
Yukon Arts Centre Corporation 1,066,657
- operations and maintenance 873,000 873,000 891,657
- Old Fire Hall programming 175,000 175,000 175,000
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Tourism and Culture
Other transfer payments (continued)
Museums - general operation, maintenance,
and training support $ 842,000 $ 842,000 $ 1,059,407
- MacBride Museum Society 399,407
- Dawson City Museum Society 130,000
- Yukon Transportation Museum Society, The 130,000
- Yukon Church Heritage Society 80,000
- Keno Community Club 50,000
- Kluane Museum of History Society 50,000
- MacBride Museum Society 50,000
- Teslin Historical & Museum Society 50,000
- Town of Faro - Campbell Region Interpretive Centre 40,000
- Town of Watson Lake - Northern Lights Centre 40,000
- Village of Mayo - Binet House 40,000
First Nations cultural centres 800,000 800,000 800,000
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 130,000
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nations 130,000
- Kwanlin Diin Cultural Society 130,000
- Teslin Tlingit Council 130,000
- Trondék Hwéch'in 130,000
- Little Salmon/Carmacks First Nation 50,000
- Selkirk First Nation 50,000
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 50,000
Dawson City Arts Society 575,074
- operations and maintenance 425,000 425,000 425,000
- culture quest 157,000 157,000 150,074
Yukon Tourism Development Strategy Implementation
- Yukon First Nation Culture and Tourism Association 300,000 300,000 300,000
- experience development 175,000 175,000 57,000
- Sport Yukon 57,000
Northern Cultural Expressions Society 345,000 345,000 345,000
Museums - assistance 348,000 348,000 328,591
- MacBride Museum Society 79,000
- Kwanlin Diin Cultural Society 60,000
- Yukon Church Heritage Society 57,580
- The Yukon Transportation Museum Society 55,595
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 19,580
- Dawson City Museum Society 19,000
- Carcross/Tagish First Nation 16,500
- Teslin Historical & Museum Society 15,076
- various recipients 6,260
Wilderness Tourism Association of the Yukon 264,000 264,000 264,000
- operations and maintenance 264,000
Tourism Industry Association of the Yukon 221,000
- operations and maintenance 144,000 219,000 221,000
- promotion/events 20,000 20,000 -
Dawson City Museum Society 250,000 250,000 240,000
Yukon Convention Bureau Society 200,000 200,000 200,000
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Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Tourism and Culture
Other transfer payments (continued)
Tr'ondék Hwéch'in 165,000
- Forty Mile 95,000 95,000 95,000
- Trondék-Klondike World Heritage Nomination - - 70,000
Yukon First Nations Culture and Tourism Association 160,000 160,000 160,000
Yukon Quest International Association (Canada) 150,000 150,000 150,000
On Yukon Time
- arts themed events 94,000 94,000 127,395
- Yukon Arts Centre Corporation 26,050
- Friends of the Yukon Archives Society 20,000
- various recipients 81,345
Historic properties assistance program 116,000 116,000 111,673
- Yukon Historic Resource Fund 28,265
- Caribou Hotel 20,000
- Dawson Downtown Limited 10,000
- St. Paul's Anglican Church 10,000
- Yukon Spaces Inc. 10,000
- various recipients 33,408
Selkirk First Nation - Fort Selkirk 147,000 147,000 105,797
Yukon Art Society - artist in the school 100,000 100,000 89,493
Yukon Council of Archives 75,000 75,000 75,000
- YCA Community Archivist Project Gap Analysis Pt. 1 & 2 75,000
Yukon Sourdough Rendezvous 75,000 75,000 75,000
Air North Charter & Training Ltd 75,000 75,000 75,000
Yukon Historical and Museums Association 74,000 74,000 74,000
Friends of Yukon Permanent Art Collection Society
- visual arts acquisitions 30,000 30,000 60,000
Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation - Rampart House 60,000 60,000 60,000
Klondike Visitors Association - - 50,000
Sport Yukon - sport tourism 43,000 43,000 43,000
New Canadians event fund 45,000 45,000 28,043
- Yukon Punjab Bhangra Society 10,000
- various recipients 18,043
Association franco-yukonnaise 25,000 25,000 25,000
Volunteer Benevoles Yukon Society - - 21,869
Stay Another Day
- various recipients 25,000 25,000 20,000
Canyon City
- Yukon Conservation Society - Canyon City 18,000 18,000 18,000
Champagne and Aishihik First Nations - First Nations Archaeology 13,860
Kwanlin Din Cultural Society 10,000 10,000 10,000
Industry - product development and resource assessment 50,000 50,000 6,986
- various recipients 6,986
Heritage Trails 20,000 20,000 5,407
- Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation 5,407
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Schedule 9
Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Tourism and Culture
Other transfer payments (continued)
Canadian Tourism Commission $ 160,000 $ 160,000 -
Yukon First Nations Culture and Tourism Association 25,000 25,000
The Yukon Science Institute 20,000 20,000
Historic Sites Inventory 10,000 10,000
Friends of the Yukon Archives Society 4,000 4,000
Various transfer payments less than $10,000 20,000 20,000 32,355
7,044,000 7,119,000 7,059,607
Total other government transfers 9,319,000 16,904,000 14,236,527
Women's Directorate
Other transfer payments
Indigenous Women's equality fund 600,000 614,000 614,000
- Yukon Aboriginal Women's Council 200,000
- Liard Aboriginal Women's Society 200,000
- Whitehorse Aboriginal Women's Circle 214,000
Yukon Aboriginal Women's Council - gathering of family members 90,000 60,000
of missing and murdered Indigenous women and girls
Women's equality fund 197,000 197,000 180,000
- Victoria Faulkner Women's Centre, The 50,000
- Yukon Status of Women Council, The 45,000
- Yukon Women in Trades and Technology 45,000
- Les EssentiElles 40,000
Victoria Faulkner Women's Centre, The
- women's advocate 100,000 100,000 83,000
- A Safe Place 65,000 95,000 95,000
The prevention of violence against Aboriginal women's Initiative 200,000 200,000 184,000
- First Nation of Na-Cho Nyak Dun 25,000
- Champagne and Aishihik First Nation 25,000
- Food Bank Society of Whitehorse 14,000
- Victoria Faulkner Women's Centre, The 25,000
- Skookum Jim Friendship Centre 25,000
- Skookum Jim Friendship Centre 20,000
- Selkirk First Nation 25,000
- Whitehorse Aboriginal Women's Circle 25,000
Skookum Jim Friendship Centre
- Women's legal advocate services 93,000 93,000 69,000
Yukon Anti-Poverty Coalition
- Whitehorse affordable family housing complex 42,000 77,000 77,000
Yukon Women's Transition Home Society
- Sexualized Assault Support Line 60,000 60,000 60,000
- Taxi Pilot Training - 2,000 2,000
Queer Yukon Society 184,000 184,000 184,000
Women's community projects - various recipients 10,000 10,000 5,050
Total other government transfers 1,551,000 1,722,000 1,613,050
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Schedule of Other Government Transfers
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Main Revised
Estimates Estimates Actual
Yukon Development Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Other transfer payments
Interim electrical rebate $ 3,500,000 $ 3,500,000 3,429,309
Mayo B rate payer support 2,625,000 2,625,000 2,625,000
Innovative renewable energy initiative 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Investing in Canada infrastructure program 9,275,000 20,875,000 15,251,582
Total other government transfers 16,900,000 28,500,000 22,805,891
Yukon Housing Corporation (Transfer Payment)
Other transfer payments
Operations and maintenance 6,984,000 6,984,000 6,108,418
Capital 23,790,000 25,378,000 17,411,576
Total other government transfers 30,774,000 32,362,000 23,519,994
Restricted Funds
Other transfer payments
Carbon amounts distributed 15,783,000 15,783,000 14,886,802
Total other government transfers 15,783,000 15,783,000 14,886,802
Totals
Funding programs 34,947,000 50,791,000 45,794,721
Other government transfers 320,105,000 385,618,000 380,126,029
$ 355,052,000 $ 436,409,000 425,920,750
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GOVERNMENT OF YUKON

Schedule 10
Schedule of Bad Debt Write-offs
for the year ended March 31, 2021
Department Number of Accounts Total
NIL

Note: No bad debts were reported as write-off by virtue of the section 35 of the Financial Administration Act
ended March 31, 2021.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Management Responsibility

The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management and the Board of Governors of the
University. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards with Section 4200 series for government not-for-profit organizations. The consolidated
financial statements include estimates based on the experience and judgment of management.

Management is responsible for maintaining the books of account, financial and management controls, and
information systems, together with management practices designed to provide reasonable assurance that reliable
and accurate financial information is available on a timely basis, that assets are safeguarded and controlled, that
resources are managed economically and efficiently in the attainment of University objectives and that operations
are carried out effectively.

Management is also responsible for designing systems and practices to provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are in accordance with the Yukon University Act, bylaws and policies of the University.

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial
reporting and internal control. The Board meets on a periodic basis with management and the external auditor to
review the scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the consolidated financial statements and related
financial reporting matters. The Board of Governors has reviewed and approved the consolidated financial
statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been independently audited by the University’s auditor, the Auditor
General of Canada, and her report is included herein.

Dr. Maggie Matear
Interim President

o

Sheila Ananthan, CPA, CGA
Director, Finance and Administrative Services

March 19, 2021
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General  vérificateur général
of Canada du Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Governors of Yukon University
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yukon University and its controlled
entity (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at

30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of operations, consolidated statement of
changes in net assets, consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses, and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020, and the
consolidated results of its operations, its consolidated remeasurement gains and losses, and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
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we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

David Irving, CPA, CA
Principal
for the Auditor General of Canada

Edmonton, Canada
19 March 2021
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YUKON UNIVERSITY

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at June 30

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash (note 5)

Accounts receivable (note 4)
Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 6)
Restricted investments (note 7)

Accrued pension benefit asset (note 8a)
Capital assets (note 9)

Total Non-current Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 10)
Deferred revenue (note 11)

Deferred contributions (note 12)

Vacation leave and employee future benefits (note 13)
Loan payable (note 14)

Total Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities

Deferred capital contributions (note 15)
Other employee future benefits (note 8b)
Total Non-current Liabilities

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets

Externally restricted for endowments (note 16)
Internally restricted for pension (note 8a)
Unrestricted

Accumulated remeasurement losses
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

Contractual rights (note 21)
Contractual obligations (note 22)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Governors

e

2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)
2,671,041 8,562,908
8,692,908 3,057,205
194,607 118,497
147,638 135,373
11,706,194 11,873,983
640,483 555,608
4,011,077 3,762,750
19,888,200 18,275,800
8.944.803 9.638.277
33,484,563 32,232,435
45.190.757 44,106,418
3,135,879 3,186,609
186,790 1,294,183
3,340,755 2,656,278
2,911,873 2,709,236
996,431 996,431
10,571,728 10,842,737
5,485,717 5,933,101
5,957,400 5,554,800
11,443,117 11,487.901
3,459,086 3,705,176
3,202,406 2,722,553
19,888,200 18,275,800
(2.916.549) (2.799.155)
23,633,143 21,904,374
(457.231) (128.594)
23.175912 21,775,780
45.190.757 44.106.418

bl ml

Chair Member
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30

Revenues

Government of Yukon contributions (note 18)

Other contributions (note 12)

Tuition (note 11)

Sales, rentals and services

Contracts (note 11)

Miscellaneous income (note 19)

Student assistance/scholarships

Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 15)
Interest income

Expenses (note 17)

Direct instruction

Direct instructional support

General administration

Services received without charge (note 17)
Research

Facility services and utilities

Cost of sales

Amortization of capital assets (note 9)
Student assistance/scholarships
Miscellaneous

Excess of revenues over expenses (note 23)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

226

2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)
$ 35243255 § 35,299,711
4,868,472 6,266,009
2,801,975 2,547,290
1,467,104 1,583,449
1,370,252 1,593,175
1,065,795 1,921,199
915,984 836,724
447,384 486,343
229,265 208,051
48.409.486 50,741,951
$ 14,697,283 $ 16,731,248
10,485,924 10,231,084
7,297,018 8,444,764
4,879,075 4,466,331
4,270,063 4,471,071
1,870,907 2,776,330
1,575,918 1,654,561
1,072,700 1,143,006
908,181 569,463
103,501 118,526
47,160,570 50,606,384
$ 1,248916  $ 135,567
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30

Invested in Externally Internally Accumulated 2020 2019

Unrestricted Capital Assets  Restricted for Restricted for ~ Remeasurement Total Total
Endowments Pension Losses (Restated -

note 3)

Balance, beginning of year $ (2,799,155) $ 3,705,176  $ 2,722,553 $ 18,275,800 $ (128,594) $ 21,775,780 $21,619,082
(Restated - note 3)
Excess of revenues over (363,484) - - 1,612,400 - 1,248,916 135,567
expenses
Capital assets acquired net (379,226) 379,226 - - - - -
of disposals (note 9)
Amortization of capital 1,072,700 (1,072,700) - - - - -
assets (note 9)
Amortization of deferred (447,384) 447,384 - - - - -
capital contributions
(note 15)
Remeasurement losses - - - - (328,637) (328,637) (128,594)
Endowment contributions - - 306,715 - - 306,715 7,527
Net gain on investments - - 173,138 - - 173,138 142,198
Balance, end of year $ (2916,549) $ 3459.086 $ 3202406 $ 19.888200 $ (457231) $ 23.175912  $21,775.780

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
For the year ended June 30

2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)
Accumulated remeasurement losses, beginning of year $ (128,594) § -
Unrealized loss attributable to:
Investments (328,637) (128,594)
Accumulated remeasurement losses, end of year $ (457,231) § (128,594)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30

2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)

Operating activities:

Excess of revenues over expenses $ 1,248916 $ 135,567
Items not affecting cash
Amortization of capital assets (note 9) 1,072,700 1,143,006
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 15) (447,384) (486,343)
Loss on disposal of capital assets 7,182 -
Change in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable (5,635,703) 17,230
Deferred revenue (1,107,393) 294,568
Deferred contributions 684,477 (306,738)
Other 63,532 536,153
Increase in accrued pension benefit asset (1,612,400) (532,700)
Increase in other employee future benefits 402,600 382,700
Cash flows (used in)/provided from operating activities (5,323.473) 1,183,443
Investing activities:
Increase in restricted cash and cash equivalents (84,875) (331,548)
Increase in restricted investments (576,964) (230,806)
Cash flows used in investing activities (661.839) (562.354)
Capital activities:
Capital assets acquired (note 9) (386,408) (726,710)
Cash flows used in capital activities (386.408) (726.710)
Financing activities:
Net investment income from endowments (note 16) 173,138 142,198
Endowment contributions (including transfers) 306,715 7,527
Decrease in deferred capital contributions (note 15) - (39,999)
Cash flows provided from financing activities 479,853 109,726
Change in cash:
Net (decrease) increase in cash (5,891,867) 4,105
Cash
Beginning of year 8,562,908 8,558,803
End of year $ 2,671,041 $ 8.562.908
Interest received $ 229265 $ 208,051
Interest paid 229 -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

229



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 1 - PURPOSE

a) The Yukon University Act was proclaimed into force effective February 6, 2020 replacing the Yukon
College Act. Under the Yukon University Act, Yukon College, incorporated under the Yukon College Act,
continues as a corporation under the name Yukon University. Yukon University (the University) is a post-
secondary educational institution. The University is a not-for-profit organization and is a registered charity
under the Income Tax Act and is therefore exempt from tax. A significant portion of its funding is provided by
the Government of Yukon. The purpose of the University is to offer a balance of educational programs.
Programs include baccalaureate, masters and doctoral degree programs, certificate and diploma programs, and
continuing and adult basic education. The University also undertakes and maintains research, scholarly
activities and other learning and training activities for these purposes.

b) The Yukon University Foundation (the Foundation) is incorporated as a not-for-profit organization under
the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act. The Foundation is a registered charity under the Income Tax
Act and is therefore exempt from tax. The Foundation was established:

. to fund, facilitate, promote and carry out activities which are consistent with the objectives of the
University and to provide support for its educational facilities, educational programs and education
services;

. to fund the provision of bursaries, scholarships and prizes granted by the University for any purpose
for students in attendance at facilities owned and/or operated by the University;

° to receive bequests, legacies, donations, gifts, funds and property from all sources and to hold and

invest such funds and property and to administer and distribute such funds and property for the
purposes of the Foundation; and

. to do all such other things as are incidental and ancillary to the attainment of the foregoing purposes
and the exercise of the power of the Foundation.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards. The University has elected to apply the Section 4200 series for
government-not-for-profit organizations.

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the University and its controlled entity, the
Foundation. All inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

The University controls the Foundation as the Board of Governors of the University have the ability to be
appointed as the majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Foundation. The President of the
University is the only board member in common for the Foundation and the University. The President is an
ex-officio member of the Board of Directors of the Foundation and a non-voting member of the Board of
Governors of the University. The Foundation operates out of the University’s main campus building with
the assistance of University employees in the advancement office.

¢) Financial instruments

The financial instruments of the University include cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, restricted investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, employee accrued liabilities
and loan payable.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

All of the University’s financial instruments are assigned to the cost or amortized cost measurement
category, except for restricted investments which are assigned to the fair value measurement category.

Fair value classification

This includes equity instruments that are quoted in an active market. They are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until they are realized, and are then
transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Changes in fair value of restricted investments are
recorded as deferred contributions. When the changes are realized, they remain deferred until the restriction
on use is fulfilled, and at that time the amount is transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Where a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is removed
from accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

The University classifies, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements using a fair value
hierarchy made up of three levels, according to the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: This level includes assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices
for identical assets and liabilities in an active market that the University can access at the measurement
date.

Level 2: This category includes measurements that use, either directly or indirectly, observable inputs other
than quoted prices included in level 1.

Level 3: The measurements in this category depend upon inputs that are less observable, not available or for
which observable inputs do not justify most of the instruments' fair value.

Amortized cost classification

These financial instruments are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses on financial assets. Transaction costs are
added to the cost of the instrument.

Writedowns are recognized when the amount of the loss is known with sufficient precision, and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets are written down to net recoverable value with the
writedown recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Accounts receivable are recorded at
cost less valuation allowances. Valuation allowances are calculated by examining amounts overdue 90 days
or more to estimate amounts deemed to be uncollectible.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d) Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Contributed capital assets are recorded at
fair value at the time of contribution.

When conditions indicate that an asset no longer contributes to the University's ability to provide its
services, the carrying value of the capital asset is reduced to reflect the decline in the asset's value.

Construction in progress costs are capitalized as incurred. These amounts are transferred to various
categories of capital assets and are amortized on a basis consistent with similar assets, once the assets are

placed in service.

Capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are estimated

as follows:
Useful life (years)

Leasehold improvements 20
Equipment general 10
Equipment electronic data processing (EDP) 3
Mobile trailers 20
Furniture and fixtures 10
Vehicles 5

The Works of art are capitalized at cost and no amortization is recorded.

e) Inventories
Inventories consist of items for resale in the bookstore and food service operations and are valued at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out basis.

f) Contributed services
The University benefits from services provided by volunteers in assisting the institution in carrying out its
activities. The fair value of these services is not reliably estimable and accordingly is not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements.

g) Employee future benefits
Pension benefits
Yukon University Employees’ Pension Plan (pension plan) is a contributory defined benefit pension plan.
The pension plan provides mandatory pension benefits for all full-time employees and optional benefits for
part-time employees of the University after 24 months of continuous service. The University’s pension plan
provides for defined retirement benefits based on an employee's years of service and average final earnings,
in accordance with the federal Pension Benefits Standards Act, and is indexed in accordance with the
change in Consumer Price Index for 12 months ending September 30th. In general, pension benefits are
based on 2% of the best five years of continuous service minus any adjustments required by the Canada
Pension Plan. Plan members can accumulate up to 35 years of continuous service. The University has
contracted with external organizations to provide the services of trustee, administration, consulting and
investment management for the pension plan. The pension plan assets are held by a trustee and separate
financial statements are prepared for the pension plan.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued

g) Employee future benefits (continued)
The University accrues its obligations under the pension plan and the related costs, net of plan assets.

The cost of pension benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method prorated on service and management's best estimate of expected plan investment performance,
inflation rates, salary escalation, and retirement ages of employees.

Past service costs from plan amendments are accounted for in the period of the plan amendments.

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining
service life of the related employee group.

Other non-pension benefits

The cost of the benefit plan, other than pension, including severance benefits, non-vesting but accumulating
sick leave and special leave and managers’ accrued leave, payable upon termination of employment, death
or retirement, is actuarially determined using the projected accrued benefit method prorated on employment
services using management's best estimate of inflation rates, salary escalation, and retirement ages of
employees, and is recognized over the period in which the benefits are earned (i.e. the period the employee
renders service to the University). Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
expected average remaining service life of the related employee group. The University accrues other
vacation and leave benefits for employees as earned based on their respective terms of employment.

h) Revenue recognition
The University follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are
deferred and recognized as revenue on the same basis and in the same periods as expenses under the terms
of the restrictions. Contributions restricted for the purchase of capital assets are deferred and amortized into
revenue at a rate corresponding with the amortization rate for the related capital assets.

Unrestricted contributions, such as operating grants, are recognized as revenue when received or receivable,
if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Endowment contributions are recognized as direct increases in endowment net assets. Interest earned on
endowment contributions where a portion of the interest cannot be spent is added to the endowment
principal. Interest earned on endowment contributions where the investment income can be spent is
deferred until the interest is spent for the specified purposes.

Sales, rentals and services, miscellaneous income, and tuition are reported as revenue at the time the
services are substantially provided or the products are delivered. Tuition fees received in advance of
courses being delivered are deferred and recognized as revenue when the courses are delivered.

The University provides education, rentals, research and services to private companies, federal and
territorial government departments, agencies and corporations through contractual arrangements. Payments
received under these contracts for which the development and delivery of courses and projects are not
completed are recorded as deferred revenue until completion in accordance with the terms of the
agreements.
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i)

»

Allocation of expenses

The University allocates the majority of its expenses by function. General administration expenses are not
allocated to other functions but are disclosed separately. Fundraising expenses incurred during the year are
included in general administration expenses.

Internally restricted net assets

Net assets invested in capital assets represents the amount the University has spent on capital assets using
its own funding sources. Net assets internally restricted for pension represents the amounts restricted in
order to meet future pension obligations.

k) Related party transactions

)

The University is related to all Government of Yukon departments, corporations, agencies and the
University's key management personnel. Key management personnel are those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the University. Significant
transactions with related parties and balances at year-end are disclosed separately in the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto.

Inter-entity transactions are transactions between commonly controlled entities. Inter-entity transactions are
recorded on a gross basis and are measured at the carrying amount, except for when inter-entity transactions
are undertaken on similar terms and conditions to those adopted if the entities were dealing at arm's length,
or where costs provided are recovered, they are measured at the exchange amount.

Related party transactions other than inter-entity transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.

The University receives certain services provided by the Government of Yukon without charge. The
majority of the services received without charge represent costs associated with facilities provided by the
Government of Yukon at a reduced, or no, charge. These services are recognized as expenses with an
offsetting credit to revenues in order to reflect the full cost of the University’s operations in its consolidated
financial statements. These services are recorded at amounts based on the Government of Yukon's
amortization expense (for the main campus), and on fair value for the rental of other facilities.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
applicable for government not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amount of revenue and expenses for the year. Significant areas requiring the use of
management estimates relate to the determination of the accrued pension benefit asset and the liabilities for
other employee future benefits, and the estimated useful lives of capital assets. Actual results could differ
significantly from those estimated. Estimates are reviewed annually and as adjustments become necessary,
they are recorded in the consolidated financial statements in the period which they become known.

m) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities may arise from time to time in the normal course of operations. Liabilities on any
litigation are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when it is likely that a future event will
confirm that a liability has been incurred at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. If the likelihood is not determinable or the amount cannot be reasonably
estimated, the contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and no
liability is accrued.

234



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 3 - RESTATEMENT

a) Restricted cash and cash equivalents and Restricted investments
The University reported, as at June 30, 2019, Restricted cash of $4,318,358. This amount also included
Restricted investments, and based on the nature and significance of these amounts, these two items should have
been presented as separate line items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The impact is a
decrease as at June 30, 2019 of $3,762,750 of Restricted cash and cash equivalents and increase of $3,762,750
of Restricted investments. The comparative figures for Restricted cash and cash equivalents and Restricted
investments have been restated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.

The University has included a Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses and reported
remeasurement losses on a retroactive basis for internal consistency with the restatements of Restricted cash
and cash equivalents and Restricted investments. The key impacts are a decrease in expenses for the year
ended June 30, 2019 of $128,594, and an increase of $128,594 in Unrestricted and in Accumulated
remeasurement losses within net assets as at June 30, 2019. The comparative figures have been restated in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Operations, Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Net Assets, Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses, and the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.

The University has added disclosure regarding financial instrument fair value classification (note 2c), other
price risk (note 4) and restricted investments (note 7).

b) Net assets
During 2020, the University decided that the 2020 presentation of Invested in capital assets (renamed from
Capital) provides better information. Furthermore, the amount reported as Capital as at June 30, 2019 did not
align with the University’s accounting policy, although, the University had been reporting Capital on a
consistent basis. The revised figure represents the amount the University has spent on capital assets less the
funds contributed by third parties. The impact at June 30, 2019 is a decrease of $5,933,101 in Invested in
capital (previously called Capital) and an offsetting increase in Unrestricted within net assets. The comparative
figures for Invested in capital (previously called Capital) and for Unrestricted within net assets have been
restated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net
Assets.

¢) Deferred revenue, deferred contributions and related revenues
The University reported, as at June 30, 2019, Deferred contributions of $3,950,461. This amount was,
however, comprised of Deferred revenue from exchange transactions of $1,294,183 and of Deferred
contributions from non-exchange transactions of $2,656,278. Based on the distinct nature of these transactions,
as well as the significance of the related amounts, these two items should have been presented as separate line
items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The comparative figures as at June 30, 2019 for
Deferred revenue and Deferred contributions have been restated.

The University reported, for the year ended June 30, 2019, Government of Yukon contributions of $26,618,839
and Contracts revenue of $16,540,056. However, based on the nature and counterparty of these transactions,
these revenues should have been presented as Government of Yukon contributions of $35,299,711, Other
contributions of $6,266,009 and Contracts of $1,593,175. The comparative figures for the year ended June 30,
2019 Government of Yukon contributions, Other contributions and Contracts have been restated.
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d) The restatement of the comparative figures is summarized in the table below:

9eeC

2019 2019
(as previously reported)  Restatement (restated) Note
$ $ $
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Non-current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,318,358 (3,762,750) 555,608 a
Restricted investments - 3,762,750 3,762,750 a
4,318,358 - 4,318,358
Current liabilities
Deferred revenue (note 11) - (1,294,183) (1,294,183) ¢
Deferred contributions (note 12) (3,950,461) 1,294,183 (2,656,278) ¢
(3.950.461) - (3.950.461)
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets (9,638,277) 5,933,101 (3,705,176) b
Unrestricted 8,860,850 (6,061,695) 2,799,155 ab
Accumulated remeasurement losses - 128,594 128,594 a
(777.427) - (777.427)
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Revenues
Government of Yukon contributions (26,618,839) (8,680,872) (35,299,711) ¢
Other contributions - (6,266,009) (6,266,009) ¢
Contracts (16,540,056) 14,946,881 (1,593,175) ¢

(43.158.895)

(43.158.895)
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Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 3 - RESTATEMENT (continued)
2019 2019
(as previously Restatement (restated) Note
reported)
$ $ $
Expenses
General administration 8.573.358 (128.594) 8.444.764 a
8,573,358 (128.594) 8,444,764
Excess of revenue over expenses (6,973) (128.594) (135,567) a
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Balance, beginning of year
Invested in capital assets (9,638,277) 5,933,101 (3,705,176) b
Unrestricted 8,860,850 (6,061,695) 2,799,155 ab
Accumulated remeasurement losses - 128,594 128,594 a
Excess of revenue over expenses 6,973 128,594 135,567 a
Capital assets acquired net of disposals 352,876 (352,876) - b
Amortization of capital assets (1,143,0006) 1,143,006 - b
Amortization of deferred capital contributions 790,130 (790,130) - b
Remeasurement losses - (128,594) (128,594) a
(770.454) - (770.454)
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
Unrealized loss attributable to investments - (128,594) (128,594) a
- (128.594) (128.594)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses 6,973 128,594 135,567 a
6.973 128.594 135,567
Cash flow provided from operating activities 1,054,849 128,594 1,183,443 a
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NOTE 3 - RESTATEMENT (continued)

Investing activities
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Increase in restricted investments
Cash flows used in investing activities

Note 11 - Deferred Revenue
Balance, as at June 30, 2019
Contracts
Tuition

Note 12 - Deferred Contributions
Balance, as at June 30, 2019
Government of Yukon contributions
Other contributions
Donations
Contracts
Tuition

Note 17 - Expenditures by object
Bank fees and credit card commissions
Total expenditures by object

YUKON UNIVERSITY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
2019 2019
(as previously Restatement (restated) Note
reported)
$ $ $

(433,760) 102,212 (331,548) a
- (230,806) (230,806) a

(433,760) (128,594) (562.354)
- (403,972) (403,972) ¢
- (890,211) (890,211) ¢

- (1,294.183) (1,294.183)
- (640,478) (640,478) ¢
- (1,560,118) (1,560,118) ¢
(455,682) - (455,682) ¢
(2,604,568) 2,604,568 - c
(890,211) 890,211 - c

(3.950,461) 1,294,183 (2,656,278)
348,834 (128,594) 220,240 a
50,734,978 (128,594) 50,606,384 a
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The University’s financial instruments are exposed to the following risks: interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The University manages these risk exposures on an ongoing
basis. The University is not party to any financial derivatives.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in the market interest rates. The University is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed
interest rate for financial instruments, which subject the University to a fair value risk. Investments are
monitored by the Board of Governors and managed by investment managers, subject to asset mix and
performance benchmarks contained in the investment policies. The investment managers report on a regular
basis to the Board of Governors.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies will fluctuate due to changes in their respective exchange rates. The University is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk because instruments held in foreign currency are not considered
significant.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the issuer of a financial instrument fails to meet its obligation. The
carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted investment
represents the maximum credit exposure. The credit risk associated with these instruments is considered to be
minimal due to the nature of the instruments and the fact that the majority of the accounts receivable are due
from the federal, territorial, first nation and municipal governments.

Information regarding the University’s accounts receivable is as follows:

2020 2019
Carrying value $ 8,692,908 $ 3,057,205
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 55,230 $ 18,279
Accounts receivable % less than 30 days 89% 79%
Accounts receivable % over 90 days 4% 8%

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become
due.

The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows from
operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the University’s reputation. As at June 30, 2020 and 2019,
substantially all of the University’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities is due within 6 months of year-end.

239



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that changes in financial or market conditions impair the value of the University's
assets, or that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. The University's investments are managed by investment managers in accordance with the
University's investment Governance Policy. The University is not involved in any hedging relationships
through its operations and does not hold or use any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Other price risk is not considered significant.

NOTE 5 - CASH

The University has, if needed, an operating demand line of credit with its banker that allows the University to
borrow up to $500,000 at bank prime. The credit line was unused at both June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019.
The University’s credit facility interest rates are subject to fluctuations in the prime rate.

NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of guaranteed investment certificates of $162,277 (2019 -
$504,332) and cash of $478,206 (2019 - § 51,276).

An amount of $479,023 (2019 - $504,332 (Restated - note 3)) is externally restricted for certain endowment
and deferred contributions. An amount of $161,460 (2019 - $51,276) is internally restricted for prepaid

employee leave.
NOTE 7 - RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS

Investments were comprised of the following:

Level Percentage 2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)
Equity securities 1 62.4% $ 2,503,499 $ 2,271,895
Debt securities 1 35.1% 1,407,219 1,399,197
Cash and cash 1 2.5% 100,359 91.658
equivalents
Total 100% $ 4,011,077 _$ 3.762.750

Restricted investments are externally restricted.
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NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

a) Pension benefits

Yukon College Employees' Pension Plan is a defined-benefit pension plan, which requires the employer and
the employee to make annual contributions to an employee's retirement account. Plan administrators hire an
actuary to calculate the future benefits that the plan must pay an employee and the amount that the employer
and employee must contribute to provide those benefits. During the year, the pension benefits paid by the
pension plan were $3,590,600 (2019 - $3,722,300) and the employer and employee contributions to the
pension plan were $1,863,400 (2019 - $2,084,200) and $1,994,000 (2019 - $2,060,300), respectively.

The pension plan has two groups of members. Group 1 is for members with a start date prior to July 1, 2013.
Group 2 is for members with a start date on or after July 1, 2013. The age at which a member can retire
without a reduced pension is age 60 for Group 1 and age 65 for Group 2. During the fiscal year, Group 1
members were required to contribute to the plan at a rate of 10.72% (2019 — 10.72%) on annual earnings up to
the Yearly Maximum Pensionable Earnings (YMPE) plus 13.12% (2019 — 13.12%) on annual earnings in
excess of the YMPE. Group 2 members were required to contribute to the plan at a rate of 9.43% (2019 —
9.43%) on annual earnings up to the YMPE plus 11.21% (2019 — 11.21%) on annual earnings in excess of the
YMPE.

Assets in the pension plan are based on fair values as reported by the custodian of the funds as at June 30,
2020. No adjustment is made for contributions/payments in transit at that date.

An actuarial valuation for accounting purposes was performed as of June 30, 2020 using the projected benefits
method prorated on services. Pension benefit estimates for the year ending June 30, 2020 were made as part of
the June 30, 2020 valuation.
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NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

a) Pension benefits (continued)

The actuarial valuation was based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as inflation rates,
interest rates, wage and salary increases and employee turnover and mortality. The assumptions used reflect
management’s best estimates of these future events. Key assumptions are summarized below:

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets - beginning of year

$ 112,401,800

2020 2019
Weighted-average assumptions for benefit costs
Discount rate 525 % 5.40 %
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 525 % 5.40 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.40 % 4.00 %
Inflation rate 2.00 % 2.20 %
Expected average remaining service life 10 years 10 years
Weighted-average assumptions of accrued benefit obligation
Discount rate 525 % 5.50 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.40 % 3.50 %
Inflation rate 2.00 % 2.10 %
2020 2019
Change in accrued benefit obligation:
Accrued benefit obligation - beginning of year $ 87,143,800 $ 89,528,700
Current service cost 2,095,100 2,405,300
Interest cost 4,800,300 4,849,000
Employee contributions 1,994,000 2,060,300
Benefits paid (3,590,600) (3,722,300)
Admin expenses (230,000) (210,000)
Actuarial losses (gains) 946,400 (7,767,200)
Accrued benefit obligation - end of year § 93.159.000 $ 87.143.800
2020 2019

§ 108,098,500

Actual return on plan assets 1,386,700 4,091,100
Employer contributions 1,863,400 2,084,200
Employee contributions 1,994,000 2,060,300
Benefits paid (3,590,600) (3,722,300)
Admin expenses (230,000) (210,000)

Fair value of plan assets - end of year

Reconciliation of accrued pension benefit asset:

Accrued benefit obligation - end of year
Fair value of plan assets

§ 113.825.300

$ 112.401.800

02

S

$  (93,159,000)
113.825.300

2019

§ (87,143,800)
112,401,800

Pension benefit surplus 20,666,300 25,258,000
Unamortized net actuarial gains (778,100) (6,982,200)
Accrued pension benefit asset $ 19.888.200 $ 18.275.800

242




YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

a) Pension benefits (continued)

2020 2019
Elements of defined pension plan benefit costs recognized in the year:
Current service cost, net of employee contributions $  2,095100 § 2,405,300
Interest cost on benefit obligation 4,800,300 4,849,000
Expected return on plan assets (6,183,100) (5,843,000)
Amortization of actuarial (gains) losses (461,300) 140,200
Net periodic pension cost recognized $ 251,000 § 1,551,500
Based on fair value of plan assets held as at June 30, the assets
were composed of: 2020 2019
Equity securities 56% 55%
Debt securities 42% 42%
Other 2% 3%
Total 100% 100%

The net periodic pension cost of $251,000 (2019 - $1,551,500) is recognized in salaries, wages and benefits in
note 17 and allocated to expenses by function on the Consolidated Statement of Operations in a manner
consistent with the employee allocation to those functions.

Actuarial valuation for funding purposes

An actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed as of June 30, 2020 which identified the
University's required current service contributions as 100.4% (2019 — 94.3%) of employee contributions.
Under economic and demographic assumptions used in these calculations, this level of University
contributions together with the employee contributions is sufficient to fund the current service costs of the
pension plan benefits.

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes as at June 30, 2020 for the University had an actual surplus of
$16,005,500 (June 30,2019 - $19,586,500) at the measurement date on a going-concern basis and a deficit of
$21,013,500 (June 30, 2019 - $11,295,600) if valued on the basis that the pension plan was terminated/wound
up as at June 30, 2020.

The solvency ratio of the pension plan was 86.3% at June 30, 2020 (2019 — 92.0%). The Government of
Yukon provided pension funding to the University during the year as described in note 18. All required
contributions to the pension plan have been made.

The Pension Benefits Standards Act permits that in lieu of making special solvency payments, letters of credit
can be obtained to reduce the solvency deficiency. In May 2011, for the solvency deficiency, the University
acquired a letter of credit for the pension plan. The face value of the letter of credit was increased by $120,450
per month for the period July 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020. On April 15, 2020 the Federal Government adopted a
regulation to provide temporary, short-term solvency funding relief for sponsors of federally regulated defined
benefit pension plans and, as a result, no increases to the face value of the letter of credit were required for the
period April 1, 2020 to December 30, 2020. The University chose to adopt this moratorium. The face value of
the letter of credit as at June 30, 2020 was $18,932,500. In January 2021 the University renewed the letter of
credit to December 31, 2021 for face value of $21,357,297. The letter of credit is guaranteed by the
Government of Yukon.
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NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

The Government of Yukon has issued letters to a bank guaranteeing that, should there be a requirement to
draw upon the letter of credit required by the University to address its solvency deficit in its pension plan, the
Government of Yukon will be provided the necessary support to address any resulting debt, interest and costs
that made be required under the federal pension legislation. In January 2021, the guarantee remained in effect
to December 31, 2021.

b) Other non-pension employee future benefits

The non-pension benefit plan is not funded and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the
accrued benefit obligation. The benefits include severance, non-vesting but accumulating sick leave, special
leave and other outstanding leave entitlements and will be paid from future sources of revenue. The actuarial
valuation of the accrued benefit liability as at June 30, 2020 as estimated on the June 30, 2019 actuarial
valuation is:

2020 2019
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 6,355,200 $ 5,952,000
Unamortized actuarial gain 282,200 282,800
Actuarially determined other employee future benefits, end of year 6,637,400 6,234,800
Less: Current portion included in vacation leave and employee
future benefits (680,000) (680,000)
Long-term portion other employee future benefits, end of year $ 5957400 §  5.554.800

The annual benefit plan cost and change in accrued benefit liability are as follows:

2020 2019

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 6234800 $§ 5,842,100
Add: Annual benefit plan cost:

Current service cost 903,400 851,000

Interest on accrued benefit obligation 179,200 181,900

Amortization of net actuarial loss - 39,800

Total annual benefit plan cost 1,082,600 1,072,700
Less: Benefits paid by the University (680,000) (680,000)
Actuarially determined other employee future benefits, end of year 6,637,400 6,234,800
Less: Current portion included in vacation leave and employee
future benefits (680,000) (680,000)
Long-term portion other employee future benefits, end of year $ 5957400 §  5.554.800
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 8 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the University’s accrued benefit obligation are

as follows:
2020 2019

Weighted average assumptions for benefit costs:
Discount rate 2.75% 2.75%
Rate of compensation increase

for 10 years 2.75% 2.75%

thereafter 3.25% 3.25%
Expected average remaining service life 11 years 11 years
Weighted average assumptions for accrued benefit obligation:
Discount rate 2.75% 2.75%
Rate of compensation increase

for 10 years 2.75% 2.75%

thereafter 3.25% 3.25%
Expected average remaining service life 11 years 11 years
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YUKON UNIVERSITY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 9 - CAPITAL ASSETS
Beginning End of
of Year Additions Disposals Year
June 30, 2020
Cost:
Leasehold improvements $§ 7,056,317 11,732 (34,153) 7,033,896
Equipment general 3,752,975 180,418 (86,670) 3,846,723
Equipment EDP 761,688 45,694 (10,768) 796,614
Mobile trailers 2,273,284 - - 2,273,284
Furniture and fixtures 353,297 145,564 - 498,861
Works of art 78,948 3,000 - 81,948
Vehicles 521,633 - - 521,633
Work in progress 32,647 - - 32,647
Total $ 14,830,789 386.408 (131,591) 15,085,606
Accumulated Amortization:
Leasehold improvements $§ 1,914,512 381,448 (34,153) 2,261,807
Equipment general 1,456,826 414,866 (79,488) 1,792,204
Equipment EDP 574,873 97,757 (10,768) 661,862
Mobile trailers 659,203 113,664 - 772,867
Furniture and fixtures 133,045 43,733 - 176,778
Works of art - - - -
Vehicles 454,053 21,232 - 475,285
Work in progress - - - -
Total $ 5192512 1.072.700 (124.409) 6.140.803
Carrying Amounts: $  9.638.277 8,944,803
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 9 - CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)
Beginning End of
of Year Additions Disposals Year

June 30, 2019
Cost:
Leaschold improvements $§ 6,907,460  $ 207,587 $ (58,7300 $ 7,056,317
Equipment general 3,598,689 352,063 (197,777) 3,752,975
Equipment EDP 662,210 108,235 (8,757) 761,688
Mobile trailers 2,273,284 - - 2,273,284
Furniture and fixtures 313,636 56,075 (16,414) 353,297
Works of art 76,198 2,750 - 78,948
Vehicles 521,633 - - 521,633
Work in progress 406,481 - (373.,834) 32,647
Total $ 14,759,591 $ 726,710  § (655,512) $ 14,830,789

Accumulated Amortization:
Leasehold improvements $ 1,599,362  § 373,880 $ (58,730) $ 1,914,512

Equipment general 1,266,606 387,997 (197,777) 1,456,826
Equipment EDP 428,493 155,137 (8,757) 574,873
Mobile trailers 545,539 113,664 - 659,203
Furniture and fixtures 112,446 37,013 (16,414) 133,045
Works of art - - - -

Vehicles 378,738 75,315 - 454,053
Work in progress - - - -

Total $ 4331.184 $ 1,143.006 $ (281.678) $  5.192.512

Carrying Amounts: $ 10.428.407 $  9.638.277
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 10 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
2020 2019
Trades accounts payable $ 1,309,606 $ 1,139,107
Payroll payable 1,072,056 1,273,258
Other payables 538,172 526,798
Accrued accounts payable 216,045 247,446

$§ 3.135879 §  3.186.609

NOTE 11 - DEFERRED REVENUE

Contracts Tuition 2020 2019
(Restated-note 3)
Balance, beginning of year $ 403,972 $ 890,211 $ 1,294,183 $ 999,615
(Restated - note 3)
Additions 1,113,204 1,951,630 3,064,834 4,435,033
Revenue recognized (1,370,252) (2,801,975) (4,172,227) (4,140,465)

Balance, end of year $ 146,924 § 39.866 $ 186,790 $ 1,294,183
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 12 - DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS
Government of
Yukon Other Donations 020 2019

contributions contributions (Restated - note 3)
Balance, beginning of year $ 640,478 $ 1,560,118 $ 455,682 $ 2,656,278 $ 2,963,016
(Restated - note 3)
Additions 35,034,812 5,623,260 461,926 41,119,998 41,478,656
Revenue recognized (35,243,255) (4,868,472) (423,222) (40,534,949) (41,865,767)
Investment income - - 99,428 99,428 80,373
Balance, end of year $ 432,035 $ 2,314,906 $ 593.814 $ 3,340,755 ' $ 2.656.278

Other contributions is comprised primarily of amounts from the Government of Canada, and also amounts from First Nations and other organizations.
Donations revenue is recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Operations within student assistance/scholarships.

NOTE 13 - VACATION LEAVE AND EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

2020 2019
Vacation leave liability $ 1,897,998 § 1,878,369
Current portion of other employee future benefits (note 8b) 680,000 680,000
Funds held for income averaging 165,373 -
Long service leave liability 139,811 139,836
Compensatory pay liability 28,691 11,031

$ 2911873 §  2.709.236




YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 14 - LOAN PAYABLE

The University, has entered into an agreement with a donor for a non-interest bearing loan that is invested as
deemed appropriate by the University. Income from the loan will be used to establish and grow a research
endowment. The principal will remain invested until it has been gifted to the University at which time it will
be added to the research endowment and managed under the terms of the endowment agreement. While the loan
is repayable within 90 days on demand, the loan will be in place for a minimum of five years but may be

converted to a gift at any time by the donor.

NOTE 15 - DEFERRED CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The changes in the deferred capital contributions balance for the year are as follows:

2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 5,933,101 6,459,443
Restricted government contributions - (39,999)
Amount amortized to revenue (447,384) (486,343)
Balance, end of year $ 5485717 5.933.101
NOTE 16 - EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR ENDOWMENTS
2020 2019
Endowment balance, beginning of year $ 2,722,553 2,572,828
Investment income added to net assets 173,138 142,198
Contributions from donors 306,715 7,527
Endowment balance, end of year $ 3.202.406 2,722,553
Investment income added to net assets $ 173,138 142,198
Net income on investments recognized as revenue 990 3,187
Total investment income on endowments $ 174,128 145,385
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 17 - EXPENDITURES BY OBJECT
2020 2019

(Restated - note 3)
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 30,679,919 $§ 31,690,707
Contract services 4,180,078 6,518,810
Rental of facilities and equipment 3,308,603 3,183,971
Utilities and communications 2,473,340 2,257,368
Material and supplies 1,371,071 1,791,450
Amortization of capital assets (note 9) 1,072,700 1,143,006
Travel 946,548 1,351,460
Student assistance/scholarships 908,181 569,463
Bank fees and credit card commissions 231,879 220,240
Cost of sales and ancillary services 595,524 671,734
Licenses, permits, and memberships 564,526 475,763
Promotion, events and advertising 460,292 486,414
Other 165,817 133,299
Books and subscriptions 102,998 68,286
Postage and freight 99,094 44,413

$ 47.160.570 § 50.606.384

Fundraising expenses totaling $324,478 (2019 - $364,082) are included in salaries, wages and benefits, contract
services, material and supplies, and promotion, events and advertising.

Services received without charge included in above:

2020 2019
Rental of facilities and equipment § 2,938,143 § 2,744,793
Utilities and communications 1,940,932 1,721,538

§ 4879.075 § 4.466.331

To conform with 2020 presentation, an amount of $1,979,975 has been reclassified from Contract services to
Rental of facilities and equipment and an amount of $575,284 has been reclassified from Employee leave and
termination benefits to Salaries, wages and benefits in the 2019 comparative figures. In addition, the
reclassification of Employee leave and termination benefits to Salaries, wages and benefits affected
classification on the Consolidated Statement of Operations whereas $575,284 has been reclassified to Direct
instruction in the 2019 comparative figures.

NOTE 18 - GOVERNMENT OF YUKON CONTRIBUTIONS

2020 2019
(Restated - note 3)
Operating contributions $ 21,965,258 $ 22,030,760
Contributions other 8,279,438 8,680,872
Services received without charge (note 17) 4,879,075 4,466,331
Pension funding 119,484 121,748

§ 35243255 § 35.299.711

A significant portion of the University’s income is received from the Government of Yukon. In 2020, total
Government of Yukon contributions made up 73% of total revenues (2019 - 70%). In 2020, the University
received $119,484 (2019 - $121,748) for pension letter of credit costs.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended June 30, 2020
NOTE 19 - MISCELLANEOUS INCOME
2020 2019
Salary, travel and other expense recovery $ 383,544  § 834,355
General student fees 256,248 172,432
Other miscellaneous revenue 166,191 136,157
Computer lab usage fees 149,910 119,205
Facilities and equipment rental 83,358 48,352
Book, publication and supply sales 18,011 10,190
Course materials recovery 8,533 5,724
Pension contract recovery 594,784

$ 1065795 § 1.921.199

NOTE 20 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed in Note 18, the University enters into transactions with
related entities in the normal course of business.

The University receives funds from the Government of Yukon for student training allowances, the value of
which was $467,121 (2019 - $497,538) and this is recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Operations
within student assistance/scholarships. Included in the amortization of deferred capital contributions on the
Consolidated Statement of Operations is $307,849 (2019 - $246,459) related to the Government of Yukon.
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

At June 30, 2020 there was $104,777 (2019 - $121,630) of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
$7,666,357 (2019 - $1,490,853) of accounts receivable related to the Government of Yukon. At June 30, 2020
there was $432,035 (2019 - $640,478 (Restated - note 3)) of deferred contributions and $4,302,860 (2019 -
$4,706,511) of deferred capital contributions related to the Government of Yukon. The University has a lease
agreement with the Government of Yukon for a building and land lease which expires June 2022. Lease
payments total $47,828 for fiscal 2020, $49,194 for 2021, and $50,561 for 2022.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 21 - CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result in
revenues and assets in the future. The University's contractual rights arise because of contracts entered into for
undertaking specific programs and projects in the normal course of business. The following table summarizes
the contractual rights of the University:

Government of Government of Other Total
Canada Yukon
2021 $ 2,734,403 $ 21,867,192 $ 922,921 $ 25,524,516
2022 1,305,250 118,750 521,205 1,945,205
2023 648,180 100,000 464,417 1,212,597
Thereafter 477,544 100,000 354,167 931,711
$ 5165377 $§ 22,185,942 $§ 2262710 $ 29.614.029

Government of Canada contributions consist of funds to be received for the Northern Basic Adult Education
program, the Industrial Research Chair — Northern Energy Innovation, a Yukon satellite program, and various
other programs and initiatives such as Industrial Research Assistance, Partners for Children, Bringing
Research Home and Environmental Monitoring.

Government of Yukon contributions consist of funds to be received for core operational funding, the Centre
for Northern Innovation in Mining, university transition, the Yukon Research Centre, the Cold Climate

Innovation Centre, programs such as Practical Nursing and Environmental Monitoring and other initiatives.

Other contributions consist of funds to be received for student support, the Industrial Research Chair —
Northern Energy Innovation and other initiatives.

NOTE 22 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Leases

The University has operating leases and maintenance service agreements for classroom space,
telecommunication, the information system and course curriculum and is committed to basic payments as

follows:
Telecommunication,
Maintenance Course curriculum and
Services Facility Leases Other Contracts Total

2021 $ 164,138 $ 238,441 $ 401,893 $ 804,472
2022 170,704 50,561 122,929 344,194
2023 177,532 - 92,600 270,132
2024 182.633 - - 182,633
$ 695.007 $ 289.002 $ 617422 $ 1,601.431
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NOTE 22 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Capital Assets

The land and buildings at Ayamdigut Campus and some community campuses are owned by the Government of
Yukon and leased to the University at no charge. The Government of Yukon is responsible for major
maintenance and upkeep of the buildings and grounds, and the University is responsible for minor interior
maintenance and repairs.

NOTE 23 - EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES

The revenue in excess of expenses includes net periodic pension cost of $251,000 (2019 - $1,551,500). As
disclosed in note 8a, the University's employer contributions to the pension plan were $2,169,200 (2019 -
$2,084,200), which is $1,612,400 (2019 - $532,700) higher than the amount recognized in expenses for the

year.

NOTE 24 - COMPARATIVE FIGURES

In addition to the comparative figures for 2019 that were restated (note 3), certain other comparative figures
for 2019 have been reclassified to conform with 2020 presentation. The most significant reclassifications have
been described in note 17.

NOTE 25 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Change in year-end

The University changed its financial year end from June 30 to March 31. The effective date of this change is
March 31, 2021.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Management Responsibility

The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management and the Board of Governors of
the Yukon University. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards with Section 4200 series for government not-for-profit
organizations. The consolidated financial statements include estimates based on the experience and
judgment of management.

Management is responsible for maintaining the books of account, financial and management controls, and
information systems, together with management practices designed to provide reasonable assurance that
reliable and accurate financial information is available on a timely basis, that assets are safeguarded and
controlled, that resources are managed economically and efficiently in the attainment of University
objectives and that operations are carried out effectively.

Management is also responsible for designing systems and practices to provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are in accordance with the Yukon University Act, bylaws, and policies of the University.

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial
reporting and internal control. The Board meets on a periodic basis with management and the external
auditor to review the scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the consolidated financial
statements and related financial reporting matters. The Board of Governors has reviewed and approved the
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been independently audited by the University’s auditor, the
Auditor General of Canada, and her report is included herein.

Dr. Lesley Brown
President

ao-

Sheila Ananthan, CPA, CGA
Director, Finance and Administrative Services

September 24, 2021
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General  vérificateur général
of Canada du Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Governors of Yukon University

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yukon University and its controlled
entity (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at

31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of operations, consolidated statement of
changes in net assets, consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses, and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the 9-month period then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated results of its operations, its consolidated remeasurement gains and losses, and

its consolidated cash flows for the 9-month period then ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
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we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

fnr D

Lana Dar, CPA, CA
Principal
for the Auditor General of Canada

Vancouver, Canada
24 September 2021
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2020

March 31. 2021 June 30. 2020

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash (note 4) $ 8.506.296 $ 2.671,041
Accounts receivable (note 3) 7,716,264 8.692.908
Inventories 175.637 194.607
Prepaid expenses 448,704 147.638
Total Current Assets 16.846,901 11,706,194
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 5) 1,111,510 640.483
Restricted investments (note 6) 4.815.042 4,011,077
Accrued pension benefit asset (note 7a) 20.529.300 19.888.200
Capital assets (note 8) 8.735.325 8.944.803
Total Non-current Assets 35.191.177 33.484.563
Total Assets $ 52,038,078 $ 45,190,757
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 9) $ 4.368.312 $ 3,135.879
Deferred revenue (note 10) 204.494 186.790
Deferred contributions (note 11) 5.551.419 3.340.755
Vacation leave and employee future benefits (note 12) 3,735,513 2.911.873
Loan payable (note 13) 996.431 996.431
Total Current Liabilities 14,856,169 10,571,728
Non-current Liabilities
Deferred capital contributions (note 14) 5.520.768 5.485.717
Other employee future benefits (note 7b) 6,294,100 5.957.400
Total Non-current Liabilities 11,814,868 11.443.117
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 3,214,557 3.459.086
Externally restricted for endowments (note 15) 3.240.606 3.202.406
Internally restricted for pension (note 7a) 20,529,300 19.888.200
Internally restricted for capital assets (note 5) 542,597 -
Unrestricted (2,295.837) (2.916.549)

25:231.223 23.633.143
Accumulated remeasurement gains/(losses) 135.818 (457.231)
Total Net Assets 25.367.041 23,175912
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 52.038.078 $ 45,190,757

Contractual rights (note 20)
Contractual obligations (note 21)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

bl ml

Approved by the Board of Governors

Chair Member
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Revenues

Government of Yukon contributions (note 17)

YUKON UNIVERSITY

Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended June 30, 2020

Other contributions (note 11)

Tuition (note 10)
Contracts (note 10)

Sales, rentals, and services

Student assistance/scholarships
Miscellaneous income (note 18)
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 14)

Interest income

Expenses (note 16)
Direct instruction

Direct instructional support
General administration

9-month period ended

March 31. 2021

year ended
June 30. 2020

Services received without charge (note 16)

Research

Facility services and utilities

Cost of sales

Amortization of capital assets (note 8)
Student assistance/scholarships

Miscellaneous

Excess of revenues over expenses (note 22)

$ 28,671,025 35,243,255
4.469,548 4.868.472

2,338913 2,801,975

1,166,117 1,370,252

784,880 1,467,104

725,055 915,984

720,069 1,065,795

445913 447384

44,437 229,265

39,365,957 48.409.486

$ 12,176,681 14,697,283
8.300.454 10,485,924

6,226,999 7297018

3.821.869 4.879.075

3,769.541 4,270,063

1,383,168 1.870.907

895.431 1,575,918

806,730 1,072,700

401,901 908,181

23303 103,501

37.806,077 47,160,570

$ 1,559.880 1,248,916
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended June 30, 2020

9-month period ended year ended

oo Externally Internally Internally Accumulated
Unrestricted v g Restricted for Restricted for Restricted for Remeasurement March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020

Assets : .
— Endowments Pension Capital Assets Losses

Total Total

Balance, beginning of § (2916,549) ' § 3459086 § 3202406 S 19,888,200 § . § @57231) § BIBI2 § 21,775,780
Excess of revenues over
expenses

Capital assets acquired
net of disposals (note 8)
Deferred capital
contributions invested in 480,964 (480,964)
capital assets (note 14)
Amortization of capital
assets (note 8)
Amortization of deferred
capital contributions (445913) 45913

(note 14)

Transfer to internally

restricted for capital (542,597) - - - 542,597

assets

Remeasurement

gains/(losses)

Endowment

contributions

Net gain on investments . - 21814 . . 21814 173,138
Balance, end of period $ (2,295837)  § 324557 8 3,240,606 § 20529300 § 54597 § 135818 § 25367041 § 23175912

918,780 . . 041,100 - . 1,559,880 1,248916

(59750) 59725

806,730 (806,730)

593,049 593,049 (328,637)

16,386 - - - 16,386 306,715

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
For the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended June 30, 2020

9-month period ended year ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Accumulated remeasurement losses, beginning of period $ (457,231) $ (128,594)
Unrealized gains/(losses) attributable to:
Restricted investments 593,049 (328.637)
Accumulated remeasurement gains/(losses), end of period ~ $ 135818  § (457,231)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended June 30, 2020

9-month period ended

March 31. 2021

Operating activities:

year ended
June 30. 2020

Excess of revenues over expenses $ 1,559,880 $ 1,248,916
Items not affecting cash
Amortization of capital assets (note 8) 806,730 1,072,700
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (note 14) (445,913) (447.384)
Loss on disposal of capital assets 58.907 7,182
Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable 976.644 (5.635,703)
Accounts payable 1.232.433 (50,730)
Deferred revenue 17,704 (1,107,393)
Deferred contributions 2.210.664 684.477
Inventories 18,970 (76.,110)
Prepaid expenses (301,066) (12,265)
Vacation leave and employee future benefits 823,640 202,637
Increase in accrued pension benefit asset (641,100) (1,612.400)
Increase in non-current other employee future benefits 336,700 402,600
Cash flows provided from/(used in) operating activities 6,654,193 (5,323,473)
Investing activities:
Increase in restricted cash and cash equivalents (471,027) (84.875)
Increase in restricted investments (210.916) (576.964)
Cash flows used in investing activities (681,943) (661,839)
Capital activities:
Capital assets acquired (note 8) (656,159) (386.,408)
Cash flows used in capital activities (656.,159) (386.408)
Financing activities:
Net investment income from endowments (note 15) 21,814 173,138
Endowment contributions (including transfers) 16,386 306,715
Receipt of deferred capital contributions 480,964 -
Cash flows provided from financing activities 519,164 479,853
Change in cash:
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 5,835,255 (5,891,867)
Cash
Beginning, of period 2,671,041 8,562,908
End of period $ 8.506.,296 $ 2,671,041
Interest received $ 44 436 $ 229.265
Interest paid 73 229

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 1 - PURPOSE

a) The Yukon University Act was proclaimed into force effective February 6, 2020 replacing the Yukon
College Act. Under the Yukon University Act, Yukon College, incorporated under the Yukon College Act,
continues as a corporation under the name Yukon University. Yukon University (the University) is a post-
secondary educational institution. The University is a not-for-profit organization and is a registered charity
under the Income Tax Act and is therefore exempt from tax. A significant portion of its funding is provided by
the Government of Yukon. The purpose of the University is to offer a balance of educational programs.
Programs include baccalaureate, masters and doctoral degree programs, certificate and diploma programs, and
continuing and adult basic education. The University also undertakes and maintains research, scholarly
activities and other learning and training activities for these purposes.

b) The Yukon University Foundation (the Foundation) is incorporated as a not-for-profit organization under
the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act. The Foundation is a registered charity under the Income Tax
Act and is therefore exempt from tax. The Foundation was established:

. to fund, facilitate, promote, and carry out activities which are consistent with the objectives of the
University and to provide support for its educational facilities, educational programs, and education
services;

. to fund the provision of bursaries, scholarships and prizes granted by the University for any purpose
for students in attendance at facilities owned and/or operated by the University;

. to receive bequests, legacies, donations, gifts, funds, and property from all sources and to hold

and invest such funds and property and to administer and distribute such funds and property for
the purposes of the Foundation; and

. to do all such other things as are incidental and ancillary to the attainment of the foregoing purposes
and the exercise of the power of the Foundation.

¢) The University changed its financial year end from June 30 to March 31 to better align with the fiscal year
end of existing funders. The effective date of this change is March 31, 2021.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards. The University has elected to apply the Section 4200 series for
government-not-for-profit organizations.

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the University and its controlled entity, the
Foundation. All inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

The University controls the Foundation as the Board of Governors of the University have the ability to be
appointed as the majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Foundation. The President of the
University is the only board member in common for the Foundation and the University. The President is an
ex-officio member of the Board of Directors of the Foundation and a non-voting member of the Board of
Governors of the University. The Foundation operates out of the University’s main campus building with
the assistance of University employees in the advancement office.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

¢) Financial instruments
The financial instruments of the University include cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, restricted investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, employee accrued liabilities
and loan payable.

All of the University’s financial instruments are assigned to the cost or amortized cost measurement
category, except for restricted investments which are assigned to the fair value measurement category.

Fair value classification

Restricted investments includes equity and debt instruments that are quoted in an active market. They are
initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealized changes in fair value are
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until they are realized.
Realized changes in fair value of restricted investments are recorded as deferred contributions, where they
remain deferred until the restriction on use is fulfilled, and at that time the amount is transferred to the
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Where a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is removed
from accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

The University classifies, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements using a fair value
hierarchy made up of three levels, according to the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: This level includes assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices
for identical assets and liabilities in an active market that the University can access at the measurement
date.

Level 2: This category includes measurements that use, either directly or indirectly, observable inputs other
than quoted prices included in level 1.

Level 3: The measurements in this category depend upon inputs that are less observable, not available or for
which observable inputs do not justify most of the instruments' fair value.

Amortized cost classification

These financial instruments are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses on financial assets. Transaction costs are
added to the cost of the instrument.

Writedowns are recognized when the amount of the loss is known with sufficient precision, and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets are written down to net recoverable value with the
writedown recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Accounts receivable are recorded at
cost less valuation allowances. Valuation allowances are calculated by examining amounts overdue 90
days or more to estimate amounts deemed to be uncollectible.

267



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d) Capital assets

e)

g

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Contributed capital assets are recorded at
fair value at the time of contribution.

When conditions indicate that an asset no longer contributes to the University's ability to provide its
services, the carrying value of the capital asset is reduced to reflect the decline in the asset's value.

Construction in progress costs are capitalized as incurred. These amounts are transferred to various
categories of capital assets and are amortized on a basis consistent with similar assets once the assets are

placed in service.

Capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are estimated
as follows:

Useful life (years)

Leasehold improvements 20
Equipment general 10
Equipment electronic data processing (EDP) 3
Mobile trailers 20
Furniture and fixtures 10
Vehicles 5

The Works of art are capitalized at cost and no amortization is recorded.

Inventories
Inventories consist of items for resale in the bookstore and food service operations and are valued at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out basis.

Contributed services

The University benefits from services provided by volunteers in assisting the institution in carrying out its
activities. The fair value of these services is not reliably estimable and accordingly is not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements.

Employee future benefits

Pension benefits

Yukon University Employees’ Pension Plan (pension plan) is a contributory defined benefit pension plan.
The pension plan provides mandatory pension benefits for all full-time employees and optional benefits for
part-time employees of the University after 24 months of continuous service. The University’s pension plan
provides for defined retirement benefits based on an employee's years of service and average final earnings,
in accordance with the federal Pension Benefits Standards Act, and is indexed in accordance with the
change in Consumer Price Index for 12 months ended September 30. In general, pension benefits are based
on 2% of the best five years of continuous service minus any adjustments required by the Canada Pension
Plan. Plan members can accumulate up to 35 years of continuous service. The University has contracted
with external organizations to provide the services of trustee, administration, consulting, and investment
management for the pension plan. The pension plan assets are held by a trustee and separate financial
statements are prepared for the pension plan.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g) Employee future benefits (continued)
The University accrues its obligations under the pension plan and the related costs, net of plan assets.

The cost of pension benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method prorated on service and management's best estimate of expected plan investment performance,
inflation rates, salary escalation, and retirement ages of employees.

Past service costs from plan amendments are accounted for in the period of the plan amendments.

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining
service life of the related employee group.

Other non-pension benefits

The cost of the benefit plan, other than pension, including severance benefits, non-vesting but accumulating
sick leave and special leave and managers’ accrued leave, payable upon termination of employment, death
or retirement, is actuarially determined using the projected accrued benefit method prorated on employment
services using management's best estimate of inflation rates, salary escalation, and retirement ages of
employees, and is recognized over the period in which the benefits are earned (i.e. the period the employee
renders service to the University). Actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
expected average remaining service life of the related employee group. The University accrues other
vacation and leave benefits for employees as earned based on their respective terms of employment.

h) Revenue recognition
The University follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are
deferred and recognized as revenue on the same basis and in the same periods as expenses under the terms
of the restrictions. Contributions restricted for the purchase of capital assets are deferred and amortized into
revenue at a rate corresponding with the amortization rate for the related capital assets.

Unrestricted contributions, such as operating grants, are recognized as revenue when received or receivable,
if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Endowment contributions are recognized as direct increases in endowment net assets. Interest earned on
endowment contributions where a portion of the interest cannot be spent is added to the endowment
principal. Interest earned on endowment contributions where the investment income can be spent is
deferred until the interest is spent for the specified purposes.

Sales, rentals and services, miscellaneous income, and tuition are reported as revenue at the time the
services are substantially provided, or the products are delivered. Deposits received from students are
recognized as a liability until the student enrolls in courses and requests application of the deposit
against tuition fees charged on their student account. Tuition fees received in advance of courses
being delivered are deferred and recognized as revenue when the courses are delivered.

The University provides education, rentals, research and services to private companies, federal and
territorial government departments, agencies, and corporations through contractual arrangements. Payments
received under these contracts for which the development and delivery of courses and projects are not
completed are recorded as deferred revenue until completion in accordance with the terms of the
agreements.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i)

»

Allocation of expenses

The University allocates the majority of its expenses by function. General administration expenses are not
allocated to other functions but are disclosed separately. Fundraising expenses incurred during the year are
included in general administration expenses.

Internally restricted net assets

Net assets invested in capital assets represents the amount the University has spent on capital assets using
its own funding sources. Net assets internally restricted for pension represents the amounts restricted in
order to meet future pension obligations. Net assets internally restricted for capital assets represents the
amounts restricted in order to invest in capital assets (replacement and purchase of new assets).

k) Related party transactions

)

The University is related to all Government of Yukon departments, corporations, agencies, and the
University's key management personnel. Key management personnel are those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the University. Significant
transactions with related parties and balances at year-end are disclosed separately in the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto.

Inter-entity transactions are transactions between commonly controlled entities. Inter-entity transactions are
recorded on a gross basis and are measured at the carrying amount, except for when inter-entity transactions
are undertaken on similar terms and conditions to those adopted if the entities were dealing at arm's length,
or where costs provided are recovered, they are measured at the exchange amount.

Related party transactions other than inter-entity transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.

The University receives certain services provided by the Government of Yukon without charge. The
majority of the services received without charge represent costs associated with facilities provided by the
Government of Yukon at a reduced, or no, charge. These services are recognized as expenses with an
offsetting credit to revenues in order to reflect the full cost of the University’s operations in its consolidated
financial statements. These services are recorded at amounts based on the Government of Yukon's
amortization expense (for the main campus), and on fair value for the rental of other facilities.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
applicable for government not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amount of revenue and expenses for the year. Significant areas requiring the use of
management estimates relate to the determination of the accrued pension benefit asset and the liabilities for
other employee future benefits, and the estimated useful lives of capital assets. Actual results could differ
significantly from those estimated. Estimates are reviewed annually and as adjustments become necessary,
they are recorded in the consolidated financial statements in the period which they become known.

m) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities may arise from time to time in the normal course of operations. Liabilities on any
litigation are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when it is likely that a future event will
confirm that a liability has been incurred at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. If the likelihood is not determinable or the amount cannot be reasonably
estimated, the contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and no
liability is accrued.
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NOTE 3 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The University’s financial instruments are exposed to the following risks: interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The University manages these risk exposures on an ongoing
basis. The University is not party to any financial derivatives.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in the market interest rates. The University is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed
interest rate for financial instruments, which subject the University to a fair value risk. Investments are
monitored by the Board of Governors and managed by investment managers, subject to asset mix and
performance benchmarks contained in the investment policies. The investment managers report on a regular
basis to the Board of Governors.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies will fluctuate due to changes in their respective exchange rates. The University is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk because instruments held in foreign currency are not considered
significant.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the issuer of a financial instrument fails to meet its obligation. The
carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted investments
represents the maximum credit exposure. The credit risk associated with these instruments is considered to be
minimal due to the nature of the instruments and the fact that the majority of the accounts receivable are due
from the federal, territorial, first nation and municipal governments.

Information regarding the University’s accounts receivable is as follows:

March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Carrying value $ 7,716,264 $ 8,692,908
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 47,170 $ 55,230
Accounts receivable % less than 30 days 93 % 89%
Accounts receivable % over 90 days 4% 4%

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become
due.

The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows from
operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the University’s reputation. As at March 31, 2021 and June
30, 2020, substantially all of the University’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities is due within 6 months of
period-end.
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NOTE 3 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that changes in financial or market conditions impair the value of the University's
assets, or that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. The University's investments are managed by investment managers in accordance with the
University's investment Governance Policy. The University is not involved in any hedging relationships
through its operations and does not hold or use any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Other price risk is not considered significant.

NOTE 4 - CASH

The University has, if needed, an operating demand line of credit with its banker that allows the University to
borrow up to $1,000,000 (June 30, 2020 - $500,000) at bank prime. The credit line was unused at both March 31,
2021 and June 30, 2020. The University’s credit facility interest rates are subject to fluctuations in the prime
rate.

NOTE 5 - RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of guaranteed investment certificates of $818,913 (June 30, 2020 -
$162,277) and cash of $292,597 (June 30, 2020 - $ 478,206).

An amount of $298,450 (June 30, 2020 - $479,023) is externally restricted for certain endowment and deferred
contributions. An amount of $270,463 (June 30, 2020 - $161,460) is internally restricted for prepaid employee
leave. An amount of $542,597 (June 30, 2020 - $ -) is internally restricted for investment in capital assets.

NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS

Investments were comprised of the following:

Level Percentage March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020
Equity securities 1 61.90% $ 2978,152 § 2,503,499
Debt securities 1 34.70% 1,671,808 1.407.219
Cash and cash equivalents 1 3.40% 165,082 100,359
Total 100.00% $ 4815.042 § 4,011,077

Restricted investments are externally restricted.
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NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

a) Pension benefits
Yukon University Employees' Pension Plan is a defined-benefit pension plan, which requires the employer
and the employee to make annual contributions to an employee's retirement account. Plan administrators
hire an actuary to calculate the future benefits that the plan must pay an employee and the amount that the
employer and employee must contribute to provide those benefits. During the 9-month period ended
March 31, 2021, the pension benefits paid by the pension plan were $3,764,500 (year ended June 30, 2020 -
$3,590,600) and the employer and employee contributions to the pension plan were $1,812,000 (year ended
June 30, 2020 - $1,863,400) and $1,797,000 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $1,994,000), respectively.

The pension plan has two groups of members. Group 1 is for members with a start date prior to July 1,
2013. Group 2 is for members with a start date on or after July 1, 2013. The age at which a member can
retire without a reduced pension is age 60 for Group 1 and age 65 for Group 2. During the 9-month period
ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended June 30, 2020, Group 1 members were required to contribute to
the plan at a rate of 10.72% on annual earnings up to the Yearly Maximum Pensionable Earnings (YMPE)
plus 13.12% on annual earnings in excess of the YMPE. During the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021
and year ended June 30, 2020, Group 2 members were required to contribute to the plan at a rate of 9.43%
on annual earnings up to the YMPE plus 11.21% on annual earnings in excess of the YMPE.

Assets in the pension plan are based on fair values as reported by the custodian of the funds as at March
31, 2021. No adjustment is made for contributions/payments in transit at that date.

An actuarial valuation for accounting purposes was performed as at March 31, 2021 using the projected
benefits method prorated on services.
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NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

a) Pension benefits (continued)
The actuarial valuation was based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as inflation rates,
interest rates, wage and salary increases and employee turnover and mortality. The assumptions used reflect
management’s best estimates of these future events. Key assumptions are summarized below:

9-month period ended
March 31, 2021

vear ended
June 30. 2020

Weighted-average assumptions for benefit costs
Discount rate

5.30% 5.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 5.30% 5.25%
Rate of compensation increase 3.40% 3.40%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Expected average remaining service life 10 years 10 years

Weighted-average assumptions of accrued benefit obligation

Discount rate 5.30% 5.25%
Rate of compensation increase 3.40% 3.40%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%

9-month period ended
March 31, 2021

vear ended
June 30. 2020

Change in accrued benefit obligation:

Accrued benefit obligation - beginning of period $ 93.159.000 $ 87.143.800
Current service cost, net of employee contributions 1.898.200 2.095.100
Interest cost 3,657.700 4.800.300
Employee contributions 1.797.000 1.994.000
Benefits paid (3.764.500) (3.590.600)
Admin expenses (458.100) (230.000)
Actuarial (gains)/losses (1.226.100) 946,400

Accrued benefit obligation - end of period $ 95.063.200 $ 93.159.000

9-month period ended vear ended

March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets - beginning of period $ 113.825.300 $ 112.401.800
Actual return on plan assets 19.293.500 1.386.700
Employer contributions 1.812.000 1.863.400
Employee contributions 1.797.000 1.994.000
Benefits paid (3.764.500) (3.590.600)
Admin expenses (458.100) (230.000)
Fair value of plan assets - end of period $ 132,505.200 $ 113.825.300
March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020
Reconciliation of accrued pension benefit asset - end of period:
Accrued benefit obligation $ (95.063.200) $ (93.159.000)
Fair value of plan assets 132.505.200 113.825.300
Pension benefit surplus 37.442.000 20.666.300
Unamortized net actuarial gains (16.912.700) (778.100)
Accrued pension benefit asset $ 20.529.300 $ 19.888.200

The unamortized net actuarial gains of $16,912,700 as at March 31, 2021 is primarily comprised of the

difference between the expected return on plan assets and the actual return on plan assets for the 9-month
period ended March 31, 2021.

274



YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

a) Pension benefits (continued)

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Elements of defined pension plan benefit costs recognized in the period:
Current service cost. net of employee contributions $ 1.898.200 $ 2.095.100
Interest cost on benefit obligation 3.657.700 4.800.300
Expected return on plan assets (4.469.800) (6.183.100)
Amortization of actuarial losses/(gains) 84.800 (461.300)
Net periodic pension cost recognized s 1.170.900 251.000
Based on fair value of plan assets held. the assets were composed of:
March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020
Equity securities 58% 56%
Debt securities 41% 42%
Other 1% 2%
Total 100% 100%

The net periodic pension cost of $1,170,900 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $251,000) is recognized in salaries,
wages and benefits in note 16 and allocated to expenses by function on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations in a manner consistent with the employee allocation to those functions.

Actuarial valuation for funding purposes

An actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed as at June 30, 2020 which identified the
University's required current service contributions as 100.4% (June 30, 2019— 94.3%) of employee
contributions. Under economic and demographic assumptions used in these calculations this level of
University contributions, together with the employee contributions is sufficient to fund the current
service costs of the pension plan benefits.

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes as at June 30, 2020 for the University had an actual surplus of
$16,005,500 (June 30, 2019 - $19,586,500) at the measurement date on a going-concern basis and a deficit of
$21,013,500 (June 30, 2019 - $11,295,600) if valued on the basis that the pension plan was
terminated/wound up as at June 30, 2020. The solvency ratio of the pension plan was 86.3% as at June 30,
2020. The Government of Yukon provided a pension related contribution to the University during the year
as described in note 17. All required contributions to the pension plan have been made.

The Pension Benefits Standards Act permits that in lieu of making special solvency payments, letters of
credit can be obtained to reduce the solvency deficiency. In May 2011, for the solvency deficiency, the
University acquired a letter of credit for the pension plan. The face value of the letter of credit was increased
by $202,067 per month for the period January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021. On April 15, 2020 the Federal
Government adopted a regulation to provide temporary, short-term solvency funding relief for sponsors of
federally regulated defined benefit pension plans and, as a result, no increases to the face value of the letter
of credit were required for the period April 1, 2020 to December 30, 2020. The University chose to adopt
this moratorium. The face value of the letter of credit as at June 30, 2020 was $18,932,500. In January 2021
the University renewed the letter of credit to December 31, 2021 for face value of $21,357,297. The letter of
credit is guaranteed by the Government of Yukon.

A new actuarial valuation for funding purposes will be prepared as at June 30, 2021 and will be filed with the
regulator prior to December 31, 2021.
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NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

a) Pension benefits (continued)
The Government of Yukon has issued letters to a bank guaranteeing that, should there be a requirement to
draw upon the letter of credit required by the University to address its solvency deficit in its pension plan,
the Government of Yukon will provide the necessary support to address any resulting debt, interest and
costs that may be required under the federal pension legislation. In January 2021, the guarantee remained in
effect to December 31, 2021.

b) Other non-pension benefits
The non-pension benefit plan is not funded and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the
accrued benefit obligation. The benefits include severance, non-vesting but accumulating sick leave, special
leave and other outstanding leave entitlements and will be paid from future sources of revenue. The actuarial
valuation of the accrued benefit liability is:

March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020

Accrued benefit obligation, end of period
Unamortized actuarial gain $ 6,707,200 $ 6,355.200
Actuarially determined other employee future benefits, end of period 266,900 282,200
Less: Current portion included in vacation leave and employee 6,974,100 6,637,400
future benefits
Long-term portion other employee future benefits, end of period (680,000) (680,000)

$ 6,294,100 § 5.957.400

The annual benefit plan cost and change in accrued benefit liability are as follows:

9-month period ended yvear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of period $ 6637400 § 6.234.800
Add: Annual benefit plan cost:

Current service cost 706.300 903.400

Interest on accrued benefit obligation 140,400 179.200

Amortization of net actuarial gain - -

Total annual benefit plan cost 7.484.100 7,317,400
Less: Benefits paid by the University (510,000) (680,000)
Actuarially determined other employee future benefits, end of period 6,974,100 6,637,400
Less: Current portion included in vacation leave and employee
future benefits (680,000) (680,000)
Long-term portion other employee future benefits, end of period $ 6,294,100 § 5.957.400
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NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (continued)

b) Other non-pension benefits (continued)

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the University’s accrued benefit obligation are

as follows:
9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020

Weighted average assumptions for benefit costs:
Discount rate 2.75% 2.75%
Rate of compensation increase

for 10 years 2.75% 2.75%

thereafter 3.25% 3.25%
Expected average remaining service life 11 years 11 years
Weighted average assumptions for accrued benefit obligation:
Discount rate 2.75% 2.75%
Rate of compensation increase

for 10 years 2.75% 2.75%

thereafter 3.25% 3.25%
Expected average remaining service life 11 years 11 years
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 8 — CAPITAL ASSETS

8/¢

B—M—epw > of Additions Disposals End of Period
March 31, 2021
Cost:
Leasehold improvements 7.033.896 18.819 (29.630) 7.023.085
Equipment general 3.846.723 172,130 (180.566) 3.838.287
Equipment EDP 796.614 52.334 (4.098) 844 850
Mobile trailers 2273284 9412 (111.304) 2171397
Furniture and fixtures 498.861 - - 498.861
Works of art 81,948 21,500 - 103,448
Vehicles 521,633 - - 521,633
Work in progress 32.647 381.964 - 414611
Total 15.085.606 656,159 (325,598) 15.416.167
Accumulated Amortization:
Leasehold improvements 2.261.807 286.772 (29.631) 2.518.948
Equipment general 1.792.204 321,933 (162.,005) 1L.952.1%2
Equipment EDP 661,862 66.664 (4.098) 724 428
Mobile trailers 772.867 85.248 (70.957) 787.158
Furniture and fixtures 176,778 33.480 - 210258
Works of art - - - -
Vehicles 475285 12.633 - 487918
Work in progress - - - -
Total 6.140.803 806.730 (266.691) 6.680.842
Carrying Amounts: 8.944 803 8.735325
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YUKON UNIVERSITY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 8 — CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

Beginning of Year Additions Disposals End of Period
June 30, 2020
Cost:
Leasehold improvements 7.056.317 11,732 (34.153) 7.033.896
Equipment general 3,752,975 180418 (86.670) 3.846.723
Equipment EDP 761.688 45.6%94 (10.768) 796.614
Mobile trailers 2,273,284 - - 2,273,284
Furniture and fixtures 353,297 145.664 - 498.861
Works of art 78.948 3,000 - 81,948
Vehicles 521,633 - - 521,633
Work in progress 32,647 - - 32,647
Total 14.830.789 386,508 (131,591) 15.085.606
Accumulated Amortization:
Leasehold improvements 1,914 512 381.448 (34,153) 2.261.807
Equipment general 1.456.826 414 866 (79.488) 1.792.204
Equipment EDP 574,873 97,757 (10,768) 661.862
Mobile trailers 659,203 113,664 - 772,867
Furniture and fixtures 133,045 43,733 - 176,778
Works of art - - - -
Vehicles 454053 21,232 - 475,285
Work in progress E - - -
Total 5,192,512 1,072,700 (124.409) 6,140,803
Carrying Amounts: 9.638.277 8.944 803
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 9 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Trades accounts payable $ 1,436,579 § 416.552
Payroll payable 1,116,591 1,072,056
Student deposits 1,083,111 902,174
Accrued accounts payable 475,901 216.045
Other payables 256.130 529,052

$ 4368312 § 3,135,879
NOTE 10 - DEFERRED REVENUE
Contracts Tuition 9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020

Balance, beginning of period $ 146,924 § 39.866 $ 186,790 § 1,294,183
Additions 1,059,617 2463,117 3,522,734 3.064.834
Revenue recognized (1,166,117) (2.338913) (3.505,030) (4,172,227)

Balance, end of period $ 40424 § 164,070 § 204494 § 186,790
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 11 - DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

Government of ) L . 9-month period ended vear ended
Yukon Contributions eI confribution S March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Balance, beginning of period $ 432,035 $ 2314906 $ 593814 § 3.340.755  $ 2,656,278
Additions 24424821 6.776.614 517.029 31.718.464 41.119.998
Revenue recognized (24.849.156) (4.469.548) (382,288) (29.700,992) (40.534.949)
Investment income - - 193,192 193,192 99.428
Balance, end of period $ 7.700 $ 4,621,972 $ 921,747 $ 5.551419 % 3,340,755

Government of Yukon contributions (note 17) includes services received without charge of $3,821,869 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $4,879,075) in
addition to $24,849,156 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $30,364,180) recognized from deferred contributions, for a total of $28,671,025 (year ended June
30, 2020 - $35,243,255).

Other contributions is comprised primarily of amounts from the Government of Canada, and also amounts from First Nations and other organizations.
Donations revenue is recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Operations within student assistance/scholarships.

NOTE 12 - VACATION LEAVE AND EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020

Vacation leave hability $ 2657383 $ 1.897.998
Current portion of other employee future benefits (note 7b) 680,000 680,000
Funds held for income averaging 271,728 165,373
Long service leave hability 119,537 139811
Compensatory pay hability 6,865 28,691

$ 3,735513 § 2911873




YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 13 - LOAN PAYABLE

The University has entered into an agreement with a donor for a non-interest bearing loan that is invested as
deemed appropriate by the University. Income from the loan will be used to establish and grow a research
endowment. The principal will remain invested until it has been gifted to the University at which time it will
be added to the research endowment and managed under the terms of the endowment agreement. While the loan
is repayable within 90 days on demand, the loan may be converted to a gift at any time by the donor.

NOTE 14 - DEFERRED CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The changes in the deferred capital contributions balance are as follows:

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Balance, beginning of period $ 5485717 § 5,933,101
Restricted government contributions 480,964 -
Amount amortized to revenue (445913) (447.384)
Balance, end of period $ 5,520,768 § 5,485,717

NOTE 15 - EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR ENDOWMENTS

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Endowment balance, beginning of period $ 3202406 $ 2,922 553
Investment income added to net assets 21.814 173,138
Contributions from donors 16,386 306,715
Endowment balance, end of period $ 3.240.606 § 3,202,406
Investment income added to net assets $ 21814 § 173,138
Net income on investments recognized as revenue - 990
Total investment income on endowments $ 21814 $ 174,128
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 16 - EXPENDITURES BY OBJECT

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020

Salaries, wages and benefits $ 25,620,853 $ 30.679.919
Contract services 3.485.142 4.180.078
Rental of facilities and equipment 2.630.368 3.308.603
Utilities and communications 1.921.408 2.473.340
Material and supplies 1.120.418 1,371,071
Amortization of capital assets (note 8) 806.730 1.072.700
Licenses, permits, and memberships 465.087 564.526
Student assistance/scholarships 401,901 908.181
Promotion, events and advertising 374.965 460.292
Cost of sales and ancillary services 291.801 595.524
Travel 208,125 946.548
Bank fees and credit card commissions 193.470 231.879
Other 160.358 165.817
Books and subscriptions 64.505 102.998
Postage and freight 60.946 99.094

$ 37.806,077 $ 47.160.570

Fundraising expenses totaling $219,460 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $324,478) are included in salaries, wages
and benefits, contract services, material and supplies, and promotion, events, and advertising.

Services received without charge included in above:

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Rental of facilities and equipment $ 2322947 § 2,938,143
Utilities and communication 1,498,922 1,940,932
$ 3.821.869 § 4,879,075

NOTE 17 - GOVERNMENT OF YUKON CONTRIBUTIONS

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30, 2020
Operating contributions $ 17918612 § 21,965,258
Contributions other 6,840,931 8,279.438
Services received without charge (note 16) 3.821.869 4,879,075
Pension funding 89,613 119,484
$ 28,671,025 $ 35,243,255

A significant portion of the University’s income is received from the Government of Yukon. For the 9-
month period ended March 31, 2021, total Government of Yukon contributions made up 73% of total
revenues (year ended June 30, 2020 - 73%). For the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021, the University
received $89,613 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $119,484) for pension letter of credit costs.
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 18 - MISCELLANEOUS INCOME

9-month period ended vear ended
March 31, 2021 June 30. 2020

Salary, travel and other expense recovery $ 354,787 $ 383,544
Computer lab usage fees 138.783 149.910
General student fees 120.644 256.248
Other miscellaneous revenue 69.480 166.191
Facilities and equipment rental 24,529 83.358
Book, publication and supply sales 6.158 18.011
Course materials recovery 4.583 8.533

Pension contract recovery 1.105 -
$ 720,069 $ 1,065,795

NOTE 19 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed in Note 17, the University enters into transactions with
related entities in the normal course of business.

The University receives funds from the Government of Yukon for student training allowances. An amount of
$334,354 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $467,121) is recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Operations
within student assistance/scholarships. Included in the amortization of deferred capital contributions on the
Consolidated Statement of Operations is $306,493 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $307,849) related to the
Government of Yukon. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the
exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

At March 31, 2021 there was $159,528 (June 30, 2020 - $104,777) of accounts payable and accrued liabilities
and $5,273,063 (June 30, 2020 - $7,666,357) of accounts receivable related to the Government of Yukon. At
March 31, 2021 there was $7,700 (June 30, 2020 - $432,035) of deferred contributions and $4,378,331 (June 30,
2020 - $4,302,860) of deferred capital contributions related to the Government of Yukon. The University has a
lease agreement with the Government of Yukon for a building and land lease which expires June 2022. Lease
payments total $49,194 for the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021, and $50,561 for the year ended March 31,
2022,
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 20 - CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result in
revenues and assets in the future. The University's contractual rights arise because of contracts entered into for
undertaking specific programs and projects in the normal course of business. The following table summarizes
the contractual rights of the University:

Government of Government of

Canada Yukon Other Total
2022 $ $3413885 $ $236,186 $ $1994064 $ 5,644,135
2023 1,928,180 109,368 1,732,493 3,770,041
2024 1.602.544 100,000 1.780.949 3.483.493
Thereafter 1,212,094 - 1,860,313 3,072,407
$ 8,156,703 $ 445554 S 7.367.819 $ 15,970,076

Government of Canada contributions consist of funds to be received for the Northern Basic Adult Education
program, the Industrial Research Chair — Northern Energy Innovation, a Yukon satellite program, and various
other programs and initiatives such as Industrial Research Assistance, Partners for Children, Bringing
Research Home and Environmental Monitoring.

Government of Yukon contributions consist of funds to be received for the Centre for Northern Innovation in
Mining, the Yukon Research Centre, the Cold Climate Innovation Centre, programs such as Environmental

Monitoring and other initiatives.

Other contributions consist of funds to be received for student support, the Industrial Research Chair —
Northern Energy Innovation and other initiatives.

NOTE 21 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Leases

The University has operating leases and maintenance service agreements for classroom space,
telecommunication, the information system and course curriculum and is committed to basic payments as

follows:
Telecommunication
Maint : i
caicnance. e.nance Facility Leases R E—— Total
Services I — and Other E—
Contracts

2022 $ 199.029 $ 86,238 $ 1,021381 $ 1,306,648
2023 206,991 13,061 246,839 466.891
2024 215270 - 75,935 291,205
2025 - - 20.666 20,666
$ 62129 $ 99299 $ 1364821 $ 2.085.410
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YUKON UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
9-month period ended March 31, 2021 and year ended June 30, 2020

NOTE 21 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Capital Assets

The land and buildings at Ayamdigut Campus and some community campuses are owned by the Government of
Yukon and leased to the University at no charge. The Government of Yukon is responsible for major

maintenance and upkeep of the buildings and grounds, and the University is responsible for minor interior
maintenance and repairs.

NOTE 22 - EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES

The revenue in excess of expenses includes net periodic pension cost of $1,170,900 (year ended June 30, 2020 -
$251,000). As disclosed in note 7a, the University's employer contributions to the pension plan were $1,812,000
(year ended June 30, 2020 - $1,863,400), which is $641,100 (year ended June 30, 2020 - $1,612,400) higher than
the amount recognized in expenses for the 9-month period ended March 31, 2021.

NOTE 23 - COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures for 2020 included in these financial statements, have been reclassified to conform
with the 2021 presentation.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and all other financial information
relating to the Corporation contained in this annual report. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by management using methods appropriate for the industry in
which the Corporation operates and necessarily include some amounts that are based on
judgments and best estimates of management. The financial information contained elsewhere in
this annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements. The Auditor
General of Canada is the external auditor of the Corporation.

Management has established internal accounting control systems to meet its responsibilities for
reliable and accurate reporting. These systems include policies and procedures, the careful
selection and training of qualified personnel and an organizational structure that provides for the
appropriate delegation of authority and segregation of responsibilities. '

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, oversees management's responsibilities for
financial reporting. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and the independent
auditor to discuss auditing and financial matters to ensure that management is carrying out its
responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements. The auditors have full and
free access to the Audit Committee and management.

/
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Cx‘{ : L
Blaine Anderson
Chief Financial Officer

President and CEO
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General  vérificateur général
of Canada du Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Minister responsible for the Yukon Development Corporation

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Yukon Development Corporation

and its subsidiary (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all

material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

15
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated o
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Compliance with Specified Authorities
Opinion

In conjunction with the audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have audited
transactions of the Yukon Development Corporation coming to our notice for compliance with
specified authorities. The specified authorities against which compliance was audited are the
Financial Administration Act of Yukon and regulations, the Yukon Development Corporation
Act and regulations, the Public Utilities Act and regulations, the Business Corporations Act
and regulations, and the articles and by-laws of the Yukon Development Corporation.

In our opinion, the transactions of the Yukon Development Corporation that came to our notice
during the audit of the consolidated financial statements have complied, in all material respects,
with the specified authorities referred to above. Further, as required by the Yukon Development
Corporation Act, we report that, in our opinion, the accounting principles in IFRSs have been
applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year. In addition, in our opinion, proper
books of account have been kept by the Yukon Development Corporation and the consolidated
financial statements are in agreement therewith.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Specified Authorities

Management is responsible for the Yukon Development Corporation’s compliance with the specified
authorities named above, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the Yukon Development Corporation to comply with the specified authorities.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance with Specified Authorities

Our audit responsibilities include planning and performing procedures to provide an audit opinion

and reporting on whether the transactions coming to our notice during the audit of the consolidated
financial statements are in compliance with the specified authorities referred to above.

S Din

Lana Dar, CPA, CA
Principal
for the Auditor General of Canada

Vancouver, Canada
25 June 2021
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Yukon Development Corporation

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31, 2020 2019
Assets
Current
Cash $ 5,964 $ 9,085
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 30,127 10,452
Inventories (Note 6) 4,095 4,018
Prepaid expenses 1,443 741
41,629 24,296
Non-current
Right-of-use asset (Note 7) 427 639
Finance lease receivable (Note 8) 85 85
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9) 476,892 463,078
Intangible assets (Note 10) 17,436 12,462
Total assets 536,469 500,560
Regulatory deferral account debit balances (Note 11) 34,613 38,988
Total assets and regulatory deferral account
debit balances $ 571,082 $ 539,548
Liabilities
Current. . . . .
Bank indebtedness (Note 12) $ 31,928 $ 19,680
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 13) 18,170 11,329
Current portion of deferred revenue (Note 17) 1,658 2,661
Current portion of lease liability (Note 7) 206 206
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 14) 3,608 3,382
55,570 37,258
Non-current
Post-employment benefits (Note 15) 9,071 7,689
Contributions in aid of construction (Note 16) 87,979 76,952
Deferred revenue (Note 17) 18,486 17,994
Lease liability (Note 7) 237 443
Derivative related liability (Note 26) 5,050 1,930
Long-term debt (Note 14) 201,181 199,969
Total liabilities 377,574 342,235
Equity
Contributed capital 41,501 41,501
Retained earnings 142,856 145,612
Total equity 184,357 187,113
Total liabilities and equity 561,931 529,348
Regulatory deferral account credit balances (Note 11) 9,151 10,200

Total liabilities, equity and regulatory deferral
account credit balances $ 571,082 $ 539,548

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 23 and 24)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Approved - B X
, Chair ™ SA\“/ , Director

= D
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Yukon Development Corporation

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

294

For the year ended December 31, 2020 2019
Revenues
Sales of power (Note 18) $ 70,625 50,206
Yukon Government contributions (Note 22) 7,339 7,455
Other (Note 19) 4,318 1,468
82,282 59,129
Operating expenses
Operations and maintenance (Note 20) 41,368 32,725
Administration (Note 21) 13,076 12,482
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7, 9 and 10) 12,913 13,312
67,357 58,519
Income before other income and other expenses 14,925 610
Other income
Amortization of contributions in aid of construction (Note 16) 1,368 1,367
Allowance for funds used during construction 850 643
Interest income : 96 108
2,314 2,118
Other expenses
Interest on borrowings 7,901 8,360
Interim electrical rebate program subsidies (Note 1) 3,137 3,171
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps (Note 26) 3,120 888
Innovative renewable energy initiative program subsidies (Note 1) 1,297 1,228
15,455 13,647
Net income (loss) for the year before net movement in regulatory
deferral account balances 1,784 (10,919)
- Net movement in regulatory deferral account balances
related to net (loss) income (Note 11(d)) (3,326) 11,014
Net (loss) income for the year and net movement in regulatory
deferral account balances (1,542) 95
Other comprehensive loss
Item that will not be reclassified to net income in subsequent periods
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans (Note 15) (1,214) (1,859)
Total comprehensive loss for the year $ (2,756) (1,764)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
19



Yukon Development Corporation

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated

Other
Contributed Retained Comprehensive
Capital Earnings Loss Total
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 41,501 $ 147,376 $ - $ 188,877
Net income for the year and net movement
in regulatory deferral account balances - 95 - 95
Other comprehensive loss - - (1,859) (1,859)
Transfer of remeasurement of defined benefit
pension plans to retained earnings - (1,859) 1,859 -
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 41,501 $ 145,612 $ - $ 187,113
Net loss for the year and net movement
in regulatory deferral account balances - (1,542) - (1,542)
Other comprehensive loss - — - (1,214) (1,214)
Transfer of remeasurement of defined benefit
pension plans to retained earnings - (1,214) 1,214 -
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 41,501 $ 142,856 $ - $ 184,357
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
20
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Yukon Development Corporation

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

296

For the year ended December 31, 2020 2019
Operating activities
Cash receipts from customers $ 69,875 $ 46,140
Cash receipts from Yukon Government 4222 8,686
Cash receipts from contributions in aid of construction - 528
Cash paid to suppliers (40,868) (36,178)
Cash paid to employees (12,022) (12,359)
Interest paid (8,232) (8,297)
Interest received 126 235
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13,101 (1,245)
Financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt 4,800 10,724
Repayment of long-term debt - (3,362) (3,223)
Lease payments (206) (226)
Cash provided by financing activities 1,232 7,275
~ Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (23,790) (19,392)
Additions to intangible assets (5,912) (2,346)
Cash used in investing activities (29,702) (21,738)
Net decrease in cash (15,369) (15,708)
Cash, beginning of year (10,595) 5,113
Cash, end of year $ (25,964) $ (10,595)
Cash includes:
Cash $ 5,964 $ 9,085
Bank indebtedness (note 12) (31,928) (19,680)
Total $ (25,964) $ (10,595)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31,2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations

a) General

Yukon Development Corporation was originally established under the Yukon Development Corporation Act to
participate with the private sector in the economic development of the Yukon, to make strategic investments to the
benefit of the territory and to acquire and operate the assets of Northern Canada Power Commission in the Yukon.
In 1993, the Yukon Development Corporation's mandate was changed to restrict its new initiatives to energy-related
activities designed to promote the economic development of the Yukon. The Yukon Development Corporation's
principal place of business is located at 2180 Second Avenue, Suite 234 Whitehorse, YT, Y1A 5N6.

Yukon Development Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, Yukon Energy Corporation (the "Utility") was
incorporated under the Yukon Business Corporations Act. The Utility generates, transmits, distributes and sells
electrical energy in the Yukon and is subject to overall regulation by the Yukon Utilities Board ("YUB") and specific

" regulation by the Yukon Water Board. Both boards are consolidated by the Yukon Government and are related
parties for accounting purposes to the Yukon Development Corporation and the Utility. Management has assessed
that these boards operate independently from the Yukon Development Corporation and the Utility from a rate
setting and operating perspective. The Ultility's principal place of business is located at #2 Miles Canyon Road,
Whitehorse, YT, Y1A 6S7.

Yukon Development Corporation and the Utility are not subject to income taxes.

Yukon Development Corporation consolidates the financial statements of its subsidiary, the Utility. All intercompany
transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. References in these consolidated
financial statements to "Corporation" refer to the consolidated entity.

b) Rate regulation

The operations of the Corporation are regulated by the YUB pursuant to the Public Utilities Act. The Corporation is
subject to a cost of service regulatory mechanism under which the YUB establishes the revenues required (i) to
recover the forecast operating costs, including depreciation and amortization, of providing the regulated service,
and (ii) to provide a fair and reasonable return on Corporation investment in rate base. There is no minimum
requirement for the Corporation to appear before the YUB to review rates. However, the Corporation is not
permitted to charge any rate for the supply of power that is not approved by an Order of the YUB. As actual
operating conditions may vary from forecast, actual returns achieved can differ from approved returns.

The regulatory hearing process used to establish or change rates typically begins when the Corporation files a
General Rate Application ("GRA") for its proposed electricity rate changes over the next one or two forecast years.
The YUB must ensure that its decision, which fixes electricity rates, complies with appropriate principles of rate
making, all relevant legislation including the Public Utilities Act and directives issued by Yukon Government through
Orders-In-Council (OIC) that specify how the interests of the customer and Corporation are to be balanced.

The YUB typically follows a two-stage decision process. In the first stage, the total costs that the Corporation

expects it will incur to provide electricity to its customers over the immediate future are reviewed and approved.

The approval of these costs determines the total revenues the Corporation is allowed to collect from its customers.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31,2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations - continued

It is the responsibility of the YUB to examine the legitimacy of three classes of costs:
e the costs to the Corporation to run its operations and maintain its equipment (personnel and materials);
o the cost associated with the depreciation of all capital equipment; and
o the return on rate base (the costs related to borrowing that portion of rate base which is financed with
debt, plus the costs to provide a reasonable rate of return on that portion of rate base which is financed with

equity).

The YUB assesses the prudency of costs added to rate base, which includes an allowance for funds used during
construction ("AFUDC") charged to capital projects. The YUB also reviews the appropriateness of property, plant
and equipment depreciation rates, which are periodically updated by the Corporation through depreciation studies.

In the second stage, the ' YUB approves how the revenue will be raised. This stage essentially determines the
electricity rates for the various customer classes in the Yukon: wholesale, general service, industrial, residential,
sentinel and street lights and secondary sales. This process is guided mainly by requirements of OIC 1995/90 and
can include a cost-of-service study which allocates the Corporatlon s overall cost of service to the various customer
classes on the basis of appropriate costing principles.

In November 2020, the Corporation filed a GRA for the year 2021 requesting approval of revenue requirement and
related rate increases. The GRA requested a rate increase of 11.54%. An interim refundable rate rider (10.08%)
was approved effective July 1, 2021. The Corporation expects to complete the process and a final order from the
YUB near the end of 2021.

The GRA requested a board order related to the regulatory deferral accounts, specifically a change to the long-term
average for fuel costs to better reflect current market conditions.

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the requested rate increase as the rate increase is for the
period starting January 1, 2021. Refer to Note 4 Regulatory deferral account balances.

c) Water regulation

The Yukon Water Board ("YWB"), pursuant to the Yukon Waters Act, decides if and for how long the Corporation
will have water licences for the purposes of operating hydro generation stations in the Yukon. The licences will also
indicate terms and conditions for the operation of these facilities. The current water licenses have the following

terms:
Aishihik Generating Station February 28, 2023
Mayo Generating Station December 31, 2025
Whitehorse Generating Station December 31, 2025

d) Capital structure
The Utility's policy which has been approved by the YUB is to maintain a capital structure of 60% debt and 40%
equity (Note 27).
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations - continued

e) Yukon Government

In August 2020, the Yukon Government authorized the continuation of the Interim Electrical Rebate program (the
“rebate”) for 12 months to March 31, 2021. The rebate provides subsidies to non-government residential and
municipal customers. It was implemented in 1998 after the Faro mine closed to protect customers from significant
bill increases that would have resulted from that shutdown. The Yukon Government is providing funding for the
monthly rebate based on $0.02395/kwh for the period from April 1, 2020 to May 31, 2020 and $0.02328/kwh for the
period from June 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 applied to residential customers to a maximum of $3.5 million
annually.

The Corporation and the Yukon Government signed a Memorandum of Understanding for the accounting period
starting April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2042 regarding the Mayo B and Carmacks-Stewart Transmission line projects.
The Yukon Government will assist in funding the repavment of a portion of the bond interest costs of up to $2.625
million annually, subject to the Corporation meeting specified terms set out in the agreement.

The Corporation signed an agreement with the Yukon Government for the period from January 1, 2018 to March
31, 2021 for total funding of up to $1.5 million annually to conduct Innovative Renewable Energy Initiative programs
throughout the Yukon. The program is intended to encourage the development of small-scale, community-based
renewable energy generation capacity.

2, Basis of presentation

a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS").

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on June 25, 2021.
b) Basis of measurement
The financial information included in the consolidated financial statements has been prepared on a historical cost
basis, except for some financial instruments, as described in Note 3(f), which are measured at fair value.

3. Significant accounting policies
a) Revenue recognition
The Corporation recognizes revenue from contracts where the right to consideration from a customer corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Corporation's performance completed to date.
The majority of the Corporation's revenues from contracts with customers are derived from the generation,
transmission, distribution, purchase and sales of electricity under the Public Utilities Act. The Corporation

evaluates whether the contracts it enters into meet the definition of a contract with a customer at the inception of
the contract and ongoing basis if there is an indication of a significant change in facts and circumstances.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

Revenue is measured based on the transaction price specified in a contract with a customer. Revenue is
recognized when control over a promised good or service is transferred to the customer and the Corporation is
entitled to consideration as a result of completion of the performance obligation.

The Corporation recognizes a contract asset or deferred revenue for the contracts where the performance
obligation has not been satisfied. Deferred revenue is recognized when the Corporation receives consideration
before the performance obligations have been satisfied. A contract asset is recorded when the Corporation has
rights to consideration for the completion of a performance obligation when that right is conditional on something
other than the passage of time. The Corporation recognizes unconditional rights to consideration separately as a
trade receivable. Contract assets are evaluated at each reporting period to determine whether there is any
objective evidence that they are impaired.

Electricity sales contracts are deemed to have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer individual
goods or services is not separately identifiable from other obligations in the contracts and therefore not distinct.
These performance obligations are considered to be satisfied over time as electricity is delivered because of the
continuous transfer of control to the customer. The method of revenue recognition for the electricity is an output
method, which is based on the volume delivered to the customer.

The Corporation's electricity sales are calculated based on the customers usage of electricity during the period at
the applicable published rates for each customer class. Electricity rates in the Yukon are set by the YUB.
Electricity sales include an estimate of electricity deliveries not yet billed at period-end. The estimated unbilled
revenue is based on several factors, including estimated consumption by customer, applicable customer rates and
the number of days between the last billing date and the end of the period.

b) Translation of foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Corporation is the Canadian Dollar. Revenue and expense items denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates prevailing during the period. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at period-end exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
are translated at exchange rates in effect when the assets are acquired or the obligations are incurred. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are reflected in net income for the period.

c) Allowance for funds used during construction

The cost of the Corporation's property, plant and equipment and intangible assets includes an allowance for funds
used during construction ("AFUDC"). The AFUDC rate is based on the Corporation's weighted average cost of
debt.

d) Cash
Cash is comprised of bank account balances (net of outstanding cheques).

e) Inventories

Inventories consist of materials and supplies, diesel fuel and liquefied natural gas. Inventories are carried at the
lesser of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all expenditures incurred in acquiring the
items and bringing them to their existing condition and location. Critical spare parts are recognized in the
Corporation's property, plant and equipment.

The recoverable value of inventory considers its net realizable value, including required processing costs, and is
impacted by estimates and assumptions on price, quality, recovery and exchange rates. Obsolete materials and
supplies are recorded at salvage value in the period when obsolescence is determined.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

f) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Corporation’s Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position when the Corporation becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

i) Financial assets

Cash, finance lease receivable, and accounts receivable, plus any transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset, are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, cash is
measured at amortized cost and finance lease receivable and accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method less any impairment. The Corporation's business model is to hold these
assets to collect contractual cash flows.

A provision for impairment of accounts receivable is established applying the expected credit loss model based on
all possible default events over the expected life of the financial asset. For trade accounts receivable, the
Corporation applies the simplified approach which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial
recognition of the receivables. For the other receivables, at the reporting date, if credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Corporation measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime
expected credit losses, otherwise, if the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Corporation measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or require financial
reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the related accounts
receivable are impaired. The accounts receivable carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the loss is recognized in net income. A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash
flows from the asset have expired, or the Corporation has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset
and has transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards of the asset.

ii) Financial liabilities

Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term debt are initially measured at fair value
less any transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the financial liability. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Transaction costs are presented as a reduction from the carrying value of the related debt and are amortized using
the effective interest rate method over the terms of the debts to which they relate. Transaction costs include fees
paid to agents, brokers and advisors but exclude debt discounts and lender financing costs.

Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts that derive their value from changes in an underlying
variable. The Corporation has entered into interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk. The Corporation’s
interest rate swaps are classified as fair value through profit and loss and are thus recognized at fair value on the
date the contract has been entered into with any subsequent unrealized and realized gains and losses recognized
in net income during the period in which the fair value movement occurred.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31,2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any asset impairment
charges. Cost includes the direct costs of acquisition and materials, direct labour, and, if applicable, an allocation
of directly attributable overhead costs, AFUDC and any asset retirement costs associated with the property, plant
and equipment.

AFUDC is applied to actual costs in work-in-progress less any contributions in aid of construction. For items of
property, plant and equipment acquired prior to January 1, 2011, the AFUDC rate also included a regulatory cost of
equity component as allowed by the YUB. Capitalization of AFUDC ceases when the asset being constructed is
substantially ready for its intended purpose.

Assets under constriiction. are recognized as in construction work in progress until they are operational and
available for use, at which time they are transferred to the applicable component of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognized in net income based on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each
major component of property, plant and equipment.

The range of estimated useful lives of the major classes and subclasses of property, plant and equipment is as

follows:
Generation
Hydroelectric plants 30 to 103 years
Thermal plants 12 to 72 years
Transmission 20 to 65 years
Distribution 12 to 55 years
Buildings 20 to 55 years
Transportation 9 to 31 years
Other equipment 5 to 20 years

Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of the assets are based
upon depreciation studies conducted periodically by the Corporation and any changes in the estimated useful life
are accounted for prospectively.

Major overhaul costs are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected useful
life (until the next major overhaul) which varies from 2 to 10 years. Repairs and maintenance costs of property
plant and equipment are expensed as incurred unless they meet the criteria of a betterment.

h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any asset impairment charges. Cost
includes the direct costs of acquisition and materials, direct labour, and, if applicable, an allocation of directly
attributable overhead costs and AFUDC. Amortization is recognized in net income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives as follows:

Software 5 years
Deferred service costs 12 years
Financial software 10 years
Licensing costs
Hydro generation 17 to 25 years
Diesel generation 3 years
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

The water license for the Aishihik generating station received a 3 year extension. Costs associated with the 3 year
extension are being amortized over 3 years (see Note 23).

i) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Corporation assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Corporation assesses

whether:

(i) The contract involves the use of an identified asset;

(i) The Corporation has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and

(iii) The Corporation has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At inception, the Corporation allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of

the relative stand-alone prices.

The Corporation recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, less any incentives received. The Corporation elected to exclude short-term leases with a term
of twelve months or less as well as leases of low value assets, and accounts for the lease payments associated
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the earlier of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of
right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-
use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the
lease liability. Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, and
impairments are recorded in net income.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Corporation's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Corporation uses its incremental
borrowing rate as the discount rate. Subsequent to recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method. A lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising mainly from a change in an index or rate, or if the Corporation changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a renewal or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in net income if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets has been reduced to zero.

j) Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment on an annual
basis if there is an indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment is assessed at the level
of cash-generating units, identified as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets.

When an impairment review is undertaken, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell ("FVLCS").
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

Value in use is the net present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant cash-generating unit in its current
condition. The best evidence of FVLCS is the value obtained from an active market or binding sale agreement.
Where neither exists, FVLCS is based on the best information available to reflect the amount the Corporation could
receive for the cash-generating unit in an arm’s length transaction.

This is often estimated using discounted cash flow techniques and where unobservable inputs are material to the
measurement of the recoverable amount, the measurement is classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The
cash flow forecasts for FVLCS purposes are based on management's best estimates of expected future revenues
and costs, including the future cash costs of production, capital expenditure, closure, restoration and environmental
cleanup. For regulatory deferral account debit balances the impairment review focuses on whether the amount is
considered collectible based on the expected cash flows from the rates approved by the YUB.

These determinations and their individual assumntions require that management make a decision based on the
best available information at each reporting period. Changes in these assumptions may alter the results of
impairment testing, impairment charges recognized in net income and the resulting carrying amounts of the assets.

k) Rate regulated accounting policies

Regulatory deferral accounts

Regulatory deferral accounts in these consolidated financial statements are accounted for differently than they
would be in the absence of rate regulation. The Corporation defers certain costs or revenues as regulatory deferral
account debit balances or regulatory deferral account credit balances on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position and recognizes changes in the regulatory deferral account balances in the net movement in regulatory
deferral account balances in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income. The
amounts recognized as regulatory deferral account balances are expected to be recovered or refunded in future
rates, based on approvals by the YUB. The recovery or settlement of regulatory deferral account balances through
future rates is impacted by demand risk and regulatory risks (e.g. potential future decisions of the YUB which could
result in material adjustments to these regulatory deferral account debit balances and regulatory deferral account
credit balances as described in Note 1(b)).

i) Regulatory deferral account debit balances

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs which are expected to be recovered from customers
in future periods through the rate-setting process. In the absence of rate regulation and the Corporation’s
adoption of IFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts, such costs would be expensed as incurred.

ii) Regulatory deferral account credit balances

Regulatory deferral account credit balances represent future reductions or limitations of increases in revenues
associated with amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers as a result of the rate-setting process.
In the absence of rate regulation and the Corporation’s adoption of IFRS 14, such amounts would be recorded in
income as performance obligations are met.

Note 11 describes the individual regulatory deferral accounts, the Corporation’s related regulatory deferral and
amortization policies and describes the related account activity in the relevant periods.

1) Provision for asset retirement obligations
The Corporation has legal obligations related to the closure and restoration of property, plant and equipment, which

includes the costs of dismantling, demolition of infrastructure and the removal of residual materials and remediation
of the disturbed areas.
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Yukon Development Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020 (tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies - continued

Where a reliable estimate of the present value of these obligations can be determined, the total retirement costs
are recognized as a provision in the accounting period when the obligation arises. There is also a corresponding
increase to property, plant and equipment upon recognition of the obligation.

Management estimates its costs based on feasibility and engineering studies and assessments using current
restoration standards and techniques.

m) Provision for environmental liabilities

Environmental liabilities consist of the estimated costs related to the remediation of environmentally contaminated
sites. The Corporation will accrue a provision when it has a present obligation as a result of a past event to
remediate the contaminated site, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.. .

If the likelihood of the Corporation’s obligation to incur these costs is either not determinable or the amount of the
obligation cannot be reliably estimated, the contingency is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Corporation reviews its provision for environmental liabilities on an ongoing basis and any changes are
recognized in net income for the current period.

n) Contributions in aid of construction

Certain property, plant and equipment additions are made with financial assistance from the Yukon Government or
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